Public Document Pack

REVISED
AGENDA
Committee

-

CABINET

Date & Time

-

Tuesday, 14 December 2021 at 10.00 am

Venue

-

Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road,
Spalding

Membership of the Cabinet:
Councillors: G A Porter (Leader), P E Coupland (Deputy Leader), C N Worth (Deputy
Leader), J R Astill, A Casson, R Gambba-Jones, R Grocock, C J Lawton, E J Sneath and
G J Taylor
No substitutions permitted. Revised quorum 3.
Note:

Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels. They
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current
committee cycle.

If you would like to attend this meeting as a
member of the Public, please contact
Democratic Services via email at
demservices@sholland.gov.uk or via
telephone on 01775 764454.
Persons attending the meeting are
requested to turn mobile telephones to
silent mode
Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE
Date: 10 December 2021

Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764454
e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

Page 1

AGENDA
1.

Apologies for absence.

2.

Minutes To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet
held on 26 October 2021 (copy enclosed).

3.

Declarations of Interest. (Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor
must declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item,
except where a Councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of
dispensation.)

4.

Questions raised by the public under the Council's Constitution
(Standing Orders).

5.

To consider any matters which have been subject to call-in. At its meeting on 26 October 2021, the Cabinet made a decision relating
to Market Consultation Outcome. The decision was called-in and a
special meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel was held on 7
December 2021 to consider the call-in.
a)

Market Consultation Outcome In accordance with the decision of the Performance Monitoring
Panel, to refer back to the Cabinet for further consideration the
outcome of the Market Consultation (report of the Portfolio Holder
for Environmental Services and the Assistant Director – Leisure
and Culture enclosed).

(Pages
5 - 10)

(Pages
11 - 80)

6.

To consider matters arising from the Policy Development and
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure
Rules.

7.

Garden Waste Scheme Update To provide an update on the garden waste scheme and consider future
options (report of the Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services and
the Assistant Director, Neighbourhoods enclosed).

(Pages
81 - 92)

8.

Draft Climate Change Strategy To gain member input into the draft Strategy, together with approval to
undertake wider public/stakeholder consultation (report of the Climate
Change and Environment Manager enclosed)

(Pages
93 120)

9.

Lincolnshire Women's Concordat To support the recommendation made in response to an invitation from
Lincolnshire’s Police and Crime Commissioner to join the Lincolnshire
Women’s Concordat (report of the Portfolio Holder for People, Places
and Economy enclosed).

(Pages
121 160)

Page 2

10.

Corporate Enforcement Policy To seek approval of a revised corporate Enforcement Policy (report of
the Assistant Director – Regulatory enclosed).

(Pages
161 180)

11.

Q2 Performance Report 21/22 To provide an update on how the Council is performing for the period 1
July 2021 to 30 September 2021 (report of the Portfolio Holder –
Corporate and Communications, and the Assistant Director – Corporate
enclosed).

(Pages
181 194)

12.

Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2022/23 To seek Cabinet decision on the final proposals for the 2022/23 Local
Council Tax Support scheme, to be presented to Council for approval on
19 January 2022 (report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance,
Commercialisation and Partnerships, and the Deputy Chief Executive
(Corporate Development) and S151 Officer enclosed).

(Pages
195 204)

13.

2021/22 Financial Report Quarter 2 To provide information on the Quarter 2 (to 30 September 2021)
financial position of the Council (report of the Portfolio Holder for
Finance, Commercialisation and Partnerships and the Deputy Chief
Executive (Corporate Development) and S151 Officer enclosed).

(Pages
205 226)

14.

Acquisition of s106 affordable housing for the Housing Revenue
Account To set out details of the potential for the authority to acquire three s106
homes for Affordable Rent tenure, on a development site in the district
(report of the Portfolio Holder – Assets and Planning enclosed).

(Pages
227 238)

15.

Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent. -

Note:

(i)

No other business is permitted unless by reason of
special circumstances, which shall be specified in the
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s)
should be considered as a matter of urgency.

(ii)

Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must
be dealt with in accordance with the Constitution’s
Access to Information Procedure Rules.

16.

Exclusion of the Press and Public To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the
following items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of part 1 of
Schedule 12A of the Act.

17.

Acquisition of s106 Affordable Housing for the Housing Revenue
Account Exempt appendix to the report at agenda item 14 enclosed.

Page 3

(Pages
239 240)

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2.
-6-

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices,
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 26 October 2021 at 10.00 am.
PRESENT
G A Porter (Leader)
P E Coupland (Deputy
Leader)
C N Worth (Deputy
Leader)
J R Astill

A Casson
R Gambba-Jones
C J Lawton

G J Taylor

Executive Support Members: N H Pepper.
The Joint Chief Executive, the Deputy Chief Executive - Corporate Development
(S151), the Assistant Director - Strategic Growth and Development, the Assistant
Director - Housing, the Assistant Director - Leisure and Culture, the Head of Delivery,
the Head of Environmental and Operational Services, the Senior Change and
Performance Business Partner, the Democratic Services Manager and the
Democratic Services Team Leader.
Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors R Grocock,
E J Sneath, A C Beal, J L Reynolds, A M Newton, B Alcock, A R Woolf and T A
Carter, together with Lincolnshire Community & Voluntary Service and Welland
Seniors Forum.
12.

MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 7 September 2021 were signed by the Leader as
a correct record.

13.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST.
There were none.

14.

QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER THE COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION
(STANDING ORDERS).
There were none.

15.

TO CONSIDER ANY MATTERS WHICH HAVE BEEN SUBJECT TO CALL-IN.
There were none.

16.

TO CONSIDER MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANELS
There were none.

Page 5

-7CABINET - 26 October 2021

17.

MARKET CONSULTATION OUTCOME
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Environmental
Services which provided an analysis of the public consultation undertaken regarding
the market handbook and fees, and considered the options for future market
provisions.
Members commented that the proposals within the report provided an opportunity to
the Council. Markets were a major part of the town centre economy, and a dedicated
Markets’ Manager was vital.
DECISION:
1) That the adoption of the Markets Regulation Handbook, following consultation
from 18th June to 30th July 2021, be approved;
2) That the Head of Environmental and Operational Services, in consultation with the
Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services, be given delegated authority to make
changes to the Market Regulation Handbook as necessary, following approval of
the proposed options of this report;
3) That adoption of the new fee structure as consulted upon, and annual review, be
approved;
4) That Option Two, as set out in paragraph 2.2, be approved to ensure investment
and growth in our markets and the ability to take action on the results of the
consultation and implement the key findings, such as pop-up stalls and improved
engagement;
a. That a new post of Markets Manager be introduced for a two-year fixed
term trial to deliver the objectives of option two funded from the Investment
and Growth Reserve as detailed in 5.5;
5) That the current suspension of stall erection and dismantling be made a
permanent change to market provision, as reflected in the new fee structure;
6) That the attached Equality Impact Assessment be noted; and
7) That the current road closure in Long Sutton be made permanent to ensure the
safe running of the market and maintain the high levels of social gatherings in and
around Market Place each Friday.
(Other options considered:
• Option One – Adopt the draft market regulations handbook and proposed fees
and give consideration only to the consultation responses;
• Option Three – Do nothing.
Reasons for decision:

Page 6

-8CABINET - 26 October 2021

•
•

•

•
•
•
•

•
•

18.

The adoption of the market regulation handbook is vital to the ongoing running of
our markets. It makes clear the requirements of SHDC and traders and sets out
how to keep traders and the public safe whilst at our markets;
The current fees do not take into account the changes that have been required
since the re-opening of markets in June and July 2020. For that reason, as well
as to support traders and the markets through the pandemic, there have been no
fees in place since the re-opening last year. The proposed fees have been
formulated with the current market provisions considered;
The current fee structure is set in such a way that it looks to recover the costs for
running the markets, though some areas are not fully recharged to traders, e.g.
the road closure, which seeks a payment towards the overall cost. The fees are
set that they could potentially reduce if more traders stand at a market, which
would reduce the cost to the trader;
As detailed in the handbook, the new proposed charges aim to provide a simple
model that aims to achieve cost recovery fairly across all markets in the district.
All markets will benefit from the new proposals set out in the handbook;
By growing on what is currently in place and adding in a Markets Manager post,
the strategic direction and growth of markets can be realised;
The potential of pop-up stalls, would be unlocked. These stalls can be utilised to
attract and support micro businesses, young traders, crafters and traders that
want to try our markets before committing longer term;
The Cabinet report of 16 June 2020 recommended the suspension of market stall
erection and dismantling by SHDC staff. Following the implementation of this for
the last 16 months, and the recent consultation which requested feedback on this
practice, removal of this provision on a permanent basis needs to be formalised;
A permanent road closure for the market in Long Sutton is sought with
Lincolnshire County Council, in order to enable traders to stand, with a safe
distance kept for customers of both the market and local businesses; and
That additional elements to be considered for our markets, as raised by a number
of respondents to the consultation, can be reviewed and addressed where
appropriate and deliverable).

HRA HOUSING DELIVERY FRAMEWORK
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder – Assets and Planning,
the Portfolio Holder – HRA and Private Sector Housing, and the Deputy Chief
Executive (Corporate Development) (S151).
It was noted that recommendation 2 of the report had additional wording that was not
required, and that ‘….and the Policy Framework be amended to include the’ be
removed.
DECISION:
1) That the proposal to amend the Policy Framework to include the HRA Housing
Delivery Framework be supported and recommended to Council for approval;

Page 7

-9CABINET - 26 October 2021

RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:
2) That the HRA Housing Delivery Framework, at Appendix A to the report, which
informs and guides future Executive decisions for the HRA Capital Programme for
housing development, be approved;
3) That the HRA Housing Delivery Framework be included as a local choice policy in
the Council’s Policy Framework and that the Constitution, at Article 4.3, be
amended accordingly; and
4) That the Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development) and S151 be granted
delegated authority, in consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder, to negotiate,
approve, enter into and sign grant agreements relating to grant allocations which
have been approved by Council, Cabinet or Portfolio Holder relating to the
delivery of homes for the HRA.
(Other options considered:
• Do nothing.
Reasons for decision:
• To identify the preferred nature of schemes for future investment;
• To ensure that investment decisions are made which adhere to the framework;
• To clarify that schemes which are outside of the remit of the framework will only
be pursued if they have been referred to, and approved by, Council; and
• To provide a framework within which the Executive can approve the delivery of
HRA housing projects).
19.

SHDC MOBILE HOMES AND CARAVAN SITE LICENSING AND FEE POLICY
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for HRA and Private
Sector Housing and the Deputy Chief Executive-Corporate Development, which
recommended approval of the Mobile Homes and Caravan Site Licencing policy and
the proposed introduction of a fee-charging structure for eligible administration
connected with the policy.
AGREED:
1) That the feedback provided by the Policy Development Panel be acknowledged;
and
2) That the adoption of the proposed Policy, including the introduction of the feecharging structure associated with the administration of the Policy, be approved.
(Other options considered:

Page 8

- 10 CABINET - 26 October 2021

•

Do nothing.

Reasons for decision:
• The Council seeks to recover its costs in administering the new regulations,
introducing statutory requirements for all residential mobile home site owners or
their appointed manager to apply for and be deemed a Fit and Proper person.
The Council is required to maintain a mandatory register held under the Mobile
Homes (Requirement for Manager of site to be a Fit and Proper Person.)
(England) Regulations 2020. Entitlement to charge an administration fee on cost
recovery basis is also embedded within this).
20.

Q4 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT 20/21 AND Q1 PERFORMANCE
REPORT 21/22
Consideration was given to the following reports of the Portfolio Holder for Corporate
and Communications which provided an update on how the Council was performing
for the periods stated below:
•
•

Q4 Performance Overview Report 20/21 (1 January 2021 to 31 March 2021)
Q1 Performance Report 21/22 (1 April 2021 to 30 June 2021)

The following points were raised:
•

•

•

Members commented that the low incidence of sickness absence was very
encouraging. Members queried whether absences as a result of COVID were
included within these figures?
o Officers responded that they were not included but were recorded
separately.
Members agreed that Covid and non-Covid sickness absence should be recorded
separately however, it was requested that both of these absences should also be
reported.
With regard to calls answered by Customer Services, members asked how many
calls were dealt with at first point of contact, and how many had to be transferred
elsewhere?
o The Portfolio Holder, Corporate and Communications stated that the
members question would be passed on to obtain the information
requested. He also advised that work was being undertaken to ensure that
a greater percentage of calls were dealt with at the first point of contact.

DECISION:
That the contents of the Q4 Performance Overview Report 20/21 and the Q1
Performance Report 21/22 be noted.

Page 9

- 11 CABINET - 26 October 2021

(Other options considered:
• Do nothing.
Reasons for decision:
• To ensure that the Council’s performance is properly scrutinised).
21.

ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE LEADER DECIDES ARE URGENT.
There were none.

(The meeting ended at 10.19 am)
(End of minutes)

Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on Wednesday 24 November 2021.

Page 10

Agenda Item 5.a)
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services and Assistant Director - Leisure
and Culture

To:

Cabinet Tuesday, 14 December 2021

(Author:

Christine Morgan, Democratic Services Team Leader)

Subject

Market Consultation Outcome

Purpose:

In accordance with the decision of the Performance Monitoring Panel, to refer
back to the Cabinet for further consideration the outcome of the Market
Consultation.

Recommendation:
That the Cabinet reconsiders its decision of 26 October 2021 in respect of the Market
Consultation Outcome, having regards to the concerns of the Panel as detailed in paragraph 1.4
below.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

On 26 October 2021, the Cabinet considered the report of the Portfolio Holder for
Environmental Services regarding the Outcome of the Market Consultation.

1.2

The following decisions were made by the Cabinet:
1) To approve adoption of the Markets Regulation Handbook following consultation from
18th June to 30th July 2021;
2) That the Head of Environmental and Operational Services, in consultation with the
Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services, be given delegated authority to make
changes to the Market Regulation Handbook as necessary, following approval of the
proposed options of this report;
3) To approve adoption of the new fee structure as consulted upon and approve annual
review;
4) That Option Two, as set out in paragraph 2.2, be approved to ensure investment and
growth in our markets and the ability to take action on the results of the consultation
and implement the key findings, such as pop-up stalls and improved engagement.
a. That a new post of Markets Manager be introduced for a two-year fixed term trial to
deliver the objectives of option two funded from the Investment and Growth
Reserve as detailed in 5.5;
5) That the current suspension of stall erection and dismantling be made a permanent
change to market provision, as reflected in the new fee structure;

Page 11

6) That the attached Equality Impact Assessment is noted;
7) That the current road closure in Long Sutton is made permanent to ensure the safe
running of the market and maintain the high levels of social gatherings in and around
Market Place each Friday.
1.3

In accordance with the Council’s Constitutional rules, the decision was called-in. The call-in
notice was signed by Councillors Brewis and Tyrrell and the Performance Monitoring Panel
considered the call-in at a special meeting held on Tuesday 7 December 2021.

1.4

In accordance with the Panel’s procedures, those members who had called-in the decision
explained their reasons and the Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services, Councillor
Gambba-Jones, responded. Below is a summary of the concerns raised during the call-in
meeting, together with a proposed alternative decision that the Panel asks the Cabinet to
consider:
Main issues raised:
1. The main concern was that the proposed charges to be applied to Long Sutton market
stallholders were higher than those applied to other markets in the district, as a result of
the contribution to road closure costs. This was deemed unfair and parity across all
markets was called for.
2. There was concern, and some confusion, as to the different arrangements for road
closures in Spalding and Long Sutton:
•

•
•

the proposed additional £1.50 fee per market stall charged to Long Sutton
stallholders, which contributed towards the cost of the Traffic Management
Company for the road closure, did not apply to stallholders in Spalding. Whilst a
road closure was in place for Spalding, this had not involved the services of an
external provider;
a South Holland District Council resource was in attendance at each market in
Spalding to display the road closure signs but the same was not true of Long
Sutton, where a contractor had been appointed; and
that it was considered that both of the above options represented a degree of
cost to the Council and it was not considered fair that any associated cost,
which had resulted from the imposed arrangements at Long Sutton, were not
being met in full by the council.

3. A discussion around the health of Long Sutton market and impact on the local economy
took place:
•

•

the variety and diversity of Long Sutton stalls had been accountable for attracting a
healthy footfall to the market and the town. Whilst the council had stated its support
for markets, the proposed enhanced fees to be borne by Long Sutton stallholders
had not been considered supportive or fair and could deter stallholder attendance.
This could negatively affect footfall to the markets and have an associated negative
economic impact on the town; and
The council had a duty to increase footfall in every town and the amount of financial
support required to ensure parity was deemed negligible compared to the socioeconomic benefits it would bring.

Page 12

Alternative proposal submitted by the Panel for Cabinet’s consideration:
1. A parity of charges to apply across all markets in the district;
2. Additional costs for the road closure in Long Sutton to be met by the Council’s general
expenditure.
1.5

The Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services, and officers responded to various issued
raised:
It was stated, in response, that:
1. the stallholder charges across the district had levelled down/decreased;
2. for safety reasons, a road closure had been required at Long Sutton at a cost of £92
plus vat per week which needed to be financed. The enhanced £1.50 fee per market
had contributed to between 40 and 50 per cent of the road closure cost, with the
shortfall covered by the council;
3. Spalding road closures for weekly markets had been encompassed by Lincolnshire
County Council’s Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) and costs had not needed to be met
by SHDC;
4. the personnel support for implementing the road closure for Spalding Market had been
minimal as attendance at the market was already required. The displayed sign was
necessary only to ensure the safety of stallholders and shoppers prior to the TRO times
taking effect. Signage had been purchased by ward budgets; and
5. Environmental Services did not have the resources to set up the road closure each
week in Long Sutton and so the contractor had been appointed to undertake the work
safely and legally.

1.6

Further information can be provided by officers at the meeting of the Cabinet, but the
Cabinet is also asked to have regard to the following when reconsidering the matter:

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

The Cabinet must reconsider the matter and must take into account the concerns of the
Panel before adopting a final decision, which may or may not amend the original decision.
The final decision shall not be subject to call-in and may be implemented immediately, but
in making the final decision the Cabinet must explain the decision in relation to the
concerns raised by the Panel and such explanation must be included on the notice of the
decision.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1

To comply with the legal and constitutional requirements of call-in.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

Compliance with legal and constitutional requirements and a transparent decision-making
process.

Page 13

5.0

IMPLICATIONS
The report implications are as reported to Cabinet on 26 October 2021.

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

All

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1

None

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Christine Morgan Democratic Services Team Leader
cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

N

Exempt Decision:

N

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
PMP 7 December 2021 – Call-in covering report
Appendix B
Cabinet covering report and Appendices A, B and C – 26 October
2021
Appendix C
Cabinet minute – 26 October 2021

Page 14

APPENDIX A
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development) & S151

To:

Performance Monitoring Panel – 7 December 2021

(Author:

Christine Morgan – Democratic Services Team Leader)

Subject

Call-In (Market Consultation Outcome)

Purpose:

To explain the background to the Call-In and the process to be followed by the
Panel

Recommendation:
That the Panel considers the content of this report and the supporting documentation and
considers the options available to it, as detailed within section 3 of this report.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

On 26 October 2021, the Cabinet considered the report of the Portfolio Holder for
Environmental Services regarding the outcome of the Market Consultation.

1.2

The following decisions were made by the Cabinet:
1) That the adoption of the Markets Regulation Handbook, following consultation from 18th
June to 30th July 2021, be approved;
2) That the Head of Environmental and Operational Services, in consultation with the
Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services, be given delegated authority to make
changes to the Market Regulation Handbook as necessary, following approval of the
proposed options of this report;
3) That adoption of the new fee structure as consulted upon, and annual review, be
approved;
4) That Option Two, as set out in paragraph 2.2, be approved to ensure investment and
growth in our markets and the ability to take action on the results of the consultation
and implement the key findings, such as pop-up stalls and improved engagement;
a. That a new post of Markets Manager be introduced for a two-year fixed term trial
to deliver the objectives of option two funded from the Investment and Growth
Reserve as detailed in 5.5;
5) That the current suspension of stall erection and dismantling be made a permanent
change to market provision, as reflected in the new fee structure;
6) That the attached Equality Impact Assessment be noted; and

Page 15

7) That the current road closure in Long Sutton be made permanent to ensure the safe
running of the market and maintain the high levels of social gatherings in and around
Market Place each Friday.
1.3

A copy of the report and the appendices considered by the Cabinet are attached

2.0

CALL-IN

2.1

In accordance with the Constitution, when a proposed decision has been made by the
Cabinet, all councillors receive a copy of the decision notice. The decision notice states
that the proposed decisions contained in it will come into force on the expiry of 5 working
days from the date of its publication, unless the proposed decision is called in.
If a councillor wishes to call in a proposed decision, notice must be given by way of a call-in
form, to the Assistant Director – Governance, and Monitoring Officer, by the expiry date
shown on the decision notice.
The decision can be called-in in the following way:
•
•
•

By a Ward Representative (in relation to a matter in their ward); or
Two members of the Performance Monitoring Panel; or
Any three members

The notice must be signed by at least one councillor (as above), and must also specify:
•

The reason(s) for the call in, and

Either:
•

What action the councillor(s) who made the call-in consider the decision maker should
take to address those concerns

Or
•
2.2

What alternative decision the councillor(s) would like to see taken.

The decision was called in by Councillors C J T H Brewis and J Tyrrell, who stated:
‘The Cabinet and Council have on many occasions wished to treat all retail markets fairly. It
is upsetting that Long Sutton is to be adversely treated by having to pay an extra £1.50 (£8.50
instead of £7.00), over 60% increase, just because of a closure of the Market Place. Bearing
in mind the large sums of Council Tax and business rates paid by the eastern communities
in South Holland for distant District facilities in Spalding, we want all to be charged alike’.

2.3

Councillors Brewis and Tyrrell consider the decision maker should take the following action
to address the concerns raised:
‘’We ask that the Long Sutton Market Charge be reconsidered and reduced to the same as
the others (currently recommended £7.00)’.

2.4

Councillor Brewis and Tyrrell consider the following alternative decision should be made:
‘Reduce charges at Long Sutton Market to match the others in the District of South Holland’.

Page 16

3.0

OPTIONS

3.1

The Panel has the following options:
a. To take no further action in relation to the call in (in this event, the proposed decision
will take effect from the date of the Panel meeting).
b. To refer the proposed decision back to Cabinet setting out in writing the nature of its
concerns. (In this event, the Cabinet will re-consider the matter. Having regard to the
views of the Panel, the Cabinet will make a final decision, which may or may not amend
the original decision. This decision will not be subject to call-in (unless it is believed to
be contrary to the Policy Framework or Budget). The Cabinet must explain the decision
in relation to the concerns raised by the call in.
c. If, having taken officer advice, the Panel considers that the decision is contrary to the
Policy Framework or Budget, it may refer the matter to full Council. In this event, the
Council will consider the matter within 15 days. If the Council does not consider the
decision to be contrary to the Policy Framework or Budget, then it becomes effective on
the date of the Council meeting. If the Council decides that it is contrary to the Policy
Framework or Budget, then it can approve an amendment to the Policy Framework or
Budget, in which case the decision will take effect from the date of the Council meeting.
If the Council refuses to amend the Policy Framework or Budget, it can refer the matter
back to Cabinet, who have to meet to consider the matter within 15 days. The
Cabinet’s decision is not subject to call in. If the Council approves an amendment to
the Policy Framework or Budget it can still refer the matter back to Cabinet for final
decision – again, this matter is not subject to call in.

4.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales;
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

4.1

Constitutional & Legal

4.1.1

Provision for call-in is a legal and constitutional requirement. The options and process are
set out in the body of the report.

4.2

Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

4.2.1

The call-in timetable is set out in the body of the report

5.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

5.1

Market traders trading at Long Sutton market.

Page 17

6.0

ACRONYMS

6.1

None.

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Christine Morgan – Democratic Services Team Leader
cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

N

Exempt Decision:

N

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix
Market Consultation Outcome report and appendices (covering
report and Appendices A, B and C as considered at Cabinet on 26
October 2021)

Page 18

APPENDIX B
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services

To:

Cabinet Tuesday, 26 October 2021

(Author:

Charlotte Paine Head of Environmental and Operational Services)

Subject

Market Consultation Outcome

Purpose:

To provide an analysis of the public consultation undertaken regarding the
market handbook and fees and consider the options for future market
provisions

Recommendation(s):
1) To approve adoption of the Markets Regulation Handbook following consultation from 18th
June to 30th July 2021.
2) That the Head of Environmental and Operational Services, in consultation with the Portfolio
Holder for Environmental Services, be given delegated authority to make changes to the
Market Regulation Handbook as necessary, following approval of the proposed options of
this report.
3) To approve adoption of the new fee structure as consulted upon and approve annual review.
4) That Option Two, as set out in paragraph 2.2, be approved to ensure investment and growth
in our markets and the ability to take action on the results of the consultation and implement
the key findings, such as pop-up stalls and improved engagement.
a. That a new post of Markets Manager be introduced for a two-year fixed term trial to
deliver the objectives of option two funded from the Investment and Growth Reserve
as detailed in 5.5.
5) That the current suspension of stall erection and dismantling be made a permanent change
to market provision, as reflected in the new fee structure.
6) That the attached Equality Impact Assessment its noted.
7) That the current road closure in Long Sutton is made permanent to ensure the safe running
of the market and maintain the high levels of social gatherings in and around Market Place
each Friday.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

South Holland has responsibility for 5 markets across 4 towns of the district. Markets are an
important and historic part of our towns. Across the country they have faced many
challenges over the years, including the rise of online and out of town shopping retailers,
competition from unregulated car boot sales, as well as the recent Covid pandemic.

Page 19

1.2

In order to understand how we can best support the continuation, sustainability and future
of our markets, a recent public consultation into the draft market regulations handbook and
proposed fees and charges, took the opportunity to engage in more detail with the people
on our markets. This consultation engaged with a broad range of statutory and nonstatutory stakeholders, including traders, visitors to the markets, members of the public,
parish councils and local businesses. The feedback provided much needed data on who
visits our markets and why, as well as what they like and would like to see improved on our
markets.

1.3

Using this data, which is analysed in detail in appendix A, this report looks to achieve the
following key outcomes;
•
•
•

•

Approval to adopt the draft market regulations handbook
Approval to introduce the new fee structure
Approval on the recommended option for the future delivery of market
services including;
➢
Options for stall provision, for regular and new traders
➢
Ensuring our markets offer is Equality Act 2010 compliant and
have due regard to the public sector equality duty.
➢
Options on how to best provide and resource the recommended
option
Approval to maintain safe and social markets, including formally adopting the
road closure at Long Sutton market

1.4

As a result of the pandemic, and the government guidance issued as they assessed the
ongoing need, the markets of South Holland were closed on 24th March 2020 for the safety
of traders and the public, in line with guidance at that time. The report to Cabinet of 16th
June 2020, set out how to safely re-open markets with the most up to date guidance
available. It therefore outlined the changes required to get markets trading again, whilst
ensuring staff, traders and the public continued to be kept safe.

1.5

One of the recommendations of that report was for the market handbook to be amended in
line with the recommendations set out and agreed at Cabinet. Following approval of the
report, the environmental services team commenced reviewing and drafting the handbook,
benchmarking it with other local authority markets and engaging with traders to assist with
the shaping of the draft handbook.

1.6

The purpose of the market regulations handbook is to set out the matters the Council will
take into account when considering and undertaking its duty to provide and manage its
markets. It details the responsibilities of the council in official guidance of the policy for the
Council to act in a particular way and the expectation set of the traders. As the changes to
the market regulations handbook were substantial and in formative stages, following the
impact of Covid, and also included changes to the fees charged to traders, it was
considered appropriate to exercise fairness and permit intelligent consideration by
undertaking a public consultation into the proposed changes before bringing them forward
to be considered to be adopted.

1.7

The consultation looked to encourage open and meaningful engagement on the draft
handbook and proposed fees to ensure that the final document represented the needs and
responsibilities of SHDC and the traders, as well as to support the future of our markets.

Page 20

Full analysis of the consultation, including how it was undertaken and what information it
captured, is provided in Appendix A.
1.8

As a result of the consultation programme, the feedback that was received has been
considered and the handbook has been further reviewed and altered in line with that
feedback. The finalised version of the market regulations handbook and the proposed fees
are recommended for approval. A copy of the handbook is included at Appendix B.

1.9

In addition to seeking views on the handbook and fees, the consultation also took the
opportunity to engage regarding SHDC markets in more detail. This enabled the collection
of data relating to footfall across each of the markets, information about what visitors liked
about the markets, what they would like to see introduced and thoughts on specific
elements in the handbook, including stalls and opening times.

1.10

The results of the consultation were presented to Policy Development Panel on 21st
September 2021. The recommendations of this report are made following full analysis of
the data collected during the 6-week consultation and discussions with members, in order
to support the ongoing success and growth of SHDC markets. Having given conscientious
consideration to the responses received, it is clear that the markets are valued by the
community and considered to be a vital part of our towns and that our residents, visitors,
businesses and members wish to see it continue and develop further. The options provided
look at how best we can deliver that.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

Option One – Adopt the draft market regulations handbook and proposed fees and
give consideration only to the consultation responses. Adoption of the draft handbook
and proposed fees will enable the Council the power to implement the changes sought
through the market regulations handbook. Without conscientious consideration to the
consultation responses, the Council will not be able to grow the markets with the feedback
of market stakeholders. This is not the recommended option of the report as without further
investment and development on the key findings of the consultation, growth and initiatives
such as pop-up stalls will be difficult to introduce, due to current levels of resource.

2.2

Option Two – Invest in the future and growth of the markets including adoption of
the draft handbook and proposed fees. To approve the introduction of the market
regulations handbook and proposed fees and to implement key feedback received from the
consultation. This would enable growth and desirability of markets and implementation of
the key findings, such as pop-up stalls, by introducing a new resource in the form of a
markets manager to ensure service development and delivery. Without this post, full and
conscientious consideration of the consultation and its findings would not be achievable. It
is suggested that the post be introduced initially as a two-year fixed term post to trial its
success and deliverables. This is the recommended option of this report.

2.3

Option Three – Do nothing. This would mean continuing as we are without adopting the
handbook and fees and would mean that we do not address the responses of the
consultation, lose the opportunity to grow our markets and may present risk to SHDC in
non-compliance of its public sector duty.

Page 21

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

The adoption of the market regulation handbook is vital to the ongoing running of our
markets. It makes clear the requirements of SHDC and traders and sets out how to keep
traders and the public safe whilst at our markets. The handbook required a review following
the previous Cabinet report of June 2020 and the changes that have been made, in many
parts, due to the pandemic. Both option one and two recommend that the handbook is
adopted, though some minor wording changes may be required depending upon which
option is approved. It is recommended that this would be done by the environmental
services team in consultation with the portfolio holder through delegated authority.

3.2

The current fees do not take into account the changes that have been required since the
re-opening of markets in June and July 2020. For that reason, as well as to support traders
and the markets through the pandemic, there have been no fees in place since the reopening last year. The proposed fees have been formulated with the current market
provisions considered. This includes the road closure in Long Sutton and the removal of
council provided stalls in Spalding markets. Therefore, both option one and two
recommend the adoption of these fees, which were taken through public consultation and
did not receive substantive objection.

3.3

The current fee structure is set in such a way that it looks to recover the costs for running
the markets, though some areas are not fully recharged to traders, the road closure for
example, which seeks a payment to towards the overall cost. The fees are set that they
could potentially reduce if more traders stand at a market, which would reduce the cost to
each trader. Therefore, it is a recommendation that the fees are reviewed each year in the
same way, taking into consideration running costs and number of traders standing, and that
new fees be proposed and set as part of the budget process. This would mean that the
next review would take place and be ready for implementation in the 2023/24 budget fee
setting approval process.

3.4

The fees consulted upon and recommended are shown in the table below and represent
the cost per 10ft stall.

Current Charges

Proposed New
Charges

Difference from
Current Charges

Crowland

£5.10

£7.00

37%

Long Sutton

£5.10

£8.50

67%

Holbeach

£5.10

£7.00

37%

Spalding Sat

£19.00

£7.00

-63%

Spalding Tue

£19.00

£7.00

-63%

Markets

3.5

As detailed in the handbook, the new proposed charges aim to provide a simple model that
aims to achieve cost recovery fairly across all markets in the district. All markets will benefit
from the new proposals set out in the handbook such as;

Page 22

•

•
•
•
•
•
•

The Council will provide an on-hand markets team to help with any queries
or issues 7.30am – 5pm Monday to Friday, with out of hours support
available during other hours;
The Council will promote the markets via SHDC website and social media
channels;
The Council will facilitate the online application process and check you have
everything in place to be able to stand on our markets;
The Council will facilitate and run the online booking system that will secure
traders position on the markets;
The Council will work with the market engagement group to ensure two-way
communication with our stallholders that supports the growth of the market;
The Council will update stallholders with any relevant Government advice or
legislation;
Long Sutton market has an additional proposed cost of £1.50 to cover a
proportion of the road closure costs incurred by the council.

3.6

Option one provides no further additional support to the markets current position. It does
not allow for the key information submitted by respondents as part of the public consultation
process to be taken into account and utilised to better improve the SHDC markets offering,
such as pop-up stalls, due to the limitations of the resource currently in place. This
resource is currently split into the provision of operational support, attendance at the
markets for trader support, communication and engagement and layout revision. Alongside
administrative support for trader applications, bookings, general advice and
correspondence and reporting requirements. As well as assistance from both officers with
events such as Pumpkin celebrations. Both these officers are multidisciplinary and support
other areas of the council, such as car parks and garden waste.

3.7

The Council must ensure that it is acting in compliance of the public sector duty and that it
is demonstrated that decision-makers are fully aware of the impact that changes may have
on stakeholders. An Equality Impact assessment has been completed as part of the public
consultation process, and attached as Appendix C. This assessment identifies a number of
areas that must be addressed to reduce the risk to SHDC and support all members of the
community to access the service being offered. For option one, this would need to be
achieved within current resource. For example, the EqIA identifies that it would be
necessary for assistance to be provided for those who cannot access our online application
and services, which would sit within our administrative support. It will also be necessary to
aid those who have identified as requiring assistance with setting up their own stalls, which
would be provided by our operational support.

3.8

Option two however, recommends that the markets are fully invested in as part of a
programme to deliver the key elements that the current officers have identified, and those
raised in the consultation. These key elements include such things as;
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

developing the markets and their individual characters,
increasing footfall into the town centres,
building on successes of our markets as social hubs,
attracting new traders,
attracting a wider variety of stalls and commodities,
introduction of pop-up stalls to support new businesses and younger traders,
enhancing engagement, including through trader representatives,

Page 23

•
•

consideration of new KPI’s to ensure success of the markets,
displaying and requiring food hygiene standards.

3.9

The proposal of option two is that by growing on what is currently in place and adding in a
market’s manager post, the strategic direction and growth of markets can be realised. It
would be the responsibility of that post to do this through the feedback collected by the
consultation, benchmarking and learning from others, utilising bodies such as NABMA and
working closer with traders and businesses to build on the markets and attract people to
our towns and more traders to our markets.

3.10

Option two will also unlock the potential of pop-up stalls which have been a long-awaited
ambition of the Council and have been seen to be desired by those who responded to the
consultation. These stalls can be utilised to attract and support micro businesses, young
traders, crafters and traders that want to try our markets before committing longer term.
Without a dedicated resource to drive this initiative forward clearly, there is a risk of under
use of the stalls or potential risks of theft, damage or harm if the risk assessments are not
fully considered and implemented. Additionally, without this support to provide pop-ups, we
risk being unable to offer these services to everyone, as identified in the EqIA. 88% of
respondents to the public consultation wanted to see the pop-up stalls introduced, therefore
this recommendation of a dedicated post, looks to suggest how SHDC can best provide this
option, in the safest way and meet its public sector duty. Ensuring due regard to that duty
in consideration of pop-up stall provision and erection so as meet the needs of service
users and reduce inequality.

3.11

The Cabinet report of 16 June 2020 recommended the suspension of market stall erection
and dismantling by SHDC staff. Following the implementation of this for the last 16 months,
and the recent consultation which requested feedback on this practice, the
recommendation of this report is to formalise the removal of this provision permanently. In
making this recommendation, consideration has been given to the impact to traders that
would need additional support to enable ongoing access to our services. This is addressed
in the EqIA and the paragraph above as to how we would put in the support to remove any
potential for inequality. The consultation feedback was that 23% of respondents agreed that
traders should provide their own ‘fit for purpose stall’ whilst 16% disagreed and almost 40%
had no response or were unsure. There were concerns raised about the potential for such
a policy to potentially put traders off or impact disabled traders. All of these have been
considered and the EqIA and proposal for pop-up stalls would support our efforts to ensure
this would not happen as a result of the recommendation to remove the previous stall
provision.

3.12

Following the closure of markets last year, the Long Sutton market re-opened in July 2020
with a temporary road closure agreed with Lincolnshire County Council. The last 14 months
have seen the market grow from strength to strength with this road closure enabling traders
to stand, with a safe distance kept for customers of both the market and local businesses.
The new positioning has ensured the market has continued safely in Long Sutton and be
well placed alongside local businesses to continue the tradition of the market being
somewhere people go on a Friday for a social and shopping occasion. The consultation
supported this by showing that Long Sutton had the highest responses for those attending
to shop at the market and for socialising, with 93% and 44% respectively, providing these
as the reasons for why they attend the market.

Page 24

3.13

Having taken all of this into account, the recommendation is to continue this placement of
the market and seek a permanent road closure with Lincolnshire County Council. This will
enable local businesses to continue to expand and promote pavement licenses and build
on the social aspects of markets whilst keeping traders and visitors safe whilst visiting the
market and local businesses.

3.14

Within Appendix A, Section 6, we saw a number of respondents ask for additional elements
to be considered for our markets. All this feedback is essential to understanding how we
can better grow and develop the markets. It is the recommendation of this report that option
two will look to review and address these, where appropriate and deliverable, including a
better understanding of the definition of ‘fit for purpose’ when referencing stalls on the
markets.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

Option two is the recommended option of this report as it looks to achieve the following
benefits:
•

•

•

•

•

Adoption of a markets regulation handbook that clearly sets out the
expectations of traders and SHDC. This will ensure that traders and the
public are safe when attending our markets, as well as a host of other
benefits that are outlined in appendix A. It is the grounding of an improving
relationship with traders as we work together to grow our markets.
Adoption of a proposed fee structure that supports traders with a clear fee
structure that will be reviewed annually and looks to encourage more traders
and provides improved support in areas such as marketing.
Compliance of the public sector duty with delivery of the mitigations
highlighted in our EqIA. Ensuring that assistance is provided to those
seeking to use our services, making the markets accessible and advancing
equality.
Introduction of a dedicated resource to deliver on the findings of the
consultation and growth of markets. Having given conscientious
consideration to the responses received through the consultation, the
recommended option will provide the resource needed to deliver on the key
findings detailed in Appendix A and paragraph 3.8 of this report.
Developing on the opportunity for markets to thrive in our towns. Markets are
vital to our high streets, to offering local produce to our residents and
supporting our local businesses to continue to grow and thrive. Markets can
help to drive more people into our towns and create social hubs which are
needed now, more than ever.

4.2

Option two looks to deliver all of the above through the work undertaken so far and seeks
to drive forward new opportunities with a dedicated resource. The data collected through
the market consultation provides a great basis from which to start delivering on the
aspirations of SHDC and its markets’ stakeholders.

4.3

Option one however, would only be able to achieve the first two bullets of the above list of
expected benefits.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS

Page 25

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales;
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.
5.1

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues
The consultation did seek views on opportunities to address potential environmental issues
affecting the markets. Option two would provide resource to consider these responses
further.

5.2

Corporate Priorities
The current corporate plan details how SHDC look to ‘promote and support business
growth’ and have ‘attractive places that people want to visit, live and work’. The
recommended option of this report looks to achieve both of these aspirations.

5.3

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
This was non-statutory public consultation compliant with the Gunning Principles.
An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and is attached to this report.
The EqIA identifies a number of areas that will be addressed to reduce the risk to SHDC
and support all members of the community to access the service being offered. For
example, the EqIA identifies that it would be necessary for assistance to be provided for
those who cannot access our online application and services, this will be offered and
provided within our administrative support. It has also identified that a decision to stop
erecting stalls will require SHDC to aid those who have identified as requiring assistance
with setting up their own stalls. This provision will be provided by our operational support.

5.4

Financial
The recommendation to introduce a dedicated markets manager post, on an initial fixed
term basis, will incur additional costs as this was not part of the 2021/22 budget setting
process. This would be a new post and therefore the job description will require job
evaluation to ensure the grading is accurate. The Job description will be created using
benchmarking and understanding of the key outcomes that are identified in this report and
through the consultation.
Based on the benchmarking undertaken so far, it is anticipated that this post will be graded
in the region of an E (SCP 11-19). This would see costs up to £80,000 based on the
highest pay and including on costs. This is subject to job evaluation and would be funded
from the Investment and Growth Reserve.

5.5

Health & Wellbeing
Markets can support the health and wellbeing of those attending them through access to
fresh and local produce in an environment that fosters social interaction in an outdoor
setting. The ongoing success of our markets can look to sit alongside suitable health and
wellbeing initiatives in the council.

5.6

Reputation
The consideration and implementation of the findings of the consultation look to support
SHDC in maintaining a positive reputation regarding its markets and its willingness to invest
in them and local businesses.

Page 26

5.7

Risk Management
There is a risk to SHDC if it does not address the issues that have been highlighted through
its EqIA and the necessary resources needed to address these. Therefore, option two is
recommended to ensure that these are suitably resourced and addressed.

5.8

Staffing
Current staffing to deliver our markets is achieved through staff in multidisciplined roles
across environmental services. The recommended option looks to put in place a dedicated
resource to achieve a cohesive offer to markets and drive forward the findings of the
consultation, engagement with traders and local businesses and support the current
staffing resource. This would look to be introduced as a two-year fixed term post initially to
consider if the post can be successful in delivering the growth and suggested outcomes. It
is worth noting that there is the opportunity, as part of the new South East Lincolnshire
Partnership, to consider if the new markets manager resource could be shared across the
partnership to reduce costs.

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

All

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1
7.2

SHDC – South Holland District Council
EqIA – Equality Impact Assessment

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Charlotte Paine Head of Environmental and Operational Services
cpaine@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

N

Exempt Decision:

N

This report refers to a Discretionary Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Consultation Analysis Document
Appendix B
Market Regulations Handbook
Appendix C
Equality Impact Assessment

Page 27

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX A to Cabinet report of 26 October 2021

SHDC Markets – Public Consultation Response Report
Table of Contents
1.

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND .............................................................................................. 1

2.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY .................................................................................................................... 2

3.

CONSULTATION PROGRAMME ....................................................................................................... 3
Pre consultation enagement............................................................................................................... 3
Consultation Framework..................................................................................................................... 3
On-Site Engagement Sessions ............................................................................................................. 4
Public Engagement ............................................................................................................................. 4

4.

CONSULTATION DOCUMENTS ........................................................................................................ 4
Questionnaire ..................................................................................................................................... 5

5.

KEY FINDINGS .................................................................................................................................. 5

6.

QUESTIONNAIRE RESPONSE ANALYSIS ........................................................................................... 7

7.

INDIVIDUAL MARKET RESPONSES ................................................................................................. 18
Crowland ........................................................................................................................................... 18
Holbeach ........................................................................................................................................... 19
Long Sutton ....................................................................................................................................... 19
Spalding (Tuesday) ............................................................................................................................ 19
Spalding (Saturday) ........................................................................................................................... 19

8.

EMAIL AND LETTER RESPONSES .................................................................................................... 20

1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
This repot summarises the responses to a public consultation on a draft Market Regulations
Handbook and proposed changes to Fees and Charges for South Hollands’ four street markets.
The district of South Holland holds five regular markets with approximately 246 pitches available
in total, operating at Crowland, Holbeach, Long Sutton and twice weekly in Spalding (Tuesday &
Saturday). As of October 2020, 73 pitches were let and assumed let for 2021 is 117.
The purpose of the Market Regulations Handbook is to set out the matters the “Council” will take
into account when considering and undertaking its duty to provide and manage its markets.
The Market Regulations Handbook and Fees and Charges aim to:
•
•

Build a sustainable and equitable market provision throughout the district for traders
addressing regulation in the draft Market Regulation Handbook;
Provide welcoming and safe environments for traders and market visitors.

Page 29

1

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Provide an on-hand markets team to help with any queries or issues 7.30am – 5pm Monday
to Friday; an out of hours service at all other times.
Support the growth of the district’s markets
Promote the markets via SHDC website and social media channels;
Facilitate an online application process to support SHDC’s digital transformation programme;
Facilitate and run an on-line booking system to secure traders have a standing position on the
market;
Ensure the service fees and charges are “Hemming” compliant;
Levying Fees and Charges that better reflect the cost to SHDC of providing the Markets
operation;
Provide for fairer and more consistent fees and charges across all individual markets;

The aims of the public consultation were to understand:
•
•
•
•
•

What is important to customers from the opening hours, to items sold and the local
environment;
How residents use the markets;
How SHDC can support more people to become traders;
A response to the proposed fees and charges;
Views across the district relating to: regulation and enforcement, marketing and
promotion, food standards, stakeholder engagement by way of market representatives,
sustainability.

The markets covered by the consultation were:
o
o
o
o

Crowland
Holbeach
Long Sutton
Spalding (Tuesday and Saturday)

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
This reports seeks to implement a revised Market Regulations Handbook and a revised set of
Fees and Charges relating to the five (5) street markets in four (4) towns in the South Holland
District, following public consultation approved by The Portfolio Holder for Environmental
Services on 3 June 2021.
The public consultation on the draft “Market Regulations Handbook” and the proposed “Fees
and Charges” formally ran between 9.00am Friday 18 June 2021 and 5.00pm Friday 30 July
2021. The Council adopted a six (6) week consultation period and engaged with a broad range
of consultees.
To encourage open and maximum possible contribution a programme of consultation
consisted of print, online and face to face communication. Prior to the launch of the official
consultation a period of pre-engagement took place between members of the markets team
and Traders. Traders were engaged before the formal consultation period to ensure they
were aware of the impending consultation and how they would be able to give their feedback
and opinion.
The proposals also included concessions for charitable stalls, one allocated “Charity Pitch” will
be available to registered charities, free of charge per market. Each registered charity will

Page 30

2

have the opportunity to book a pitch, once per calendar month. Any additional bookings
within a calendar month will be considered as a causal trader and the regulations of the
handbook apply. Market regulations Handbook p 6.
A new initiative for consideration of introduction is for first time stallholders to be able to hire
“Pop Up Stalls”. The Council has purchased two 3m x 3m gazebos and these will be made
available to rent, at an additional cost to the rentee and subject to contract agreements such
as a refundable deposit, return in good order and condition clause, for a maximum rental
period of six (6) weeks.

3. CONSULTATION PROGRAMME
The public consultation sought to encourage a broad a range of response as possible, from
traders, residents, workers, business owners and visitors to the district. The programme of
engagement took place, in person, online and via a communications programme.
Both on line and print / off line communication channels were adopted to ensure a wide a
consultation as possible. All information about the consultation was posted on the South
Holland District Council website, this website is host to all of SHDC’s public consultations.
Consultation documentation included: Draft Market Regulations Handbook and proposed
Fees and Charges document, questionnaire and a regularly updated Frequently Asked
Questions document.

Pre consultation engagement
After the decision to approve the consultation was given and prior to the formal launch of the
public consultation the markets team undertook a series of pre-engagement opportunities to
inform traders at each market of the up-coming consultation, to enable questions to be raised
before the formal consultation launch date.

Consultation Framework
18 June 2021 – Email sent to all known SHDC market traders, providing the consultation pack,
setting out the aim of the consultation and informing traders how they could participate and
signposting to the SHDC website;
18 June 2021 – Email sent to statutory undertakers, providing the consultation pack, setting
out the aim of the consultation and informing traders how they could participate and
signposting to the SHDC website;
18 June 2021 – Email sent to all known service providers and service users, providing the
consultation pack, setting out the aim of the consultation and informing interested parties
how they could participate and signposting to the SHDC website;
18 June 2021 – 30.07.2021 - Draft Market Regulations Handbook and questionnaire available
in hard copy at Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding;
21 July 2021 - Following the removal on 19 July 2021 of national restrictions relating to the
Coronavirus pandemic, allowing for the free movement of people, consultation packs were
distributed to 13 community centres across the district on 21 July 2021;
19 June 2021 – 30 July 2021 - On-going local press media and a social media programme
(Facebook / LinkedIn / Twitter) with signposting, dates and times of drop in sessions;

Page 31

3

19 June 2021 – 30 July 2021 - On-going - SHDC Member engagement;
On-going - Market on-site engagement sessions held at each market (see below);
19 June 2021 – 30 July 2021 – The SHDC website was updated with all the relevant information
on the draft handbook, proposed fees and charges and regularly updated FAQ’s; giving
consultees clear information on how to engage and participate with the consultation.
23 July 2021 – reminder email sent to all known consultees – encouraging a final opportunity
for participation.

On-Site Engagement Sessions
Five on-site engagement sessions were held across the district attended by Officers of
Environmental Services and SHDC Elected Members. The sessions offered the opportunity for
anyone who wished so to do to discuss the consultation and complete a questionnaire.
Officers completed the questionnaire for those people who wished to participate but did not
have the means to complete the questionnaire themselves. Officers and Councillors were
available between 9.00am and 2.00pm on the dates shown below. These times coincided
with the normal market operating hours.

Public Engagement
Crowland
Friday 9 July 2021

Holbeach
Thursday 8 July 2021

Long Sutton
Friday 16 July 2021

Spalding
Tuesday 6 July 2021
Saturday 17 July 2021

8.30am – 2.00pm

8.30am – 2.00pm

8.30am – 2.00pm

8.30am – 2.00pm

4. CONSULTATION DOCUMENTS
The consultation documents included the draft Market Regulations Handbook, proposed Fees
and Charges document and a questionnaire, these were distributed widely by email, on
request, at Council Offices Priory Road, Spalding, at drop-in sessions at markets and at
community centres. Alternative formats were available on request.
Online distribution was shared via local press: Spalding Voice and Spalding Today and social
media: SHDC Facebook page, LinkedIn and Twitter.
A FAQ document was developed, reviewed and periodically updated in response to
question(s) raised by consultees during the course of the public consultation.
The themes of the questionnaire included, how customers use each of the markets;
operational and regulatory issues (open to customers and traders); goods for sale and the
environment.
Due to the Covid – 19 national restrictions in place at the launch of the consultation the
consultation pack was not made not available to view at public libraries however, a hard copy
was available for inspection at the council office, Priory Road, Spalding and on the SHDC
website.
When national restrictions were relaxed on 19 July 2021 a hard copy of the consultation pack
was provided to thirteen (13) community centres across the district namely:

Page 32

4

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Nene Court – Spalding
Sezanne Walk – Spalding
Linden Court, Spalding
Line Court, Spalding
Glen Haven, Pinchbeck
Arthurs Avenue, Holbeach
St Matthews Drive – Sutton Bridge

•
•
•
•
•
•

Cecil Pywell Avenue, Holbeach
Lyndis Walk, Holbeach
Hargate Close – Fleet Hargate
Park Court - Weston
Spring Gardens – Long Sutton
St Marys Gardens – Long Sutton

Questionnaire
To encourage feedback a consultation questionnaire was developed and made available in
hard copy, via email or via the SHDC website and via Survey Monkey. It was available to any
individual or organisation who wished to participate in the consultation. The questionnaire
was available, on request in alternative format and large print.
The questionnaire sought to garner views from markets traders, users and visitors to the
market(s). It encouraged responses via closed questions relating to strongly agree to strongly
disagree and open questions were also asked. Comment boxes were available to allow
respondents to offer open comments about the market(s).
All open ended questions in the consultation questionnaire were coded into themes to allow
responses to be quantified. This involved reading every response to these questions and
creation of a code framework.
Completed hard copies were returned to the council offices at Priory Road, Spalding and to
West Marsh Road, Spalding and also received at public engagement sessions.

5. KEY FINDINGS
A broad range of responses were received from the target audiences and mainly via the
consultation questionnaire, which was hosted on line and as well as taking place at public
engagement events. Paper copies were available on request and via the SHDC website.
N.B Some of the questions in the questionnaire allowed respondents to tick multiple
categories as a “select all that apply” option. Therefore in some analysis the sum of the
response to the question may be higher than the total.
•
•

•
•
•

There were a total of 207 responses to the consultation
192 questionnaire responses received via online and hard copy.
o 81 were received at the public engagement events
▪ 11 – Crowland
▪ 15 – Holbeach
▪ 10 – Long Sutton
▪ 15 – Spalding Saturday
▪ 30 – Spalding Tuesday
15 Written responses
67 responses were anonymous
The largest proportion of questionnaire responses came from South Holland Resident
166 (86%), followed by Other (19), Market Traders (12), Business Owner (6), Visitor to
the District (2).

Page 33

5

•

No petitions were received

There is strong support for:
•
•
•

Supporting local traders – 76.56% of respondents liked this most about visiting the
markets.
Food Standards – 72.92% of respondents think it is important those stall holders
trading with food should sign up and display food standards ratings.
Pop-Up stalls – 88.02% of respondents would like to see Pop-Up stalls introduced.

There is also support for:
•
•

More seating areas – 58.33% of respondents would like to see more / improved
seating areas
Contactless card payments – 45.31% of respondents would like to see traders offer
contactless card payment facilities.

Common Themes from respondents:
•

•
•

Demand for variety – 38.54% of respondents cited lack of variety as a reason for
disliking the markets.
Keep the markets affordable for traders.
Lack of seating – 20.83% of respondents gave opinion to make the markets of
South Holland district more attractive to spend time at.

Page 34

6

6. QUESTIONNAIRE RESPONSE ANALYSIS
The analysis is reported in the order of the questionnaire. The questionnaire received 192
responses.
Q.

I wish to respond and I am (select all that apply)

Overall the vast majority of respondents 166 (86.46%) were South Holland residents
The “other” category includes Parish Councils, Members of South Holland District Council,
charitable organisations and where no answer was supplied.

I wish to respond and I am (select all which apply)
180
160
140
120
100
80
60
40
20
0

166

12

19

6

2

0

South Holland South Holland South Holland Work in the Visitor to the Other (please
resident market trader business District but doDistrict but do specify)
owner
not live here not live here

Q. How often do you visit the markets in South Holland?
The vast majority of respondents 142 (66.67%) visit the market(s) at least once a week.

How often do you visit the markets in South Holland?
160

142

140
120
100
80
60
40
20

26
4

3

4

13

0
At least once At least once Seasonally
Several
Once a year
a week
a month
times a year
or less

Page 35

It varies

7

Q. What time of day do you visit the markets in South Holland?
The vast majority of respondents 128 (67%) visit the markets in the mornings.

What time of day do you generally visit the market?
150

128

100
44

50

9

11

Afternoons

Lunchtime

0
Mornings

It varies

Q. Why do you visit the market?
Respondents were asked for the views on why they come to the market place. The overview
of all 5 markets in the district demonstrates shopping in an outdoor market is the main
attraction.

Why do you visit the market?
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Crowland

Holbeach

Long Sutton

Spalding
(Tues)

Spalding
(Sat)

Shopping in the outdoor market

73%

71%

93%

81%

80%

Other shopping

30%

49%

50%

54%

62%

For work or study

21%

11%

9%

9%

5%

Socialising

24%

11%

44%

27%

29%

As a thoroughfare

9%

4%

9%

12%

14%

Shopping in the outdoor market

Other shopping

Socialising

As a thoroughfare

Page 36

For work or study

8

Q. What do you like about the market? (select all that apply)
192 people responded. 147 (76.56%) the majority of respondents like supporting local traders
the most. 109 (57%) feel the market offers good quality. Nearly half 93 (48.44%) like that it
increases footfall to the wider town or high street and 80 (42%) like the market as a place to
socialise. 54 (28.13%) respondents made “other” their choice and reasons include a most a
repeat of the above including it adds vitality to the whole town centre.

What do you like about the market? (select all
which apply)
200
150

147
109

100

93

80

79

It's a good
meeting
place

Variety of
stalls

54

50
0
Supporting
It
Increases
local traders represents footfall to
good quality the town

Other
(please
specify)

Q. What do you dislike about the market (select all that apply)
192 respondents. 74 (38.54%) respondents dislike the lack of variety on the market.
67 (34.90%) dislike nothing about the market. 20% feel there is not enough seating.
59 (30.73%) respondents made “other” their choice and reiterated a dislike for the decreasing
number of stalls, incidents of anti-social behaviour and pigeons.

What do you dislike about the market? (select all which
apply)
80
70
60
50
40
30
20
10
0

74

67

59
40
17

Lack of
variety

Nothing

Other (please
specify)

Lack of
seating

Page 37

Uneven
surfaces to
walk on

9
Location

9

Q. If you could change one single thing to improve our markets what would it be?
Respondents were asked an open question and offered the opportunity to comment.
168 responses. Overall the most popular response from respondents is for more stalls /
traders and an increase in variety – 81 respondents (46%).

If you could change one single thing to improve the Market(s)
what would it be?
Support the traders
Weather
Uniform stalls
Regular pitches
Recycling of waste
New employees
Modern stalls
Mask wearing
Limit Springfields expansion
Improve communication with traders
Entertainment
Disabled access
Continuity in stall appearance
Café and bars to provide seating
Bus to come further into town
Allow traders to keep vehicles onsite
Reduce ASB
Pedestrianise area
Nothing
Improve cleanliness
Additional Market days
Remove SHDC from market management
Increase trading hours
Change location
Different type of Markets
Unsure
Improve Parking
Indoor Market
More seating
Improve appearance
Promote the Market
Reduce fees
SH to provide stalls
Increase variety
More Stalls / Traders

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
2
2
2
2
3
2
3
4
5
5
6
4
4
7
9
9
24
57
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Q. To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statement: the Council should
engage regularly with traders through their appointed market representatives.
Respondents were asked to decide on a strongly agree to strongly disagree scale.
82 respondents replied. Average of responses = AGREE

Page 38

10

This question also offered respondents the opportunity to submit additional supporting
comments. 51 Respondents submitted additional comments. Overall 36 (70.58%) of
respondents reiterated their support (26 (32%) agreed; 10 (12%) strongly agreed). Additional
comments also included suggestions for improved communication.

The Council should engage regularly with traders
through their appointed market representatives additional comments.
No need to engage

1

Works well as it is

1

Up to Traders

1

Traders need incentives to attend

1

Should be trader led

1

They do not do this enough

1

Needs new approach

1

Market should be operated properly

1

Do not engage

1

Unsure

3

Improve communication

3

Strongly agree

10

Agree

26
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

The next set of questions were grouped together as a block question on the questionnaire.
Respondents were asked to decide on a strongly agree to strongly disagree scale.
97 respondents. 51 respondents offered further opinion. 46 respondents offered further
comment. Support was for promotion of the market 10% and a lack of appetite to introduce
Key Performance Indicators’ -10%.
Q. Do you see the benefits of being involved in workshops and focus groups?
Average of responses = NEITHER AGREE / NOR DISAGREE – see chart below
Q. The Council should develop key performance targets for the markets to be reported
against annually.
Average of responses = NEITHER AGREE / NOR DISAGREE – see chart below
Q. The Council should introduce online services for market traders?
Average of responses = NEITHER AGREE / NOR DISAGREE – see chart below
Q. The Council should promote the markets and their traders
Average of responses = AGREE – see chart below

Page 39

11

Proposal for SHDC to Introduce; KPIS, Online services, and
promote the market. Additional Comments.
Traders should be responsible for their own stalls
SH should be proud of the market
SH not supporting the market
Markets bring footfall to the town
Market traders have enough support
Lack of understanding
KPIs - Need to be achievable
Increase variety
Increase footfall
Improve town appearance
Help local business
Encourage entrepreneurship
SHDC should have KPI on increasing stalls
Online services - Agree
Leave traders alone
Unsure
bureaucratic
Agree to promote the market - funded by traders
Online services - not needed
Only if this is what the traders want
KPIs - Impossible / Not needed
Agree to promote the market

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
2
2
3
3
3
4
5
9
10
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Q. What facilities would you like to see introduced to the markets, subject to funding? (select
all which apply)
The questionnaire asked respondents to comment on new initiatives proposed in the
questionnaire.
An overall proportion of respondents 169 (88.02%) would like to see pop-up stalls introduced
and 112 (58%) would like to see more market seating areas. 87 (45.31%)would like to see
traders offer contactless card payments; 3% wish the markets to be cash only.

What facilities would you like to see introduced to the
markets, subject to funding? (select all which apply)
180
160
140
120
100
80
60
40
20
0

169
112
87
22
Contactless Drop and
card
collect
payments
service

28

32

Click and
collect
service

Secure
shopping
storage

Page 40

42

Market
seating
areas

Pop-up
stalls for
prospective
new traders
and microbusinesses

Other
(please
specify)

12

Respondents were given the opportunity to expand further with an open question for further
comments about the options available, subject to sufficient funding. 51 people responded
the majority of responses calling for more support for the markets from the “Council” (SHDC)
and for more stalls and also an increase in variety.

What facilities would you like to see introduced to the
markets, subject to funding?
Support Traders to set up and tidy up
Same pitch for Regular Market Traders
Remove parking in the Market Place
Reduce ASB
Long Sutton Market layout has improved the…
Long Sutton Market is welcoming
Improve communication
Extend Long Sutton Road Closure beyond…
Encourage Traders to be consistent
Do not increase costs
Like to see Pop-Ups
Improved Market Seating Areas
SH to promote the market
Improve Cleanliness of the Market area
Change layout
Benchmark against other Markets
Digital for Markets is not needed
More Stalls / Traders
Markets should be cash only
Market Traders to decide
Long Sutton rent increase unfair
Increase variety
SH need to support the market
Unsure

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
2
2
2
2
2
3
3
3
3
3
3
5
6

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

Q. Do you think it is important market traders sign up to and display quality rating such as
Food Standards Hygiene ratings?
192 Respondents. The majority of respondents 140 (72.92%) agree it is important to them
that market traders sign up to, receive and display a Food Standards Hygiene Certificate.
Do you think it is important market traders sign up to and
display quality rating such as Food Standards Hygiene
ratings?
150

140

100
50

25

27

No

Don't know

0
Yes

Page 41

13

Q. We would welcome any feedback regarding customer care, please provide your views
Respondents were asked an open questions and given the opportunity to provide their views
on any aspect of customer care. 91 Responses; 46 respondents offered “no opinion”. 45
respondents provided feedback. Overall respondents found traders to be helpful and friendly.

Feedback regarding customer care
Traders to show where goods are sourced
Traders operate to a high standard
Traders all work well together
Support good customer relations
SH to make market place safer
Markets Inspector should be visible
Long Sutton road closure a success
Increase Variety
Increase / Improve Toilet facilites
Do not increase fees
Clean public toilets should be provided
SH to promote Market
Pedestrianise on Market days
Long Sutton rent increase is not good…
Excellent Customer Care
Encourage good Customer Care
Traders to be more transparant
Improve apperance
Bureaucratic
Unsure
Traders are helpful and friendly

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

0

2
2
2
2
2
3
3
4
8
9
2

4

6

8

10

The following questions were open questions and relate specifically to proposals in the draft
Market Regulations Handbook.
Proposal: The draft handbook proposes, where appropriate, market traders achieve a
minimum of 3 star rating Food Standards Hygiene rating and display such rating. Reference:
Page 9. Reason: To help consumers choose where to eat out or shop for food giving clear
information about the businesses hygiene standards.
This question was asked in addition to the question above and relates directly to the inclusion
of the food rating requirement into the Market Regulations Handbook.
192 responses. Overall the vast majority of respondents 93 (48%) agree a food standard rating
of at least 3 stars would help to inform customers when purchasing prepared food for sale.
62 (32%) had no opinion and 11 (6%) disagree.

Page 42

14

Market traders to achieve a minimum of 3 star rating for
Food Standards Hygiene
Up to Traders

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
2
2

Should have greater monitoring
Must be Simple
SHDC Should Signpost
For new traders only
Should not be too costly
Depends on Type of Food
Would Like a Higher Rating
Up to Consumers
Disagree

5
6
6
8
8

11

62

Agree
0

20

40

93

60

80

100

Q. 27 Proposal: The draft handbook proposes that all traders provide and set-up their own
“fit for purpose” stall. Reference: Page 9. Reason: To ensure that the market provisions are
equitable throughout the district and provide welcoming and safe environments for traders
and market visitors.
192 respondents. 55 (29%) had no response or opinion, a further 20 (10%) of respondents
“unsure”. 45 (23%) of respondents agree. 31 (16%) disagree. 41 respondents offered further
opinion;

Fit for purpose stall
Would like to see stall available for hire
Undecided
Smaller Markets should bring own
Simple stalls may be suitable
Should be applied to all markets
Public will choose if stall is fit for purpose
Provided stalls give more uniformity
Provide stalls to those without them
Not providing stalls means some traders…
Need to check if fit for purpose
Market was more vibrant when stalls were…
Like to see Pop Ups
Could prevent new traders
Provide stalls to new traders / charities
Traders should have option
Consideration on a trader basis
Bureaucratic
Concerns of what is 'Fit for Purpose'
Difficult for those with disabilities
Would like to see stall available for hire
Most already do this
May prevent stall holders
Long Sutton bring their own now
0

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
2
2
2
2
3
4
4
5
1

Page 43

2

3

4

5

6

15

Proposal: The draft handbook proposes to amend the core trading hours for standing on the
market from 09:00hrs – 15:30hrs to 09:00hrs to 14:00hrs. Reference: Page 9. Reason: To
better align the traders to the footfall of the area in which they trade.
This question was asked following feedback from traders that declining footfall means that
standing until 3.30pm is not often worthwhile. 192 responses. The highest proportion of
respondents 65 (34%) disagreed with the change to hours and 56 (29%) had no opinion. 33
(17%) agreed. 25 (13%) said it should be up to the traders to decide.
Core Trading Hours
Should be flexible

1

Bureaucratic

1

Traders do not abide by core hours

3

Longer the better

3

Unsure

11

Up to Traders

19

Agree

33

No Response / Opinion

56

Disagree

65
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Proposal: The draft handbook proposes to introduce a book and pay online platform for
traders. Reference: Page 6. Reason: To meet the ambitions of the Council’s digital
transformation project.
192 responses. 78 (41%) of respondents had no opinion / no response. 16 (8%) were unsure.
Of those respondents that gave an opinion 62 (32%) agreed with the proposal. 23 (12%)
disagreed and 18 (9%) thought alternatives options should be available.

Proposal to introduce an on-line book and pay platform
Up to Traders

7

unsure

16

Alternate options should be available

18

Disagree

23

Agree

62

No Response / Opinion

78
0

10

20

Page 44

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

16

Q. Do you have any ideas you would like to share on how the markets can improve in respect
of environmentally friendly initiatives?
192 responses. 103 (54%) gave no opinion. 25 (13%) were unsure; 11 (6) said current
initiatives are fine and 11 (6%) would like to see a reduction in plastic bag use.

Environmentally friendly initiatives
remove Trader vehicles

3

Remove Rubbish

3

Recycle Traders waste

4

More Stalls offering environmentally…
Improved cleansing by the Council

4
6

More bins

8

Road closures

9

Reduce plastic bag use

11

Current behaviours are fine

11

Unsure

25

No Response / Opinion

103
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Respondents were asked a set of closed questions relating to the marketing. Analysis of the
results indicate respondents agree to introduction of the draft Market Regulations Handbook;
agree to SHDC promoting the markets; to the introduction of a licence and for the offering of
pop up stalls.
Respondents neither agreed not disagreed with the suggestion for a “Buy with Confidence”
initiative to prevent the sale of any counterfeit goods.
Q. How important do you think it is the Council promotes the market by participating in
nationally recognised activities, such as Love Your Market?
Average of responses – AGREE.
Q. To what extent do you agree or disagree with the Council’s idea to introduce a district
wide market licence for all traders registered and vetted by SHDC?
Average of responses – AGREE.
Q. To what extent do you agree or disagree with the Council’s suggestions to offer pop-up
stalls to encourage entrepreneurship in our district.
Average of responses – AGREE.
Q. To what extent do you agree or disagree with the Council developing a fair and
transparent handbook allowing for reasonable competition and new business?
Average of responses – AGREE.
Q. To what extent do you agree or disagree with the markets team should monitor service
delivery to ensure high customer service.
Average of responses – AGREE.

Page 45

17

Q. Market traders should not need to display food hygiene rating on their stall.
Average of responses – DISAGREE.
Q. To what extent do you agree or disagree with Market traders should have hand sanitising
facilities.
Average of responses – AGREE.
Q. To what extent do you agree or disagree with Market traders do not need to display a
‘Buy with Confidence’ card (or similar) on their stall, to demonstrate their goods are
genuine?
Average of responses – NEITHER AGREE NOR DISAGREE

7. INDIVIDUAL MARKET RESPONSES
This section deals with simplified findings of reasons for visiting each market. Overall
respondents visit Spalding Tuesday and Saturday the most, followed by Long Sutton, Holbeach
and Crowland. The overall majority of respondents to each market visit for outdoor shopping.

Which market do you attend?
17%
23%

62%

35%
63%

Crowland

Holbeach

Long Sutton

Spalding (Tues)

Spalding (Sat)

Crowland
Crowland
30
25

24

20
15

10

10

7

8
3

5
0
Shopping in
the outdoor
market

Other
shopping

For work or
study

Page 46

Socialising

As a
thoroughfare

18

Holbeach
Holbeach
40

32

30

22

20
10

5

5

For work or
study

Socialising

2

0
Shopping in the Other shopping
outdoor market

As a
thoroughfare

Long Sutton
Long Sutton
80
60
40
20
0

63
34

30
6

Shopping in
the outdoor
market

Other
shopping

For work or
study

6
Socialising

As a
thoroughfare

Spalding (Tuesday)
Spalding (Tuesdays)
120
100
80
60
40
20
0

98
65
33
11
Shopping in
the outdoor
market

Other
shopping

For work or
study

Socialising

15
As a
thoroughfare

Spalding (Saturday)
Spalding (Saturdays)
100
80
60
40
20
0

95
74
34
17

6
Shopping in
the outdoor
market

Other
shopping

For work or
study

Page 47

Socialising

As a
thoroughfare

19

8. EMAIL AND LETTER RESPONSES
15 Individual responses have been received. The consultation responses are detailed in the
table below. The second column of the table includes a response that acknowledges and
addresses each concern raised.
Representation
Reference to fees and charges:

Comment
All issues are dealt with in
The Market Consultation
Concerned with new charges potentially being implemented Outcome report – at 3.2 &
and may not be able to continue to trade at many of the 3.3
markets.
according to the new document the stalls will be only 10ft
deep. All of my stalls are at least twice that at the moment.
as a quick estimate if I was to pay per square foot for the
space I currently have I will be expecting a ren increase on pre
covid by about 10k.
Concern it will not be possible make it financially viable to
continue to trade with South holland.
I need time to get other markets in place as I'm set to lose 5
markets
I'd like to be assured that stallholder fees aren't to increase
exorbitantly, as this could jeopardise and already fragile
market.
Why raise market rent in long Sutton?
Seems SHDC trying to kill the market & close it down. Stall
holders had no market to sell goods for months during
lockdown now there back on their feet they are met with
huge increase.
We value the Friday market in Long Sutton and are strongly
in favour of the market continuing under the present
conditions and costing.
I consider such a weekly increase of rents will severely
damage the nature of this important Market on a Friday in
Long Sutton. Long Sutton has had a significant weekly Friday
market since their charter in 1202. From the early days the
market has been a significant weekly event in the town
around the church of St Marys. It has significantly affected
the lay out of the town in Medieval times and also during the
Georgian period. It is very much a focus and feature at the
heart of the town.
I understand that additional clauses of the SHDC Market Hand
book are being considered for inclusion in this draft. One of

Page 48

20

the effects would be to increase the stall holders stall rents
by 69% to meet road closure costs.
Proposed Current Percentage
Crowland £7.00 £5.10 37%
Long Sutton £8.50 £5.10 67%
Holbeach £7.00 £5.10 37%
Spalding Sat £7.00 £19.00 -63%
Spalding Tue £7.00 £19.00 -63%
With specific reference to Long Sutton, this proposed new
charge is quite preposterous and unacceptable. Spalding
stalls reduced from £19.00 to £7.00, a reduction of 63%.
Crowland and Holbeach stalls increased from £5.10 to £7.00,
an increase of 37%. Long Sutton stalls increased from £5.10
to £8.50, an increase of 67%. Why? If the reason for this
differential is to contribute to the cost of closing the Market
Place to traffic on Friday’s I would remind the Council of the
section in their consultation document which refers to safety
and environmental issues, both of which benefit significantly
from the pedestrianisation of Long Sutton Market Place on
Friday Market days. Surely South Holland District Council are
not neglecting their duty of care and passing the financial
aspect on to the Traders bearing in mind it was the health and
safety aspect of pedestrians which prompted SHDC to restrict
vehicular access in the first place. Yet another deterrent to
Traders.
It has been brought to my attention that there is a likelihood
that fees and red tape may increase in respect of the running
of Long Sutton Market which is held each Friday.
Reference to stalls:

All issues are dealt with in
The Market Consultation
Just will not happen. "Fit for Purpose" is best judged by the Outcome report – at 3.11
market's overall popularity and attendance. If it was not "Fit
for Purpose" shoppers would not attend and as a
consequence neither would the Traders.
I'm sorry I don't understand all stuff printed about our nonexistent market. Why did you stop putting up the stalls for
traders to use they pay rent for them surely. Having a
consultation after most traders have left and gone to
Stamford is another waste of money. I wonder how many
members of the consultation team actually live here. Please
clean up the town and revitalise the market because it's
advertised by property developers as a bustling market town
and sounds wonderful but is pretty grim, such a shame and a
let down for residents already here.
We are unanimous in our belief that the withdrawal of council
provided stalls to traders last year was a retrograde step that
caused the market immense harm. We are of the opinion that

Page 49

21

the provision of stalls with weather coverings would help
encourage some traders to return to the market, and
encourage new ones. We also feel that they would smarten
up the appearance of the market.
Reference to Long Sutton:

This does not relate
directly to the proposals

I have lived in the town for the past 20yrs and feel the market
is a massive boon to the town's already vibrant shops. It's
must be a huge challenge to keep such a vast variety of shops
and stalls in a small town so everything should be done to
encourage this.
I would like to be able to see and use the market for many
years to come. Everything in your power should be done to
facilitate this.

The short short-sightedness of this proposal is horrendous.
Spalding market has been decimated and now attention has
been turned to other towns and villages.
Long Sutton market is the heart of this wonderful little town.
People from the surrounding rural villages congregate here
each week to shop and meet up with friends. The local shops
benefit and it is centre of the week for many elderly who may
not find it easy to get to other places. Given encouragement
I am sure that more traders will join.
What happened to the slogan "SHOP LOCAL"
Following the pandemic I was under the impression that
everything was to be done to help businesses to get back on
their feet and substantial funds have been made available for
this purpose. Destroying our market goes completely against
this aim.
Whilst holidaying recently I was struck by the vibrancy of
various markets which are obviously encouraging traders into
the different places in order to help revive our struggling High
Streets.
The person who thought this one up is completely out of
touch and should just try coming to Long Sutton on a Friday
morning and talking to the people there.
I do not wish Long Sutton to become a hollow dormitory town
like so many others.
Sutton Bridge Parish Council highly values the Long Sutton
market, which is regarded as a very important local area

Page 50

22

amenity. It very much supports the market’s long term
continuation, and would view with deep concern the
implementation of any excessive increase in charges to
market traders, which might affect the market’s viability.

Reference road closures:

Issues are dealt with in
The Market Consultation
In relation to road closures, I know the District Council have Outcome report – at 3.12
been keen to close the road to motor traffic long before & 3.13
Covid, was there any near miss or accidents relating to traffic
to warrant the closure or was it seen as a 'be on the safe side'
measure?
Do the stallholders see an improvement since closing the
road?
Since the 2016 handbook much has been made of the Health
and Safety aspect of the Market even though there has never
been an accident in the Open Market with vehicles going
between the stalls. Nevertheless the Market has now
adopted a pedestrian zones for the Market which works well
creating a friendly safe environment. In the opinion of the
stall holder it is the best market in south Lincolnshire
attracting over 1200 people each week from a wide local area
of several counties. It also enhances the Social, Leisure and
Economic status in the local area. This was apparent from our
questionnaires during our local community neighbourhood
plans from a few years ago. Our District Councillors have
worked hard to achieve this.
The town of Long Sutton has successfully followed and put
into practice the best procedures, so the community asks
why penalise rather than reward their achievements for this
important Market.
This important Friday Market in Long Sutton should remain in
its present position with no increase in rents to discourage
stall holders from serving the local community.
The closure of the Market Place in Long Sutton to vehicles for
the duration of the Friday Market is, in my opinion, an
absolute positive both from the safety aspect of pedestrians
and stall holders alike and the removal of vehicle emissions
from the immediate vicinity of the general public. Pedestrian
space and access is much improved, particularly for the ever
growing number of mobility scooters.

Reference to request for further suggestions:

Page 51

Issues are dealt with in

23

Would it be possible to explore the possibility of a monthly The Market Consultation
farmers market held on Saturdays to such as those in Outcome report – at 2.2
Sleaford?
and section 3
Have a simple registration/booking system for traders, and
don’t charge pitch fees.
We should be trying to attract the maximum amount of
traders to the market – which will in turn attract buyers to an
expanded market.
Make the car parks cheap or free only on market days by the
same reasoning.
Cheap car parking should be offset by increased volume.
The traders should be encouraged as much as possible, after
all they are providing a service – and in exchange the council
is scalping them.
More stalls = more visitors = more choice for residents =
increased spin off revenue for cafes etc.
Strangle the traders, strangle the town centre.
Please apply some sensible logic to the situation
I would like to see more food stalls such as hog roast, local
foods e.g. meats, hot Chinese dishes, continental foods
including Polish, Lithuanian as well as French, German.
What happened to the wet fish wagon?
We would like to see three dimensional planting in the town
centre. We feel that as the flower industry is a key sector in
the area, floral displays should be used as a way of promoting
this important industry.
We would like to propose that a regular auction be held in the
town centre. Possibly Market Place or Sheep market if the
market itself was relocated (see below)
As most of the café’s in the town centre are in Hall Place we
feel that outdoor seating should be encouraged on market
days. This could create a café culture and thereby encourage
a different demographical mix into the town centre.
The market benefits the residents and businesses of Long
Sutton.
Further, given the influx of holiday makers, it could ensure
that the historic Georgian Town and its environs continues to
redevelop rather than become a faded rundown small town.

Page 52

24

Let's make South Holland a place to be proud to live in, work
and visit.
Reference to on-line Book and Pay for traders
Again Counsel usurping responsibility to facilitate their
"Digital Strategy" Not everyone is computer literate. Another
deterrent to stall holders.

This issue is dealt with in
The Market Consultation
Outcome report – at 1.3;
3.7 and 3.10

You make it far too difficult to book a space. I would have
taken a pitch at Long Sutton last Friday but could not do so
because of bureaucracy
Your log in system did not work and was unable to fill in
details. like my address...I was told this was fixed but it
wasn’t. I could not do it.
Sensible people would have said 'come along on the Friday'
but was told that was not possible....also the form works too
long in advance....you were taking bookings for 30th July not
23rd.
I do not come out in the rain or if its too windy and do not
make decisions about whether to take a pitch until 48 hours
prior so I can see the weather forecast.
If you want new traders...welcome them...bend over
backwards..and don't make it feel like you are trying to get
entry into Buckingham Palace. It will be a long time before I
attempt to take pitch at any of your venues.
Reference to traders representatives:

This issue is dealt with in
The Market Consultation
Traders to provide a representative to act as Outcome report – at 2.2
communication's officer and negotiator between the Council
and Traders: This is a clear usurping of responsibility by
Council by passing this unenviable responsibility to a Trader
and, assuming a volunteer can be found, will only serve to
create discord among their fellow Traders. Put simply,
Council is "Passing the book."
Reference to Key Performance Indicators

This issue is dealt with in
The Market Consultation
The use of Key Performance Targets which Traders will be Outcome report – at 3.6
audited against annually: I have significant experience of key
Performance Indicators and Targets as used in commerce and
industry. More often than not they are counterproductive to
the overall business or project. The reason being individuals
tend to concentrate on achieving their own individual targets
for which they will be rewarded which is not necessarily for
the greater good of all. Remember, this is a market in a small
rural town with local Traders and produce not a multinational

Page 53

25

corporation and will almost certainly deter Traders from
attending if imposed.
Reference to food hygiene ratings:
This issue is dealt with in
Display Quality Ratings, a Minimum Rating of Three being The Market Consultation
Mandatory: These are market stalls selling local produce not Outcome report – at 3.1
Sainsbury's or the Ritz.
Reference to waste:
This issue is dealt with in
We feel that there should be a requirement for traders to The Market Consultation
keep the areas surrounding their stalls clear and tidy. This Outcome report – at 3.1
should also cover property belonging to others as we have
seen in pre Covid days the unacceptable use of the seating in
Hall Place as an area for storage. We feel that this is essential
to protect public assets in the market area.
Reference to Buy with Confidence:
This is a local rural market not e-bay.

This issue is dealt with in
The Market Consultation
Outcome report – at 3.6
Reference to layout:
This issue is dealt with in
We feel that thought should be given to looking at the layout The Market Consultation
of the market. At present the circle in Hall Place is underused Outcome report – at 3.1
for the purpose for which it is intended. We would like to see
this area used for street entertainment and feel that the
location of stalls that back onto this area has been to the
detriment of this part of the town centre. We feel that stalls
should look onto this area, not back onto it.
Report from respondent attached that sets out how the
layout of the market could look.
Reference to customer service:
This issue is dealt with in
What criteria are they [SHDC] going to use? How are they The Market Consultation
qualified to judge? Shoppers use of the market is the best Outcome report – at 3.1
judge of service delivery.
Reference to trader vehicles:
This issue is dealt with in
We welcome the requirement for trader vehicles to be The Market Consultation
parked away from the town centre during trading hours.
Outcome report – at 3.1
OTHER
This issue is dealt with in
Some proposals for inclusion in the handbook will only serve The Market Consultation
to have a detrimental affect on our Friday Market and will Outcome report – at 3.1
almost certainly deter traders from attending. You will,
intentionally or otherwise kill off what is without doubt the
"Jewel" in South Holland's Crown. Long Sutton market has
been in existence for over eight-hundred years, its charter
being granted by King John. It is part of Lincolnshire's rich
history and should be recognised as such by Council and
promoted.

Page 54

26

APPENDIX B to Cabinet report of 26 October 2021

South Holland District Council

Market Regulations
Handbook

1|Page

Page 55

Contents
Our Mission Statement ........................................................................................................................... 3
Welcome to South Holland Markets ....................................................................................................... 3
The Markets ............................................................................................................................................ 3
What you can expect from us ................................................................................................................. 4
Terms of Reference ................................................................................................................................. 5
Application and Booking on the Markets ............................................................................................... 6
First Time Stallholders............................................................................................................................. 6
Charity Stalls ........................................................................................................................................... 6
Market Charges ....................................................................................................................................... 7
Cancellations and Non Attendance ........................................................................................................ 8
Sale of Goods .......................................................................................................................................... 8
Use of the Pitch ....................................................................................................................................... 9
Refuse ..................................................................................................................................................... 9
Vehicles ................................................................................................................................................. 10
General.................................................................................................................................................. 10
Health and Safety .................................................................................................................................. 11
Market Representatives........................................................................................................................ 12
Compliance with Market Rules ............................................................................................................. 12
Disciplinary Procedure .......................................................................................................................... 12
Emergency Procedures ......................................................................................................................... 13
Stallholders right to Assign their stalls goodwill ................................................................................... 13
Contacts and Resources ........................................................................................................................ 13

2|Page

Page 56

Our Mission Statement
To ensure the district of South Holland is a vibrant place to work, live, shop and visit and that
everyone has an opportunity to be part of its future.

Welcome to South Holland Markets
The following Market Regulations Handbook details the agreement that is made between South Holland District Council
and our stallholders, setting out the obligations and requirements that must be complied with to ensure safe environments
for all those that frequent our markets and support the markets and their growth.
South Holland District Council is invested in the development and ongoing success of our markets. We believe that by
working together, SHDC and stallholders can continue to grow each of our markets and aspire to increase footfall through
a wider selection of produce and commodities.
Our markets provide customers with fresh, local and affordable products which have become more valuable to the public
over the recent times. It is our commitment to work with our current and new stallholders to support, develop and
advance our markets to be the markets of choice for our residents and visitors.
Please do not hesitate to email us at markets@sholland.gov.uk or contact the Markets Inspector on 07827 955887/ 07920
766682 if there is something you want to bring to our attention.
South Holland District Council currently runs 5 markets all year round in the towns of Crowland, Holbeach, Long Sutton and
Spalding. The Holbeach Saturday market is currently dormant, for more information about this market please contact
markets@sholland.gov.uk.

The Markets –
Crowland
North Street
Every Friday
09:00 – 14:00

Holbeach
Boston Road South Car Park
Every Thursday (and Saturday)
09:00 – 14:00

3|Page

Page 57

Long Sutton
Market Place
Every Friday
09:00 – 14:00

Spalding
Market Place, Hall Place and Sheep Market
Every Tuesday and Saturday
09:00 – 14:00

The days of trading can be varied around Bank Holidays but will never be held on Christmas, Boxing or New Year’s Day.
More details regarding our markets, including any changes around bank holidays can be found at www.sholland.gov.uk.

What you can expect from us
A Council representative will visit each market.
The markets team will be on hand to help with any queries or issues 7.30am – 5pm Monday to Friday.
The Council will facilitate the online application process and check that you have everything in place to be able to stand on
our markets.
The Council will facilitate and run the online booking system that will secure your position on the markets.
The Council will promote the markets via SHDC website and social media channels.
The Council will facilitate and work with the market engagement group to ensure two-way communication with our
stallholders that supports the growth of our markets
The Council will facilitate and encourage the nomination and positioning of Market Representatives to ensure the
stallholders always have a voice.
The Council will update stallholders with any relevant Government advice or legislation.

4|Page

Page 58

Terms of Reference
‘The council’ means the district Council of South Holland, whose principle office is The Council Offices, Priory Road,
Spalding, PE11 1AX
‘The market’ means the open-air markets held in Crowland, Holbeach, Long Sutton and Spalding respectively in the
locations determined by the District Council.
‘The Market Inspector’ means the person appointed by the Council to exercise general management, supervision, control
and enforcement of market rules or any person nominated to deputise in the absence of the Market Inspector.
‘Stall’ means any structure, standing bench, table, place or space and any vehicle or trailer used or intended to be used for
the display or sale of goods.
‘Pitch’ means the place or space in the marketplace where the stallholder is positioned containing the agreed stall or
number of stalls, allocated to the individual stallholder.
‘Fittings’ means any free-standing structure or additional attachments used for displaying goods, not normally comprising
of the make-up of the stall.
‘Vehicles’ include any mechanically propelled vehicle (other than mobility scooters or wheelchairs) and any cycle, tricycle,
wheelbarrow, cart, handcart, truck, wagon or trailer.
‘Goods’ includes provisions, commodities and articles brought into the market for the purpose of sale.

‘Stallholder’ means a trader given permission to trade on the Market, whether Registered or Casual. Active stallholders
must inform the Council of any changes to their names or contact information.
‘Registered Trader’ means a stallholder who has been allocated a reserved pitch for each market day and has agreed to
comply in full with the Councils Regulations relating to the payment of rents and the operation of the market.
‘Casual Trader’ means a stallholder who is allowed to stand for the day of market only and has agreed to comply in full
with the Councils Regulations relating to the payment of rents and the operation of the market. They have the right on
application to be placed on the waiting list to become a registered trader. They will not be placed within 48ft from a
stallholder who sells the same commodity, nor will they be put in a space held by an absent registered stallholder who sells
the same commodity.
‘Market Representative’ means a stallholder voted into the position of representative by their peers. They are the main
point of communication between the stallholders on their appointed market and the Council.
“Loading and unloading” means the process of getting goods and equipment in and out of the stallholders’ vehicles and
setting up or taking down the stall or pitch
“Market Licence” means the authority of the Council, which is personal to the Stallholder, to sell permitted items on a
specified market from a pitch, subject to Market Rules and such other conditions as may be included in the Market Licence
“Permitted Commodities” means those goods and commodities for which the Stallholder has the approval of the Markets
Inspector to sell during the course of trading hours.

5|Page

Page 59

Application and Booking on the Markets
All stallholders are required to complete an online application which is assessed by the Markets Inspector.
The application will require you to provide:

•
•
•

details of all commodities that you will be selling.

•
•
•

business details, including any market federation membership number.

proof of public liability insurance for claims up to £5 million.
proof of registration with the food safety team, confirmation that you hold a food rating of 3 stars or above and
food hygiene certificates if you are selling food.
full contact details.
Details of the markets you wish to trade on.

Once all the required information is received, and providing the application is successful, the applicant will receive a licence
to trade which will need to be displayed on their stall at all times. The licence permits the stallholder to trade on agreed
markets only and sell only the permitted commodities as provided in the application process. Should these need to be
amended you must contact the Markets team. Should you fail to do so you will be requested to cease trading the
unauthorised commodities immediately and may be subject to disciplinary procedures.
To stand on a market day, stallholders are required to book a pitch through the online book and pay system, for which
payment is required at the time of booking. If any stallholder stands without booking and paying in advance through this
system, they will be requested to cease trading on that day and may be subject to disciplinary procedures.
Registered traders will be required to use the book and pay system and will have to book 7 days in advance for any market.
If no booking is made the stallholder will be contacted by the Markets Team. If there is no response or the pitch is not
required on that day it will be made available for a casual trader for that day only.
Stallholders will receive an email receipt for book and pay.
If, due to a registered trader not booking to stand, a reserved pitch becomes available it will be let by the Markets
Inspector to a stallholder who has filled in their application and is on the waiting list. The market inspector will be
responsible for maintaining commodity balance within the markets and may refuse an application due to replication of a
commodity within the market.
In the event that an allocated pitch becomes unsuitable to the stallholder it is allocated to, the Market Inspector shall, at
their discretion, allocate an alternative position if there any available.

First Time Stallholders
To support new stallholders, we intend to be able to provide an option for new stallholders to hire a 3m x 3m gazebo and
table for a maximum of 6 weeks at an additional cost and subject to availability.
For more details please contact the Markets team at market@sholland.gov.uk.

Charity Stalls
On all of South Holland District Councils markets there is one allocated Charity pitch which is available free of charge.
Registered Charities must complete an online application form and will be able to book once per month on each market
through the book and pay system. If additional bookings are required in a month, the Charity can become a Casual Trader
and will be subject to the fees for the pitch size required. A charity can hire a 3mx3m gazebo and table for a maximum of 6
weeks at an additional cost and subject to availability.
For more details please contact the Markets team at market@sholland.gov.uk.

6|Page

Page 60

Market Charges
The most up to date charges for standing on our markets can be found on our website – add link
The Council reserves the right to amend its charging policies at any time and will give a minimum notice of one month to
each stallholder.
All pitches have a maximum depth of 3m/10ft, the costs set out below are for a 3m x 3m pitch.
The draft handbook sets out for consideration the proposed revised fees and charges for market trading in the district of
South Holland. The proposed fees and charges will enable the Council to work towards recovering its costs in managing and
administering the markets regime across all markets in the District. The fee proposals set out in this handbook aim to
provide a simple fee model that aims to achieve cost recovery fairly across all traders and across all markets. To encourage
local and new enterprise and demonstrate commitment to the growth of the district’s markets and to aspire to increase
footfall through a wider selection of produce and commodities.

Markets

Proposed New
Charges

Current Charges

Difference from
Current Charges

Crowland

£7.00

£5.10

37%

Long Sutton

£8.50

£5.10

67%

Holbeach

£7.00

£5.10

37%

Spalding Sat

£7.00

£19.00

-63%

Spalding Tue

£7.00

£19.00

-63%

Electric hook up will incur an additional £1 contributary cost.

7|Page

Page 61

Cancellations and Non-Attendance
In the case of any cancellation, payments will not be refunded. Instead the non-trading days may be reimbursed by way of
a free future booking, at the discretion of the Markets Inspector subject to the reason for cancellation as detailed below.
Cancellations made by the stallholder will only be reimbursed if there is an unforeseen reason such as illness or
bereavement. Documentary evidence such as medical certificates may be required by the Markets Inspector to authorise
the reimbursement.
a)

b)

c)

d)

With regard to non-attendance of a stallholder due to certified sickness and bona fide visits to medical
practitioners, a stallholder will have rents reimbursed for a period of up to 3 months. A medical certificate or
letter will be required from a doctor clearly stating that the registered trader is unable to attend his/her market
stall. If certified sickness continues for a period of six months, discussions will be held with the stallholder
concerned and the situation will be reviewed. The aforementioned review will be instigated by the Markets
Inspector after consultation with the Environmental Services Manager. The outcome will be made known to the
stallholder.
In extenuating circumstances, should any medically certified leave of absence be extended to a period of twelve
months, the stallholder will be invited to attend a meeting when a comprehensive review of the situation will
take place.
Stallholders who suffer a close family bereavement will be allowed two weeks absence, without forfeiture of
rights and free of market charges. An explanatory letter or email must be given by that stallholder to the
market’s inspector.
If a stallholder is required for jury service, they must inform the markets inspector in writing as soon as possible
and the market rents may be waived.

The Council may cancel a market at short notice due to adverse weather conditions. The Council will endeavour to gain a
consensus from Stallholders before the decision is made to cancel the market and the stallholder will be reimbursed by
way of a free booking on a future date.
In the event the Council has received notification from statutory undertakers or other bodies that work is to be undertaken
in the Market place, the Council reserves the right to give one weeks’ notice to terminate any bookings made within the
period of works.
All registered traders are required to give 4 weeks’ notice in writing when leaving any of the Councils Markets.
A pitch left unoccupied for 3 consecutive weeks by a registered trader may be considered to be vacant unless a reason
considered acceptable by the Markets Inspector is given.
An aggregate of 15 absences by a registered trader in any 12-month period may result in the loss of a reserved pitch unless
a reason considered acceptable by the Markets Inspector is given. Documentary proof such as Medical certificates may be
required.
Notice of non-attendance must be given to the Markets inspector by emailing markets@sholland.gov.uk or by calling
07827 955887/ 07920 766682.

Sale of Goods
Stallholders shall not sell any type of goods other than those for which they are registered. This regulation may be relaxed
if no other stallholder has applied to be on the waiting list or the Markets Inspector agrees that the sale of the additional
goods will not interfere with the balance of the market.
Permission to change or alter commodities must be gained from the Markets Inspector in writing by emailing
markets@sholland.gov.uk, if the changes are significant a new application form may need to be completed.
Sale of live animals, fish, birds and other fowl will not be permitted.
Practices of acupuncture, ear piercing, tattooing or electrolysis will not be permitted.
No counterfeit, replica guns/weapons, drug related, pornographic or adult entertainment goods to be displayed or sold.

8|Page

Page 62

Stallholders selling food items must comply with all current and applicable food safety legislation and must be registered
with the Local Authority in whose district they reside. The Council will only accept food vendors on any of the markets with
a Food Hygiene Rating of 3 stars or above and the relevant food safety rating should be displayed at all times. Food should
also be labelled in accordance with statutory requirements and those handling food should be appropriately trained. For
more information please contact South Holland District Councils Food Safety Team at foodhs@sholland.gov.uk.

Use of the Pitch
All pitches have an identification code and stallholders shall only occupy the position allocated to them.
No alterations or additions can be made to the stall or pitch without the authorisation of the Markets Inspector.
Subletting of stalls or pitches or any part thereof is prohibited.
All pitches have a maximum depth of 3m/10ft, no goods shall be placed beyond the boundaries of the stall/pitch, either
hanging or on the ground unless permission to do so has been gained from the Markets Inspector.
All stallholders are required to be aware of and comply with the relevant statute law and regulations.
It is the responsibility for all stallholders to acquaint themselves with the trading regulation regarding their own specialist
area and abide by it.
Stallholders are responsible for supplying, erecting, dismantling and upkeep of their own stalls.
Stallholders are required to keep their stalls, fittings and space below the stalls clean and free from litter. All fittings,
fixtures and appliances owned by the stallholders must be kept in good condition and must not constitute a danger to the
public. The stallholder, in accepting these regulations, agrees to indemnify the Council against any liability for accidents,
damage or injury caused by or arising from the disrepair condition or construction of any stall which belongs to the
stallholder.
Stallholders must ensure that they, or any person working for them, does nothing which, in the opinion of the Market
Inspector is a nuisance or annoyance to a member of the public or detrimental to the efficient operation of the market.
No stallholder or their assistants shall use amplified sound for the purpose of advertisement, entertainment, trade or
business.
Generators will only be allowed if in the opinion of the Market Inspector, they are not likely to be a danger, health hazard
or nuisance to members of the public or other stallholders.
Electrical hook up points are available at Spalding and Holbeach and these are reserved for food vendors requiring
refrigeration or heating. No stallholder shall use these points unless agreed with the Markets Inspector and may be
subject to an additional charge.
Pitches not in use are to be kept clear from obstruction and not used as storage or ad-hoc trading areas.
South Holland District Council reserves the right, through the Market Inspector to request removal of goods from sale that
have been identified by Trading Standards as not fit for sale.
All stalls, goods, vehicles and refuse must be removed from the markets area no more than one and a half hours after close
of the market but not before 14:00. Stallholders must not leave the market site before this time unless the Markets
Inspector expressly permits it and/or when circumstances (i.e. bad weather) necessitate the early ceasing of trade. If
Stallholders need to leave early, they must seek agreement from the Market Inspector. Unauthorised early departures will
be deemed a breach of terms and conditions and may result in disciplinary procedures.

Refuse
You must keep your allocated stall or pitch, and the immediate surrounding area, clean and tidy and clear of rubbish and
waste. All stallholders will ensure that any rubbish or waste is stored appropriately so that it does not spread across the
Market or town. It is the responsibility of each stallholder to ensure that all refuse generated by or collected upon his or

9|Page

Page 63

her pitch, is taken away with them for disposal and it is the responsibility of each stallholder to sweep their pitch clean
after each market at the end of the trading day.
Under no circumstances shall stallholders dispose of commercial market waste in public litter bins or drain water tanks or
empty water containers into the public drainage system. If a Stallholder makes arrangements for the removal and disposal
of their waste it is their responsibility to ensure that any persons removing or disposing of the waste holds an appropriate
waste carriers’ licence which can be inspected by the Markets Inspector.
If a Stallholder disposes of waste in an unauthorised way, they will be reported to the Community Safety team for
investigation and may result in disciplinary procedures.

Vehicles
Stallholder's vehicles and/or goods delivery vehicles may only be brought into the Market in such a manner as will cause no
obstruction to any public road, pavement or footway used by the public nor inconvenience to other stallholders or the
occupiers of any premises adjoining the Market. Vehicles may not stand for longer than is reasonably necessary for loading
or unloading goods. Unloading of goods must be carried out before commencement of the sale of goods to the public and
not later than the commencement of the market at 9:00am, unless permission has been granted by the Markets inspector.
No vehicles should be brought onto the market area or stalls removed from the market area before 14:00. One permit will
be issued per trader for Victoria Street or Holland Road car parks.
Where it can be demonstrated that it is essential to a stallholder’s commercial operation that a vehicle remains on the
market, this shall be permitted where possible, with the prior agreement of the Markets Inspector.
Vehicles driven by market stallholders in Spalding shall access the Market place via Broad Street and shall leave via New
Road. Movement of stallholders vehicles are not allowed in the Market Place or Hall Place, Spalding, during the hours of
Lincolnshire County Councils pedestrianisation (10:00-16:00) on the day of the market. The Markets Inspector may relax
these provisions during adverse weather conditions or emergencies. If the Markets Inspector is not in attendance
permission may be given by the Markets representative only.

General
A stallholder must notify the Council of any change in the operation of the stall e.g. any amendment to the business name
and/or address and any change in contact details by emailing markets@sholland.gov.uk. Failure to do so may result in the
cancellation of the stallholder’s licence.
A stallholder must notify the Council of any changes in the commodities that they sell by emailing
markets@sholland.gov.uk.
If a stallholder employs someone on a regular basis to manage their stall, positive proof of such employment must be
provided (e.g. insurance card, tax documents etc.)
Every stallholder shall furnish proof of third party public liability insurance in the minimum of £5,000,000 (five million
pounds) when first starting on any of the markets. The insurance must be renewed, and a copy of the renewal certificate
produced to the market’s inspector by the stallholder each year.
Stallholders and their assistants are requested to dress in a respectable manor as would be expected within their working
environment as not to cause offence to customers and other stallholders.
Stallholders and their assistants shall not do any act or anything which may cause danger, nuisance or annoyance to other
stallholders or visitors to the market. Stallholders and their assistants shall comply with all reasonable instructions and
requirements of the market’s inspector.
Stallholders and their assistants shall not harass, threaten or otherwise prevent the markets inspector from managing the
markets or enforcing these regulations.
The stallholders shall comply with all of the above regulations and ignorance of market regulations will not be accepted as
a defence. Infringement of any of the regulations may result in disciplinary procedures taking place.

10 | P a g e

Page 64

Health and Safety
All stallholders are duty bound by law to follow the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974. As a condition of your licence to
occupy a pitch/stall upon the market, all stallholders are required to comply with all Health and Safety instructions as
issued at registration of a stallholder and from time to time thereafter by the Markets Inspector. Such instructions and
regulations are additional to and do not vary the byelaws relating to the operation of the market.
Failure to comply will result in suspension or permanent removal from the market.
Because of possible risks to the public passing through the market place, it is the responsibility of all stall holders to
ascertain and comply with Health and Safety legislation concerning the delivery, erection and dismantling of “own units”
and the storage of their refuse, be that be done by themselves or others.
It is the responsibility of all stallholders to undertake a Health and Safety risk assessment of such working methods and
apply suitable safeguards.
All Stallholders shall comply with any guidance issued by the Government for the purpose of protecting themselves and the
public in regard to COVID 19.
Stallholders are reminded of the requirement to effect and maintain Public Liability insurance at all times and provide
evidence of the same to the Market Inspector upon request.
All stallholders are expected to:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)

Familiarise themselves with these health and safety instructions.
Ensure Risk Assessments are undertaken and safe systems of work are implemented and regularly reviewed.
Ensure all employees, agents and contractors are adequately informed, instructed, supervised and trained in
health and safety matters.
Take reasonable care of their health, safety and welfare and that of others who may be affected by their acts or
omissions.
Assist Market Inspectors by reporting and accident or incident that has or may cause injury to a person or
damage to property.
Co-operate and comply with all directions given by the Market Inspector regarding Health and Safety issues.

Any accident caused through failure to observe statutory requirements or negligence is the responsibility of the licenced
stallholder.
All stallholders are responsible for the safe erection and dismantling of their stall, to ensure their own safety and that of
those using and visiting the stall.
Those erecting or dismantling stalls should always be aware of staff, members of the public and traffic in the surrounding
area. Although different stalls have different requirements with regard to erection and dismantling, the following must be
adhered to for all stalls and the Council Reserves the right to ask a stall to be removed if not deemed safe/appropriate.
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)
i)
j)
k)
l)

Stalls must be stable once erected
Stalls must be capable of coping with the weather conditions on the day.
All welds on stalls components must be sound
Stall components must not be excessively corroded
Sheeting must be securely lashed to stall structure, in a way which prevents pooling of rainwater.
Trained and experienced staff only should undertake stall erection or dismantling
A suitable safety platform or stepladder must be used whenever working above ground level.
Working areas should be maintained in a safe and tidy condition with refuse and litter removed from the area
before dismantling commences.
Stallholders must ensure equipment is maintained in a good condition.
Stallholders must ensure correct and safe handling techniques are used at all times.
Stallholders must always wear appropriate PPE
When dismantling stalls, bars are to be removed in a controlled manner (without dropping from height or left
unattended causing trip hazards)

11 | P a g e

Page 65

m) Any incidents that result in injury to a member of the public, or anyone working on a stall (including those during
erecting and dismantling stalls) must be reported to the Market Inspector.

Market Representatives
Every year a nomination and voting process will take place in order to appoint a Market representative and vice for each
market. These representatives will be the main point of communication between the stallholders on their market and the
Council. They may be consulted on decision making processes and will be able to advise other stallholders ensuring good
two-way communication between the council and its stallholders.

Compliance with Market Rules
Stallholders are required to comply with all reasonable directions of the Markets Inspector.
As part of the welcome pack stallholders must sign the form to say they have read, understand and intend to comply with
the Market Rules
Any acts that are a breach of any of these regulations may result in disciplinary action such as a verbal, written or final
warning. It can also lead to suspension from market or revocation of licence from all SHDC run markets.
The Council has the right to terminate your Licence immediately if you or your employee(s):
•
•
•

Behave in a way that the Council believes, in its sole discretion, amounts to a serious breach of standards of
trading detailed in the Market Rules;
Offer or display food for sale that is unfit for human consumption or
Convicted of any offence under the Weights and Measures Act 1985 or any Act, Regulation or Order relating to
the sale of foods or goods including but not limited to offence for the sale of counterfeit goods.

If a stallholder fails to comply with the conditions of their licence or terms contained with the Market Regulations
Handbook, the Council may take disciplinary action. The appropriate level of action will be dependent on the seriousness of
the offence. In the event of action being taken the stall holder may appeal against that action within the period and to the
person(s) indicated below.

Disciplinary Procedure
Breaches of licence conditions, terms and conditions of the Market Regulations Handbook or market procedures:
1.

First breach – the Market Inspector shall issue a verbal warning. A record of the verbal warning will be made by
the Council.

2.

Second breach (within any 12 month rolling period) – a first written warning shall be issued by the Market
Inspector.

3.

Third breach (within any 12 month rolling period) – a final written warning shall be issued by the Market
Inspector.

4.

Failure to comply with a written warning shall be reported to the Service Manager for Environmental Services
who will invite representations from the stallholder and will then decide on the appropriate action which may
include termination of the licence. Furthermore, the stallholder may be permanently excluded from trading at
any market within the South Holland district depending on the seriousness of the breach.

Please note - the Council reserves the right to suspend a stallholder from the market immediately if the breach or level
of behaviour is likely to cause serious difficulties with the continued operation of the market, consists of threats to
others or involves the sale of unauthorised or unsafe goods. Stallholders not complying with the Market Rules may be
suspended from trading by the Markets Inspector

12 | P a g e

Page 66

Appeals Procedure: At all stages of the disciplinary procedure the stallholder has a right of appeal. The following appeal
procedure applies:
1.

The stallholder must make the appeal in writing within 10 workings days of receipt of the warning. The appeal
must be sent to the Environmental Services Manager, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincs, PE11 2XE.

2.

If the appeal is against a decision made by the Environmental Services Manager, the appeal should be addressed
to the Place Manager, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincs, PE11 2XE.

3.

If an appeal hearing is necessary, the stallholder shall be given adequate notice of the hearing and shall have the
right to be accompanied at any hearing by a representative of their choice.

Emergency Procedures
There may be occasions when it is necessary to evacuate the marketplace for safety reasons. Stallholders can play a
valuable role in helping to ensure that a calm and effective evacuation takes place by giving clear guidance on what is
expected of the members of the public.
Evacuations will only be instigated by the emergency services.
There is no officially designated assembly point and large numbers of people are likely to require moving. It is essential
that such a movement is away from potential danger and that stallholders assist in ensuring members of the public are
vigilant of emergency vehicles entering and exiting the marketplace.
The principal focus of an evacuation will be to protect members of the public, who will be expected to either disperse or
await safe access back onto the market site, depending on the nature of the emergency.
In order to facilitate easy evacuations, stallholders must make sure that stalls do not encroach on walkways or traffic
routes, taking account of the fact that there may be wheelchairs, pushchairs and prams etc. present.

Stallholders right to Assign their stalls goodwill
a)

b)
c)
d)
e)
f)

To be considered for the right to assign a stalls goodwill to the market stallholder wishing to sell their stalls
goodwill must have traded for two years or more on one of South Holland District Councils market on a
continuous basis.
Both the market stallholder and the chosen purchaser (i.e. market stallholder buying the stalls goodwill) must
make a joint application to the Council for approval before they can enter into any agreement.
To ensure the market remains balanced the purchaser buying the right to sell on the transferred stall, must only
sell those lines of goods previously sold by the market stallholder selling the stalls goodwill.
The new market stallholder (purchaser of the stall) must adhere to all market regulations.
No actual transfer is to take place until the application has been dealt with and approved in writing by the
council.
The council reserves the right to reject applications.

Contacts and Resources
SHDC Markets team - markets@sholland.gov.uk
SHDC Food Safety team – foodhs@sholland.gov.uk
The Food Standards Agency – www.food.gov.uk
The Food Standards Agency Registration page - https://www.food.gov.uk/businessguidance/register-a-food-business

13 | P a g e

Page 67

Environmental Health Training and Consultancy - www.ehcuk.co.uk
NABMA - www.nabma.com, info@nabma.com, 01691 680713
National Market Traders Federation – www.nmtf.co.uk, 01226 749021,

14 | P a g e

Page 68

APPENDIX C to Cabinet report of 26 October 2021
Equality Impact Assessment
Version Date
0.0
24.05.2021
0.1
27.07.2021
0.2
29.09.2021
0.3
07.10.2021
Question
1. What are the
aims,
objectives and
expected
outcomes of
the activity?

Author
JS
JS
JS
JS

Name of report assessed:

Comments
First draft
Revised
Revised post consultation
Revised post consultation

Response
The purpose of the document is to determine the impact of the proposed new
draft Market Regulations Handbook and the proposed changes to Fees and
Charges for markets trading the district of South Holland to aid the essential
community facility of markets for traders, residents and visitors.
https://www.mission4markets.uk/
The primary focus of the review is to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

2. What
involvement
and
consultation
has been
done in
relation to
this activity?
(e.g. with
relevant
stakeholders)

Ensure the service fees and charges are “Hemming” compliant;
Levying Fees and Charges that better reflect the cost to SHDC of
providing the Markets operation;
Fairer and more consistent fees and charges across all individual
markets;
Facilitate an online application process to support SHDC’s digital
transformation programme;
Facilitate and run an on-line booking system to secure traders have a
standing position on the market;
Build a sustainable and equitable market provision throughout the
district for traders addressing regulation in the draft Market Regulation
Handbook;
Provide an on-hand markets team to help with any queries or issues
7.30am – 5pm Monday to Friday; an out of hours service at all other
times.
Provide welcoming and safe environments for traders and market
visitors.

We consulted internally and externally on the draft handbook and proposed fees
and charges. Pre-consultation discussions took place on a face to face basis with
all regular and casual traders and representative(s) of the National Market
Traders Federation. Benchmarking to measure competitive fees, best working
practices and processes took place with neighbouring districts including North
Norfolk, East Lindsey, Boston, South Kesteven, Fenland, Kings Lynn, West
Norfolk, Huntingdon and West Lindsey.
The draft Market Regulations Handbook and proposed fees and charges were
publically consulted upon from 9.00am Friday 18 June 2021 to 5.00pm 30 July
2021 for a period of 6 weeks.
On completion of the consultation a review of all submissions, comments and
feedback received was undertaken and considered and any amendments were
made in accordance with the responses received; a formal decision to

Page 69

1

implement revised conditions will be required. It is anticipated that the draft
Market Regulations Handbook and proposed Fees and Charges will be
considered for approval by Cabinet on 29 October 2021 and adopted
immediately thereafter if approved.
All known traders, parish and ward councillors, MP and non-statutory consultees
including national and local bodies representing society, hard to reach groups
and businesses received a copy of the consultation pack, including a copy of the
draft Market Regulations Handbook, proposed fees and charges, paper
questionnaire and signposting to SHDC website and online questionnaire. The
consultation documents were emailed and posted where necessary on 18 June
2021 and ongoing when requests for the same were received or consultees
identified.
The proposals were advertised on the South Holland District Council website and
copies were held at the Council building at Priory Road, Spalding from 18 June
2021 to 30 July 2021.
Following the removal of national restrictions on 19 July 2021 relating to the
Coronavirus pandemic, allowing for the free movement of people, consultation
packs were distributed to 13 community centres across the district on 21 July
2021.
A programme of communications took place throughout the consultation period
via social media; Facebook, Twitter and LinkedIn. Throughout the duration of
the consultation the printed and online press covered the consultation in
editions of the Spalding Voice and Spalding Today.
Consultees could take part in six (6) ways:
•

Paper questionnaire – A paper questionnaire was emailed to all stall
holders together with all the supporting information including the
consultation documents and summary of proposed changes.

•

Online questionnaire – An online questionnaire was available from the
South Holland District Council website via questionnaire monkey.

•

Further copies were also available at the engagement events or on
request from the Markets Team either via telephone or email or via the
environmental services staff member attending at each market.

•

Attendance at public engagement Sessions (see below for details)

•

During on-site engagement with traders and the public by Officers of the
Environmental Service team at the opening and closing of each market.

•

Email reminder sent to all stall holders on 23 July 2021 reminding them
of the dates for closure of the consultation, provided links to the online
consultation document(s).

Public Engagement Sessions

Page 70

2

Five on-site engagement sessions were held across the district attended by
Officers of Environmental Services and SHDC Elected Members. The sessions
offered the opportunity for anyone who wished so to do to discuss the
consultation and complete a questionnaire.
Officers completed the
questionnaire for those people who wished to participate but did not have the
means to complete the questionnaire themselves.
The engagement sessions took place at:
• Tuesday 6 July 2021 - Spalding
• Thursday 8 July 2021 - Holbeach
• Friday 09.07.2021 - Crowland
• Friday 16 July 2021 – Long Sutton
• Saturday 17 July 2021 - Spalding
Officers and Councillors were available between 9.00am and 2.00pm on the
days shown above. These times coincided with the normal market operating
hours.
3. Who is
affected by
this activity?

Those people that will be directly impacted by the proposals include all regular
and casual market traders operating in the South Holland district. At the time of
this report 246 pitches are available within the district. As of October 2020, 73
pitches were let and assumed let for 2021 is 117.
Demographic data has not historically been kept and there is currently no readily
available accurate or reliable data sources upon which we can rely to inform and
provide detail of personal demographics.

4. What are the
arrangements
for monitoring
and reviewing
the actual
impact of the
activity?

It is important to monitor the effect of the draft handbook and proposed fees
and charges on protected groups because this will identify if the handbook and
provision of service therein has the impact anticipated and that the mitigating
actions identified in this report have been effective.
Quarterly review meeting will take place between Officers and Trades to
facilitate the smooth running of the markets in the South Holland District, this
is an anticipatory action to identify ways equality is being promoted by SHDC
and ways it could do more to promote equality. It should also identify any
unintended consequences or barriers that might prevent participation by some
groups.
This framework will assist Environmental Services to provide a positive impact
across all protected characteristics by ensuring that South Holland District
Council treats everyone on a fair and equal basis.

5. Do the
outcomes of
the activity
complement
or hinder
other policies,
values or
objectives of
Environmental
Services?
6. What positive A fairer and more transparent fees and charges system and regulation by way of
equality
a Market Regulations Handbook.

Page 71

3

outcomes
could there be
overall?

The proposed fees and charges are Hemming compliant and fairer because fees
and charges have been kept low / expanding trading opportunities.
The markets will have the opportunity to a play a part in boosting trade to local
shops by attracting people to the area and encouraging residents to shop locally.
Research shows those in lower income groups use the markets as an affordable
and convenient local way of shopping
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK219682/
Research shows markets are sites to promote social interaction
https://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/default/files/jrf/migrated/files/1940-marketssocial-interaction.pdf
Market trading remains an affordable option for retail opportunities and startup businesses. South Holland District Council is committed to growing and
supporting the markets within its district.

Markets
Crowland
Long Sutton
Holbeach
Spalding Sat
Spalding Tue

Current Charges
£5.10
£5.10
£5.10
£19.00
£19.00

Proposed New
Charges
£7.00
£8.50
£7.00
£7.00
£7.00

Difference from
Current Charges
37%
67%
37%
-63%
-63%

The main purpose of having a Handbook is to set out the matters the South
Holland District Council will take into account when considering and undertaking
its duty to provide and manage its markets.
7. What negative
equality
outcomes
could there be
overall?

The markets team is committed to the opportunity to promote and grow its
market occupancy rates. The markets continue to be a cheaper alternative for
trading and potentially growing the jobs market with a new generation of
traders.
Identifying issues which may adversely affect protected groups may be easier to
do with existing policies and procedures however a prediction can been made
about the impact of the new draft Market Regulations Handbook and proposed
fees and charges.
Increases in fees and charges for traders could be unaffordable for some traders
resulting in reduced trader occupancy.
However, market trading in the district is still very affordable when considering
the alternatives of entering into the retail shop environment and benchmarking
against other local authorities. Fees have been kept low and free in recent
months to encourage traders to stand on any of the markets in the district.

Page 72

4

Some disabilities, depending on their nature and severity, will have little or no
impact on the access to and provision of this public service. The requirement
for traders to erect and dismantle their own stalls suggests however that those
most likely to have issues accessing the service are individuals with a visual
impairment and any range of physical impairments that make it difficult for them
put up their own stalls.
Various forms of learning or physical disability could impact on the ability to
understand guidance and / or use computers, keyboards or any of the digital
offering to access the online book and pay system. Around 15% of the overall
population have dyslexia / dyspraxia or other specific learning difficulties.
https://www.bdadyslexia.org.uk/

Protected
Characteristic
Group

Please explain and give example of any evidence/data used

The Markets service is unable to give reliable information regarding trader Nationality, Ethnicity,
Disability or sexual orientation as it is not provided by traders when applying to stand on the
market(s).
As a public sector body South Holland District Council has a legal duty to eliminate unlawful
discrimination, advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not and foster good relations between people who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not. While we shall ensure compliance with the public
sector duty under the Equality Act 2010 we cannot anticipate all situations and we cannot be
responsible to the provision or adaptation of equipment that may be supplied by SHDC.
Disability

The Equality Act 2010 recognises that bringing about equality for disabled
people may mean changing the way in which services are delivered, providing
extra equipment and / or removal of physical barriers. The duty to make
reasonable adjustments aims to make sure that a disabled person can use a
service as close as it is reasonable practicable to do so to the standard usually
offered to non-disabled people. When the duty arises SHDC is under a
positive and proactive duty to take steps to remove or prevent these
obstacles.
The Equality Act 2010 provides that a person has a disability if he / she has a
physical or mental impairment and the impairment has a substantial and long
term adverse effect on their ability to carry out normal day to day activities.
Possible negative impact on individuals who are unable erect their own stalls.
Possible negative impact for individuals who are unable to use online services.
It is difficult to obtain definitive figures as estimates vary, the average is
between 15% - 20% of the UK population are disabled. Of South Holland’s
total population 88270, 79.38% (70073) are not limited by disability in their
day to day activities. 9.4% (8376) are limited a lot and 11.13% (9821) are

Page 73

5

limited a little, below the national average
https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census/2011censusdata
Stall Erection and Online services – Book and Pay.
The service provided should be capable of being adjusted to ensure maximum
accessibility.
Based on the evidence received through the consultation 81.29% of
respondents did not consider themselves as having a long term illness or
impairment.
We consider from these results those persons who identify themselves to have
a physical or mental impairment that would impair their ability to put up their
own stall to be low.
SHDC will offer reasonable adjustment and assistance to those person who
identify as requiring assistance by way of physical support for stall erection and
by way of offering an assisted digital support option.
Organisations and charities provide specialist advice and support to disabled
users and SHDC can signpost to these in addition to providing accessibility to
the service.
Gender
reassignment
Marriage or civil
partnership
Pregnancy and
maternity
Race
Religion or belief
Sexual
orientation
Sex (gender)
Age

No impact relating to gender reassignment has been identified.
No impact relating to marriage or civil partnership has been identified.
No impact relating to pregnancy and maternity has been identified.
No impact relating to race has been identified.
No impact relating to religion or belief has been identified.
No impact relating to sexual orientation has been identified.
No impact relating to gender has been identified.
The average (median) age in South Holland is 45 year old. 2011 census.
16.6% of South Holland’s population is under 16 years old.
60.5% of South Holland’s population fall within the working age bracket (1664) and
22.9% of South Holland’s population is 65 or over. 2011 census.
Markets are accessed by people of a wide range of ages and traditionally used
by the older generation who may benefit from a centrally located market. They
provide a safe outdoor area for shopping and add a social benefit within the
community, particularly so in rural areas. The highest proportion of
respondents were ages between 65-74yrs:

Page 74

6

The Markets service is unable to give reliable information regarding trader
age as it is not provided by traders when applying to stand on the market(s).

Evaluation
Question
Is it possible the proposed
activity could discriminate or
unfairly disadvantage people
Final Decision:
1. No barriers
identified; therefore
the activity will
proceed.
2. You can decide to
stop the activity
practice at some
point because the
data shows bias
towards one or
more groups
3. You can adapt or
change the activity
in a way which you
think will eliminate
the bias

Evaluation/Justification
Due regard to the public sector equality duty must be had and
considered in relation to online access, stall erection and pop up
stall provision and erection as it is may disadvantage disabled
users or those with long term health conditions.
Tick the relevant box
Include any explanation / Justification

X

Continue with the policy (functions,
activities and decisions) and introduce
initial screening to improve access to
the service and identify those persons
who require additional support to
promote equality in line with the duty
to have due regard.
Reasonable steps to anticipate and
accommodate the needs of disabled
individuals where the self-serve model
does not meet the requirements of

Page 75

7

the EqA 2010 by offering a digital
assist service.
Offer a proactive customer service
offering support for service users by
way of a call back, digital assist to
those individuals who have a
neurodivergent disability to offer help
to process the information and
complete the booking system.
Pop –up Stalls - providing personal
assistance for persons identifying
themselves as needing assistance via
the booking platform. Ensuring due
regard to that duty in consideration of
pop up stall provision and erection so
as meet the needs of service users and
reduce inequality.
Offer third parties (PSPS) access to the
book and pay system to act as a first
line customer support.
Signposting to external support
services such as access to work and
NHS services.
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/socialcare-and-support-guide/money-workand-benefits/work-and-disability/
https://www.gov.uk/access-to-work
4. Barriers and impact
identified, however
having considered
all available options
carefully, there
appear to be no
other proportionate
ways to achieve the
aim of the activity.
Therefore you are
going to proceed
with caution with
this activity knowing
that it may favour
some people less
than others,
providing

X

The proportion of society affected is
considered to be low and safeguards
are to be put in place to adjust
procedure to support individuals in
accessing the service.
Quarterly review meetings will take
place with traders and their trade
representative bodies to ensure
continued review and compliance with
the public sector equality duty.

Page 76

8

justification for this
decision.
Will this EIA be published
Date completed
Review date

Yes with report

Page 77

9

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix C
Cabinet – 26 October 2021
Market Consultation Outcome (Minute)
17.

MARKET CONSULTATION OUTCOME
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Environmental
Services which provided an analysis of the public consultation undertaken regarding
the market handbook and fees, and considered the options for future market
provisions.
Members commented that the proposals within the report provided an opportunity to
the Council. Markets were a major part of the town centre economy, and a dedicated
Markets’ Manager was vital.
DECISION:
1) That the adoption of the Markets Regulation Handbook, following consultation from
18th June to 30th July 2021, be approved;
2) That the Head of Environmental and Operational Services, in consultation with the
Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services, be given delegated authority to make
changes to the Market Regulation Handbook as necessary, following approval of
the proposed options of this report;
3) That adoption of the new fee structure as consulted upon, and annual review, be
approved;
4) That Option Two, as set out in paragraph 2.2, be approved to ensure investment
and growth in our markets and the ability to take action on the results of the
consultation and implement the key findings, such as pop-up stalls and improved
engagement;
a. That a new post of Markets Manager be introduced for a two-year fixed term
trial to deliver the objectives of option two funded from the Investment and
Growth Reserve as detailed in 5.5;
5) That the current suspension of stall erection and dismantling be made a permanent
change to market provision, as reflected in the new fee structure;
6) That the attached Equality Impact Assessment be noted; and
7) That the current road closure in Long Sutton be made permanent to ensure the
safe running of the market and maintain the high levels of social gatherings in and
around Market Place each Friday.
(Other options considered:
• Option One – Adopt the draft market regulations handbook and proposed fees and
give consideration only to the consultation responses;
• Option Three – Do nothing.
Reasons for decision:

Page 79

•
•

•

•
•
•
•

•
•

The adoption of the market regulation handbook is vital to the ongoing running of
our markets. It makes clear the requirements of SHDC and traders and sets out
how to keep traders and the public safe whilst at our markets;
The current fees do not take into account the changes that have been required
since the re-opening of markets in June and July 2020. For that reason, as well as
to support traders and the markets through the pandemic, there have been no fees
in place since the re-opening last year. The proposed fees have been formulated
with the current market provisions considered;
The current fee structure is set in such a way that it looks to recover the costs for
running the markets, though some areas are not fully recharged to traders, e.g. the
road closure, which seeks a payment towards the overall cost. The fees are set
that they could potentially reduce if more traders stand at a market, which would
reduce the cost to the trader;
As detailed in the handbook, the new proposed charges aim to provide a simple
model that aims to achieve cost recovery fairly across all markets in the district. All
markets will benefit from the new proposals set out in the handbook;
By growing on what is currently in place and adding in a Markets Manager post, the
strategic direction and growth of markets can be realised;
The potential of pop-up stalls, would be unlocked. These stalls can be utilised to
attract and support micro businesses, young traders, crafters and traders that want
to try our markets before committing longer term;
The Cabinet report of 16 June 2020 recommended the suspension of market stall
erection and dismantling by SHDC staff. Following the implementation of this for
the last 16 months, and the recent consultation which requested feedback on this
practice, removal of this provision on a permanent basis needs to be formalised;
A permanent road closure for the market in Long Sutton is sought with Lincolnshire
County Council, in order to enable traders to stand, with a safe distance kept for
customers of both the market and local businesses; and
That additional elements to be considered for our markets, as raised by a number
of respondents to the consultation, can be reviewed and addressed where
appropriate and deliverable).

Page 80

Agenda Item 7.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services and Assistant Director Neighbourhoods

To:

Cabinet Tuesday, 14 December 2021
Council Wednesday, 19 January 2022

(Author:

Charlotte Paine Head of Environmental and Operational Services)

Subject

Garden Waste Scheme Update

Purpose:

To provide an update on the garden waste scheme and consider future
options

Recommendations to Cabinet:
That, subject to Council approval of recommendations 7 to 9 below
1) the contents of this report and the update on the garden waste scheme so far are noted.
2) approval is given for the Garden Waste Collection Scheme to be further extended to
incorporate more areas of South Holland by way of three collection vehicles.
3) approval is given to procure route optimisation software to ensure the most efficient and
effective routes and for it to be added to Capital and Revenue budgets.
4) delegated authority be given to the Head of Environmental & Operational Services, in
consultation with the portfolio holder for Environmental Services, to amend the terms and
conditions for subscribers as necessary, including start times.
5) in accordance with the legal requirement of the Environment Act 2021, the purple sack
garden waste collection service is removed to ensure that SHDC are compliant with the
requirement for separate collection of garden waste, which must be recycled or composted.
6) approval is given to purchase an additional 5,040 bins for the expansion being a £29,000
capital investment in 2021/22, funded from the Investment and Growth reserve. The
remaining costs to be built into the capital budget for 2022/23 and paid back over 15 years
through contributions to reserves.
Recommendations to Council:
7) That the current establishment is increased by 3 full time posts, a full-time supervisor, fulltime garden waste HGV driver and full-time garden waste loader and that the costs for these
posts be funded from the income generated by the scheme.
8) That, should the review of terms and conditions of the garden waste scheme prove it
necessary, a consultation with staff commence to consider changing start times for garden
waste crews to 6am.

Page 81

9) That delegated authority be given to the Head of Environmental and Operational Services, in
consultation with the Portfolio holder of Environmental Services, to implement the outcome
of that consultation.
1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

The garden waste collection scheme commenced in April 2016, following agreement from
Full Council in November 2015. This introduced a separate garden waste collection for
eligible residents of South Holland, within the pilot area. The initial pilot introduced one
refuse collection vehicle, with aspirations of reaching 5,000 subscribers.

1.2

In January 2018, Full Council agreed to the expansion of the scheme to a second truck.
This report projected 6,800 subscribers in 2021/22 and provision of the scheme to more
areas of the district.

1.3

Since the addition of the second truck, popularity and growth of the scheme has continued.
In 2020, a project group was set up within Environmental Services to increase subscriber
numbers through a targeted weekly roll out of bins. This project was looking to achieve a
capacity of 10,000 subscribers by the end of 2022/23.

1.4

The chart below shows the uptake of subscribers since the start of the scheme and its
progressive growth of new customers through new sign ups, as well as maintaining its
customer base through yearly renewals. As you can see, we are on track to reach our
10,000 target ahead of our original timeframe and aim to achieve this by the end of this
financial year.

Garden Waste Subscription Numbers
12000
10000
8000
6494

6000
4000
3562

4802

6035

2862

2000
2889
0
2016

772

1432

1359

2017

2018

2019

Additional Bin

Year
Total Subscribers

2016
2952

New Sign Up

2017
3671

751
2020

3110
2021

Yearly Renewal

2018
5018

Page 82

2019
6214

2020
6790

2021
9604

1.5

The success of the current project means that the scheme will be at full capacity for the two
trucks and 20 routes we currently run. Therefore, to continue to provide this much valued
service to more residents, we need to expand to another truck which would provide
capacity for another 5,000 subscribers over a further 10 routes per fortnight.

1.6

The timing of an expansion at this point would be appropriate due to the purchase of
replacement vehicles for the current garden waste fleet. In October 2021, an officer
decision was published for the purchase of two Refuse Collection Vehicles (RCVs) as part
of the current capital budget. These new vehicles will be delivered in April/May 2022 and
replace two 2014 vehicles. It is proposed that the older vehicles would be kept, enabling
delivery of the expansion by providing vehicles to cover servicing and repair downtime,
without the additional cost of purchasing more RCVs.

1.7

Extending to 15,000 subscribers will require a review of the current routes, which are
already particularly heavy in the peak of the growing season, as a result of our growth
project this year. With the expansion to a further truck, it is recommended that a
comprehensive review of the routes, using a route optimisation software, is undertaken to
enable the service to be offered across the district. The cost for the software is estimated to
be in the region of £40,000, with ongoing annual costs around £12,000. The software will
be purchased in 2021/22 and funded from the income generated by the scheme.

1.8

By utilising routing software, the effectiveness and efficiency of the current routes and
expansion will be reviewed to make sure that they can maintain excellent service delivery
and maximise the capacity available. A well built route allows for maximum subscribers and
sufficient tipping time to ensure delivery of the service throughout the year, including during
the growing season.

1.9

In addition to efficient routes, we also require the right resource to ensure ongoing excellent
service delivery to customers. To expand, we will require several new staff to support the
project and ongoing service, both fixed term and permanent. Since the commencement of
the targeted project in 2020, there has been a secondment of a supervisor within
Environmental Services, to assist with the growth of the service. This has been a key part
of the success of that project and will inform the delivery of the proposed service
expansion.

1.10

It is therefore recommended that a permanent additional supervisor post is created to
support the expansion, including the new routes with the routing software, developing the
areas for growth in the District, advertising the service to these areas, and ensuring
compliance with health and safety. The post will support the new and existing crews and
targeted bin delivery roll out, as well as supporting the current supervisors to provide
additional depth to the service with cover and knowledge sharing across all supervisors.
This post would be required immediately to support the development of the expansion and
ensure that it can be made available to residents as soon as possible.

1.11

In addition, there is a requirement for an additional crew of one driver and one loader to
fulfil the third truck. These would also be permanent increases to the establishment, they
would not be required to start their employment until the 2022/23 financial year.

1.12

Further to this, there would need to be a dedicated resource to deliver the bins to new
subscribers. This would be a short-term requirement and therefore is recommended that a
bin delivery operative is required for one year, starting in March/April 2021, alongside the

Page 83

hire of a 7.5 tonne vehicle. This fixed term post will be achieved using the delegated
authority given to chief officers. The role will ensure that bins can be delivered efficiently
and within the agreed timescale of 10 days for new subscribers.
1.13

Effective marketing to attract and sign-up new subscribers is key to achieving the aspiration
of 15,000. The communications team are working with a subgroup from environmental
services, to plan the best advertising and marketing approach, should approval be gained.
One of the key aspects of this will be to utilise the current Register of Interest (ROI). The
ROI has been in use since the inception of garden waste, it was used to allow people who
were not in the original pilot area to register their interest for the scheme and assist with
targeted growth. It has also been utilised when routes have reached capacity so that
residents can register their interest to be contacted when space becomes available. There
are currently around 2,000 people on the ROI.

1.14

The proposal would be to continue to utilise the ROI and to advertise early, after Council
approval, for anyone across the District to register their interest for a garden waste
subscription. With this data we can then look to open the routes to as many areas in South
Holland that would like a bin, including new areas, so long as they are commercially viable,
based on level of interest. This data would be key to building the routes with the new
software and providing the service much wider geographically than it has been before.

1.15

A key element of using and managing the ROI will be to understand the time that people
have been on the list and prioritising this, alongside areas to include in expansion. Contact
has been made with everyone registered prior to 2021 and we continue to work from the
register as we roll out to our 10,000 subscriber target. Communication with interested
residents will be key, to ensure we appropriately explain our project plan and timeframes.
Without this, there is a risk of people becoming frustrated if they are expecting to start their
subscription immediately.

1.16

To enable the expansion to occur, the purchase of additional bins will be required. In total
there will need to be 5,000, plus any ongoing attrition for the older bins. Due to a lack of
space to store the bins, it is necessary to buy these in batches. The proposal is to purchase
a load in late 2021/22 ready for the start of the expansion and then ongoing throughout the
project. Bins are purchased via capital funding and therefore an additional £86,688 in total
will be required. £28,869 is requested for the current financial year from reserves, with the
rest being built into the capital budget for 2022/23 and these costs paid back from income
received by the scheme.

1.17

In both the reports that have come to Council previously, there has been reference to the
purple (originally grey) sacks that areas outside of the garden waste scheme have been
able to purchase for disposal of garden waste.

1.18

By opening up the garden waste scheme to more areas in South Holland, we recommend
that, as with the other reports, the purple sack collection for the disposal of garden waste is
withdrawn. This collection impacts negatively on our recycling rates and does not meet the
requirements of new legislation. This recommendation is made in line with previous policy
decisions on the garden waste scheme and also as a result of the Environment Act 2021,
which states that garden waste must be collected separately and composted. The Act, in
section 45A, sets out that garden waste is a ‘recyclable waste’ and that

Page 84

45A(3)… “recyclable household waste must be collected separately from other
household waste.”
45A(4)…”recyclable household waste must be collected for recycling or
composting”
1.19

Other available disposal routes for green waste are the Household Waste Recycling
Centres at Boston and Spalding. Alternatively, there is an option for residents to purchase
home composters at a reduced price. Further information on these options is on the
Council’s website - https://www.sholland.gov.uk/article/5843/Recycling-composters

1.20

When the scheme was first created, a set of Terms and Conditions were written and
subscribers agree to these at sign up. The T&Cs have not been reviewed recently and
therefore, as part of the expansion we will review these to ensure they are fit for purpose
for a bigger scheme. One area that we may wish to consider changing is the collection start
time. Currently T&Cs require subscribers to have their bin out for 7am. With bigger routes,
it may be more appropriate to change this to 6am. Should this be considered appropriate,
as a result of the T&C review and routes being optimised, this would require consultation
with staff and appropriate engagement with subscribers before changing.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

Option One – Expand the garden waste scheme as set out in the report and the
recommendations. This will result in a further 5,000 subscriber capacity that will be
released in a targeted approach using the register of interest. This will also enable the
scheme to reach more areas across the District, increase the amount of garden waste
composted, and increase satisfaction for our residents. This is the recommended option of
this report.

2.2

Option Two – Do nothing. This will mean that the scheme remains at capacity and no
further residents will be able to join, resulting in continued growth of the register of interest
and potentially increased frustration from those seeking to access the service.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1

There are a number of recommendations as part of this report, each of them are set out
with the aim of expanding a valued and in demand service to more SHDC residents. They
will enable the expansion of an efficient and effective discretionary service, in a
commercially minded way, to ensure that the original ethos of providing a self-funding
service that is not a cost to taxpayers that have not accessed the service, remains.

3.2

Furthermore, the recommendations each have a key role in delivering the expansion and
the reasons for each of these are set out below.

3.3

Route Software –
•
•

3.4

As detailed in points 1.7 and 1.8, the software will enable the service to maximise
routes and ensure efficiency.
Effective routes will mean that service can be maintained throughout the year
without disruption due to uneven routes and weights.

Review of terms and conditions –

Page 85

•
•
•

3.5

Purchasing of Additional Bins –
•
•

3.6

To enable the expansion to an additional 5,000 subscribers.
We have worked closely with our current supplier on bin quality and ongoing
durability so that bins can have a longer life.

Additional Staffing –
•

•

•
•

3.7

To ensure that the T&Cs are appropriate for a bigger service.
Support staff to provide an excellent service to our residents.
To ensure our residents are aware of what the service can offer and what should be
expected.

To enable the expansion, additional staff will utilise the lessons learnt from previous
projects and expansions of garden waste so that the expansion can happen
smoothly and be effectively communicated with new and existing customers.
A dedicated supervisor resource will ensure that the garden waste scheme can run
in a commercially minded way to maximise growth and viability so we can provide
an excellent service to our customers.
An additional crew will be required to run the third truck and deliver the expansion.
A fixed term post for bin deliveries will ensure our new customers receive their bins
within the agreed timeframe and keep the roll out of the project on track to maximise
growth in year one.

Ceasing the provision of purple sacks –
•

•

•

To ensure that SHDC are compliant with the requirements of the Environment Act
when collecting and disposing of a material that should be composted for best
environmental impact reduction.
The growth of the service to a third truck will provide more opportunity for the
scheme to be accessible to a much wider geographical area and therefore remove
the need for purple sacks.
Other options are available such as the HWRC and home composting.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

As a result of the expansion and the recommendations outlined, the following benefits are
expected:
•

•
•
•

The service can be provided to more residents of SHDC. The service is well
liked and often challenged as to why it is not available to more residents, this will
enable that additional capacity.
This growth will provide an improved customer satisfaction and reduce the list of
people on the ROI waiting for a subscription.
The service is discretionary, and its growth will ensure it remains cost effective
and commercially viable and will continue to be developed with this in mind.
Increased household recycling rate and reduction of garden waste sent for
residual disposal. Therefore, improved opportunity to dispose of waste in a more
environmentally beneficial way, as set out in the waste hierarchy.

Page 86

•
•
•
•

5.0

Compliance with the Environment Act 2021 regarding disposal of garden waste.
Improved consistency for the garden waste collection service that can be offered
to residents.
Additional job opportunities for the local economy.
More efficient and cost-effective routing to ensure no service disruption and
economical collections as the seasons change.

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales;
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1

Garden waste that is not disposed of using an organics treatment methodology can create
more greenhouse gases. Therefore, the waste hierarchy promotes the disposal of garden
waste by way of either composting or Anaerobic Digestion (AD). The SHDC garden waste
collection scheme enables the disposal of waste by composting. Ensuring that garden
waste is treated in the more environmentally friendly way means that we can assist with the
reduction of greenhouse gases as a result of appropriate disposal of this type of waste.

5.1.2

Residents will continue to have the opportunity to compost at home, which can be an even
more environmentally friendly option, or take their waste to their local Household Waste
Recycling Centre.

5.2

Constitutional & Legal

5.2.1

Collection and charging of garden waste is undertaken in line with Section 45 of the
Environmental Protection Act 1990 in conjunction with Paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 of the
Controlled Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2012. The garden waste scheme is not
established to make a profit, it introduces a ‘reasonable charge’, as set out in section 45 of
the EPA 1990, and any surplus used to defray costs within Environmental Services.
•

•
•

5.2.2

Section 45(3) of EPA 1990 provides that “no charge shall be made for the collection
of household waste except in cases prescribed in regulations made by the
Secretary of State.”
Section 45(3)(b) of EPA 1990 provides that “the authority may recover a reasonable
charge for the collection of the waste from the person who made the request.”
Paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to the Controlled Waste (England and Wales)
Regulations 2012 (SI 2012/811), as amended, provides for these exceptions in
which it includes garden waste.

In addition to the environmental benefits of the scheme, and its effective management of
the organics waste, the new Environment Act 2021 also sets into law the requirement to
collect recyclable waste, which garden waste is listed to be, separately for recycling or

Page 87

composting. Therefore, the removal of the purple sack collections with residual waste is
recommended to be complaint with the law.
5.2.3

The Resources & Waste Strategy of 2018 set out the desire of government to explore
whether households with gardens should have access to free garden waste collections.
There have been two consultations since the release of the strategy, but the government
are yet to confirm if they will proceed with the proposal. In the absence of a decision on
this, the recommendation remains to expand, and consideration has been given to the
potential impacts of expanding at this point. It is considered that the benefits in this report
support the continuation of the proposal to expand.

5.2.4

The addition of a temporary resource to deliver bins is set out in 1.12. The authority to
increase the staffing establishment by the addition of a temporary fixed term post is set out
in the constitution and is exercisable by chief officers in consultation with the s151 officer.
Therefore, subject to the approval of the recommendations of this report, the fixed term
post and hire of a 7.5t vehicle for one year to deliver the bins to new subscribers, will be
implemented using this delegation. The costs will be funded from the income generated by
the scheme.

5.3

Contracts

5.3.1

The purchase of the new bins for the expansion, as with the previous purchases of bins
made in recent months, will be made following procurement rules and in conjunction with
the procurement team. The current suppliers are on the ESPO framework for Refuse and
Recycling Products and offer the best call-off prices in comparison to their competitors.

5.4

Corporate Priorities

5.4.1

The corporate plan states that the ambition of SHDC is to deliver cost-effective core
services that are valued by the community. The expansion represents this by providing a
valued service to more of our residents whilst ensuring the service remains cost-effective.

5.5

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.5.1

SHDC is committed to promoting equality and participation in all services. As a public
authority we are also required to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination,
advance equality of opportunity, and foster good relations when making decisions and
developing policies. To do this, to understand the potential impacts of the provision of this
service, an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) will be undertaken to understand its impact
on different groups of people.

5.5.2

For the garden waste scheme, as with refuse and recycling, SHDC offer assisted
collections for those who require additional support. Signing up for garden waste is offered
digitally with assisted support for those who are unable to access online services, through
our customer contact team. The impact of the proposed removal of purple sacks, as
required due to the Environment Act 2021, is mitigated by the expansion of the garden
waste scheme across the district alongside free access to the HWRC’s.

5.5.3

The register of interest is used to capture details of those interested in joining the scheme,
people are then contacted in a targeted approach to keep the service expanding without

Page 88

becoming overwhelmed. This is mainly considered by the length of time on the register as
well as by area and capacity of routes.
5.5.4

Residents who would like to dispose of their garden waste outside of the scheme can still
access the County’s Household Waste Recycling Centres for free.

5.6

Financial

5.6.1

The expansion aims to increase our subscription capacity from 10,000 to 15,000. The table
below shows costs for current operations at 10,000 subscribers and models the costs for
an additional truck, including additional staffing and income, which looks to be achieved by
the expansion.

Operating
Costs

Current
10,000
Ongoing
Yearly

10,000 subs
Additional Info
Includes employee costs,
transport fees,
advertising and
maintenance of vehicles
Income for 10,000
subscribers, 80% at £52
and 20% second bins at
£30

Expansion
5,000
Ongoing
Yearly

Direct Costs

£218,325

Income

-£476,650

Contribution
to Reserves

£100,000

Contributions to reserves
includes vehicles, bins
and future funding

£60,938

-£158,325

Balance after direct
costs, income and
contribution to reserves

-£32,647

Operating
Surplus

Total Indirect
Costs

£91,854

Net Operating
Surplus

-£66,471

5.6.2

£144,415

-£238,000

5,000 subs expansion
Additional Info
Includes routing system,
additional staffing and
additional vehicle running
costs
Income for 5,000
subscribers, 80% at £52
and 20% second bins at
£30
Includes additional
Contribution to Reserves
for additional vehicle and
bins
Balance after expansion
costs, income and
contribution to reserves
(for 5,000 subscribers)

Includes salary recharges,
IT, Comms. Depot Costs
and Depreciation of
Assets
Balance of operating
surplus after indirect
costs - for 10,000
subscribers

The table below shows all the costs and income expected for the service when it has
achieved the full 15,000 subscribers.

Expansion Total (15,000 subs)
Direct Costs

Ongoing
Yearly Additional Info
Includes employee costs, transport fees, advertising
£362,740 and maintenance of vehicles and routing software

Page 89

Income
Contribution to Reserves
Net Operating Surplus
Total Indirect Costs
Total Net Operation Surplus

Income for 15,000 subscribers, 80% at £52 and 20%
-£714,650 second bins at £30
Contributions to reserves includes vehicles, bins and
£160,938 future funding
Balance after direct costs, income and contribution
-£190,972 to reserves
Includes salary recharges, IT, Comms. Depot Costs
£91,854 and Depreciation of Assets
-£99,118 Balance of operating surplus for 15,000 subscribers

5.6.3

The income depicted is based on 80% of subscribers having one bin subscription at £52.
The remaining 20% are secondary bin subscriptions which are charged at £30. This is
based on actual breakdown of subscriptions currently received.

5.6.4

The above tables include all costs that are anticipated as a result of the recommendations
of this report and include contributions to reserves.

5.7

Health & Wellbeing

5.7.1

During the pandemic, there have been reports of many people utilising their free time to
spend in their gardens. Therefore, providing the scheme to more people can help to
support those who have used this leisure activity to support their wellbeing through this
difficult time.

5.8

Reputation

5.8.1

The introduction of the garden waste scheme has been a success with a number of
compliments received throughout the years. Therefore, we can say that the scheme has
been a positive for the reputation of SHDC. The expansion should build on this, however,
we recognise that appropriate and timely communication must be provided throughout the
expansion to limit the risk of those on the register becoming frustrated if they are not able to
subscribe immediately. As a part of this, discussions have already commenced with the
communications team and customer contact.

5.9

Risk Management

5.9.1

There are risks associated with the expansion and the project, should approval be granted,
will maintain and monitor a risk register to ensure that any risks are mitigated. Some risks
identified so far include:
• Failing to achieve the maximum capacity of subscriber numbers which may mean
the service is less cost effective. This is mitigated by current levels of demand and
resources that will advertise and target areas for additional subscribers.
• Overachieving in marketing for the service creating a higher demand than can be
delivered with three trucks. This will be closely monitored and consideration for any
further expansion requirements measured, should it become necessary.

Page 90

•

•

•

•

•

•

5.10

Failing to appropriately communicate with interested residents and failing to meet
customer expectations. This is mitigated by having regular meetings with the
communications team and customer contact to ensure that we have a clear a
consistent message to residents and customers, both new and existing, throughout
the project.
Insufficiently staffing both the expansion and the ongoing service resulting in service
failure. This is mitigated by using the knowledge and experience of previous roll
outs and expansions and the recommendations in this report to increase the
establishment to accurately resource the bigger service.
Potential to unsuccessfully discuss the project with other interdependent areas,
such as communications, IT, customer contact and external providers. This is
mitigated by having regular meetings with these services and understanding
requirements of time and resource to agree a realistic timeframe for delivery.
Missing the growing season for next year due to delays in the expansion project or
its interdependent services. The effective and ongoing communication with these
areas will be key to avoiding this potential risk.
Incorrectly built routes that create the potential for service failure or cannot achieve
the maximum subscriber numbers. This is mitigated with the recommendation for
the procurement of a routing software that can build efficient and effective routes.
Potential for the government to introduce free garden waste collections to all those
who have gardens. This is monitored closely through the working groups that SHDC
attend to understand the government position on this as it becomes clearer. Should
this be introduced, the expansion will put SHDC in a stronger position as the
scheme will have expanded to more residents, assisting with a potentially higher
demand being created by this policy. In addition to this, the government have
committed to new burdens funding for such a policy change.

Staffing

5.10.1 As detailed in paragraphs 1.9 to 1.12, there is a need for additional staff to support the
successful delivery of an expansion. Therefore, subject to approval of this report, there will
need to be additional recruitment, which will be done in line with SHDC’s policies and
procedures.
5.10.2 The current staff will be involved in the expansion and ensure that their knowledge and
experience is used for the growth of the service. For example, one area that staff have
made us aware of is the potential need to start rounds earlier. This will be considered with
the routing software outcomes and the review of the T&Cs. Should this be proven to be
necessary, then a consultation would be commenced in line with SHDC’s policies and
procedures.
5.11

Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.11.1 There are a number of internal and external stakeholders who have already been made
aware of the potential expansion. The success of the expansion will be reliant upon the
ongoing communication between these stakeholders, including new and existing
customers. This will be built into the communications plan of the project.
5.11.2 The aim is for the third truck to be operational by May 2022, however, this is dependent
upon many other influences including:
• Procurement of vehicles, bins and routing software

Page 91

•
•

Interdependent service areas, such as IT, comms and suppliers
Recruitment of staff

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

It is intended that the expansion to a third truck will enable the garden waste scheme to be
available to most areas in South Holland. The use of the ROI will help us to understand the
demand across the district and the commercial viability of delivering the service to all areas.

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1
7.2
7.3
7.4
7.5
7.6
7.7

SHDC – South Holland District Council
RCVs - Refuse Collection Vehicles
ROI - Register of Interest
T&Cs - Terms and Conditions
AD - Anaerobic Digestion
HWRC – Household Waste Recycling Centre
Environmental Protection Act 1990 – EPA 1990

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Email:

Charlotte Paine Head of Environmental and Operational Services
cpaine@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:
Exempt Decision:

Y
N

This report refers to a Discretionary Service

Page 92

Agenda Item 8.

REPORT TO:

CABINET

DATE:

14 DECEMBER

SUBJECT:

DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY

PURPOSE:

TO GAIN MEMBER INPUT INTO THE DRAFT STRATEGY TOGETHER
WITH APPROVAL TO UNDERTAKE WIDER PUBLIC/STAKEHOLDER
CONSULTATION

KEY DECISION:

N/A

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

COUNCILLOR GARY PORTER

REPORT OF:

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENT MANAGER

REPORT AUTHOR:

SARAH BAKER

WARD(S) AFFECTED:

N/A

EXEMPT REPORT?

No

SUMMARY
This report provides background to the accompanying draft Climate Change Strategy for the
geographical area covered by the new South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership. This
document moves beyond the confines our own operations to look at the wider issues for
Climate Change in our local communities.
SELCP cannot deliver this strategy in isolation and a new South and East Lincolnshire Climate
Action Network will be established to bring together all relevant partners and ensure delivery at
all levels as we work towards the country’s net zero ambition.

RECOMMENDATIONS
1. Cabinet is asked to consider the draft Climate Change Strategy and provide feedback.
2. Cabinet is requested to agree the draft strategy so it can be issued for public
consultation in South Holland.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

Page 93

To ensure Members are familiar with the content of the draft strategy prior to wider
stakeholder engagement and to give an early opportunity to provide feedback.

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
None.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Prior to the establishment of the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership, Boston
Borough Council and East Lindsey District Council had begun the development of a Climate
Change Strategy for the wider geographical area. Due to the timing of the report, and given
the current national focus on Climate Change due to COP26 activity, it seemed fitting that
this document should be broadened to include South Holland. If approved, this document
will become one of the first joint strategic pieces of work to be produced by the three
Councils.

1.2

It is recognised that the scope of carbon emissions that can be influenced directly by any of
the Councils themselves is relatively small. Therefore, this document seeks to provide the
strategic framework to bring together stakeholders from across South and East Lincolnshire
to work collaboratively to address the key challenges and opportunities.

1.3

While even at that scale, we have a very small role to play in a global issue, the Climate
Change Strategy seeks to ensure a more sustainable future for our local communities
through ensuring economic, social and environmental prosperity.

1.4

BBC and ELDC are slightly further forward in their governance around this strategy and are
currently in the middle of a public consultation period and have run two stakeholder
workshops. If agreed by Cabinet in December, it is planned that South Holland District
Council will consult in late 2021/early 2022.

2.0

REPORT

2.1

Climate Change presents one of the biggest challenges facing our world today and action
requires commitment from all levels of society.

2.2

The scope of emissions which is in the direct control of the Council is relatively limited but
as a local authority, this Council has an important role to play in driving forward and
influencing the efforts required to ensure a sustainable future for our communities.

2.3

This draft Climate Change Strategy is for SELCP and seeks to provide an overarching
framework to reduce emissions as a whole across South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey. It
identifies the strategic themes that are central to helping achieve the carbon reduction
ambitions of the UK as a whole as the nation seeks to be net zero by 2050.

Page 94

2.4

BBC and ELDC have both set their own independent carbon reduction targets as Climate
Change is included as a strategic priority within their respective Corporate Plans. Any
difference in pace of action between the three Councils need not impact on the Climate
Change Strategy itself.

2.5

The inclusion of this Council within the strategy has been taken very recently and so this
current draft is ‘light touch’ at this time in terms of information relating to South Holland. As
the consultation period progresses and further discussions are held, additional context will
be added to ensure the document is as balanced as possible for the three Councils. The
three-way approach will give greater strength in drawing down necessary external funding
as efforts can be shown to be based on a clear strategic need.

2.6

It is envisaged that delivery of the Strategy will be the responsibility of a new South and East
Lincolnshire Climate Action Network, with the support of SELCP. SELCAN will bring together
stakeholder representatives from across the area including relevant authorities, business
leaders, non-governmental organisations and communities. Careful thought will be given to
managing this successfully given the geographical scale of the area it covers.

2.7

The Strategy has used currently available data alongside recognised local priorities as the
rationale for a number of key themes relevant to our area: Transport; Built Environment;
Energy/Renewables; Business; Agriculture/Food; Water (Flood Risk and Drought) and
Natural Environment. Under each theme, the key challenges and opportunities have been
identified together with a series of strategic actions that need to be taken forward. These
will form the basis of the delivery plan which it is intended SELCAN will coordinate once
established.

2.8

It is important if this Strategy is to succeed that it reflects the aspirations of our local area
and engagement in its development is therefore key.

2.9

In order to achieve this, it is intended a period of public consultation on the draft Strategy
will be held in January 2022. A stakeholder workshop will also be arranged in South Holland
with attendees tasked at looking at the individual themes in detail and given the
opportunity to bring forward anything they feel has been missed.

2.10

Following the consultation period, comments from all three Council areas will be aligned
into a revised Climate Change Strategy which will be brought back to Cabinet in early 2022
seeking recommendation of its approval to Full Council.

2.11

Once Council has approved the document, the newly established SELCAN will be asked to
adopt the Strategy and move forward with the delivery plan.

3.0

CONCLUSION

3.1

By taking the lead on developing a Climate Change Strategy for South and East Lincolnshire,
the Councils of South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey are sending a clear message both
locally, and nationally, that they are committed to playing their part in tackling the
challenges Climate Change presents but
also embracing
the opportunities that exist.
Page
95

3.2

Success cannot be achieved in isolation and in fostering new relationships and
strengthening existing ones, the three Councils will promote a coordinated and
collaborative approach to addressing a global issue.

3.3

Successful delivery of this Strategy will ultimately lead to more vibrant, cohesive and
healthier communities which understand the importance of a balanced, sustainable future
in delivering multiple benefits for everyone.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP

4.1

Pressure on local authorities to take action around the issue of Climate Change is only like
to grow over the coming months and years as the UK Government seeks to achieve its net
zero ambitions. Producing this Climate Change Strategy as a South and East Lincolnshire
Councils Partnership document will avoid the need for duplication of effort, both for the
Councils, but also for our stakeholders.

4.2

There are strategic opportunities as well as challenges that this document presents and in
the longer term, this is likely to provide economic, social and environmental growth that
will be bolstered by working at the larger geographic scale.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS

5.1

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP

5.1.1 None
5.2

CORPORATE PRIORITIES

5.2.1 This Council may wish to consider whether Climate Change should be included within its
corporate plan. Recognising the impact and opportunities that Climate Change can bring to
local communities would ensure not only that this is fully considered as part of future
decision-making processes but also that existing work programmes and projects are
recognised for the contributions they are already making to this agenda.
5.3

STAFFING

5.3.1 None
5.4

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.4.1 Local authorities have a legal responsibility to agree plans and targets in line with the
provisions of the Climate Change Act 2008. Not doing so could leave the Council open to
legal challenge.
5.5

DATA PROTECTION

5.5.1 None.
5.6

FINANCIAL

5.6.1 There are no immediate financial implications for the Council arising from approval of this
draft strategy. A small cost outlay will be required to deliver the public
consultation/stakeholder engagement but this can be managed within existing SHDC
budgets.
Page 96

5.7

RISK MANAGEMENT

5.7.1 None
5.8

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES

5.8.1 Policy Development Panel considered a report on the draft Climate Change Strategy at their
meeting on 16 November.
5.9

REPUTATION

5.9.1 There is a potential reputational risk if South Holland District Council is not deemed to be
giving due consideration to the issue of Climate Change, particularly given BBC and ELDC
have made this a corporate priority and are working hard to publicise the efforts they are
taking. As the SELCP could lead to additional scrutiny of this Council in that regard.
5.10

CONTRACTS

5.10.1 None.
5.11

CRIME AND DISORDER

5.11.1 None.
5.12

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING

5.12.1 Climate Change has the potential to impact large sectors of our society and there will be
gaps as the country moves itself away from fossil fuels to alternative technologies that
could leave some of our rural areas behind, particularly where low incomes and fuel
poverty are key concerns. This Strategy will have a role to play in helping identify those
issues, enabling us to demonstrate at a national policy level where communities could be
left behind without the necessary planning/engagement.
5.13

HEALTH AND WELL BEING

5.13.1 None directly however many of the strategic actions which will stem from the report will
have benefits for the health and wellbeing of our local communities.
5.14

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

5.14.1 The Climate Change Strategy will not only have a positive impact on driving down carbon
emissions across South Holland, it will seek to ensure a sustainable future for local
communities.
Annual emissions figures for the District are compiled by the Department for Business,
Energy and Industrial Strategy and continual reductions need to be achieved as we all play
our part in achieving the UK’s commitment to be net zero by 2050.

6.0

ACRONYMS

6.1

BBC – Boston Borough Council
ELDC – East Lindsey District Council
SELCP – South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership

Page 97

SELCAN – South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action Network

APPENDICES
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: APPENDIX A

Draft Climate Change Strategy

BACKGROUND PAPERS
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used
in the production of this report.

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT
Name of body

Date

Policy Development Panel

16 November 2021

REPORT APPROVAL
Report author:

Sarah Baker, Climate Change and Environment
Manager
sarah.baker@e-lindsey.gov.uk

Signed off by:

Christine Marshall

Approved for publication:

Page 98

CLIMATE CHANGE
STRATEGY
DRAFT
Page 99
served by One Team

2

DR AF T CLIMATE CH ANGE STR ATE GY

Contents
Foreword........................................................................................................................ 3
Introduction................................................................................................................. 3
Setting the context.................................................................................................... 4
The Vision...................................................................................................................... 6
The current picture for South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey................ 6
How is South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership
leading by example.................................................................................................... 9
Tackling Climate Change across South Holland, Boston and
East Lindsey................................................................................................................11

Page 100

Delivering this Strategy..........................................................................................18
Glossary.......................................................................................................................20
Supporting Documents...........................................................................................21

3

DR AF T CLIMATE CH ANGE STR ATE GY

Foreword

Introduction
Climate Change is widely considered to be one of, if not the
greatest, challenge facing our society.
Its impact is already being felt, most noticeably through the increasing occurrence of
extreme weather events such as exceptional rainfall and rising temperatures. Responding
to the challenges and finding ways to slow down further changes are tasks which
will take time and require input at all scales from local through to international, from
individual actions to policy changes at the highest levels.

Page 101

Local authorities are well placed to drive forward and influence the action required.
Through the services we deliver, the strategic and regulatory functions we provide and
through our position as community leaders we can help to educate, guide and implement
some of the changes we must make as a society to play our part but we will need to
work together to achieve what is required.
Many of the possible approaches have multiple benefits in not only building resilience
and driving down emissions, but also in helping to deliver positive outcomes for the
natural environment and the health and wellbeing of our communities. It is imperative
that we re-frame the issue of Climate Change to one which demonstrates how taking
action can improve quality of life for everyone.
The purpose of this Climate Change Strategy is to provide direction around how to
achieve a more sustainable future across South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey as we
all work towards a shared net zero target. That must ensure an approach that balances
economic, social and environmental considerations equally. It is heavily focused on
mitigation - actions to reduce the impact of human activity on the climate system,
primarily through reducing greenhouse gas emissions - but some degree of Climate
Change is still inevitable and adaptation will also have an important role to play.

4

DR AF T CLIMATE CH ANGE STR ATE GY

Setting the Context
The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC)
defines Climate Change as, “A change of climate which is attributed directly or
indirectly to human activity that alters the composition of the global atmosphere
and which is in addition to natural climate variability observed over comparable
time periods.”

Page 102

They key cause of human contribution to Climate Change is through the
increased production of Greenhouse Gases (GHGs). GHGs such as carbon
dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide occur naturally in the Earth’s atmosphere,
trapping heat and energy from the sun in a process known as the ‘greenhouse
effect’. Increases to GHG emissions push up levels of heat and energy in the
Earth’s atmosphere, causing a rise in global temperatures.
To give an indication of how things have changed, carbon dioxide levels in the
atmosphere are greater than they have been at any point in the last 800,000
years. The last time the Earth saw similar levels was around 4-million years ago
when the average temperature was 2-4°C warmer than today, and the sea level
was 10-25m higher1.

Siegert, M., Haywood, A. Lunt, D., van de Flierdt, T., Francis, J. (2020) What ancient climates tell us
about high carbon dioxide concentrations in Earth’s atmosphere, Grantham Institute Briefing Note
13, Imperial College London. https://doi.org/10.25561/79292.

1

International Context
The Paris Agreement is a legally binding international treaty on Climate Change
adopted by 196 parties, including the UK Government, at COP 21 in December
2015. Its goal is to limit global warming to well below a 2°C increase, preferably
to a 1.5°C increase, compared to pre-industrial levels.
In response to that decision, the United Nations Intergovernmental Panel on
Climate Change (IPCC) published a special report in 2018 on the impact a 1.5°C
rise in global temperatures would have on our planet and the critical steps that
needed to be taken to try and keep rises below that level.

Action by the UK Government
The 2008 Climate Change Act set out a legal framework for the UK to cut
greenhouse gas emissions to 80% below 1990 levels by 2050. It represented the first
global, legally-binding Climate Change mitigation target to be made by a country.
The Act also established the Committee on Climate Change (CCC), an
independent body which provides evidence-based advice to Government. In
2019, the CCC published its own report, supporting the findings of the IPCC
and advising the UK Government to revise its long term 2050 carbon emissions.
This saw a new target adopted to cut GHG emissions to net zero by 2050 with
the UK Government becoming the first country to nationally declare a Climate
Emergency in May 2019.
As the UK prepared to host the COP26 climate summit in 2021, the UK’s sixth
carbon budget set out the world’s most ambitious Climate Change target to
reduce emissions by 78% by 2035 compared to 1990 levels, with the budget
also incorporating the UK’s share of international aviation and shipping
emissions for the first time.

5

DR AF T CLIMATE CH ANGE STR ATE GY

The Local Picture

Net Zero defined

It is important to try and translate all that is happening at a national and global
scale into meaningful action at a local level.

Many different terms are often associated with reducing emissions but it is
important to understand the distinctions between them.

In Lincolnshire, while all local authorities are moving at different paces, there
is a shared common goal to not only achieve net zero but to achieve a more
sustainable way of living that protects and improves our communities. Those
involved with Climate Change across the county are working closely together
to ensure we are sharing knowledge and learning from each other. Lincolnshire
County Council launched its Green Masterplan in 2020 to set out the guiding
principles of how we can collectively meet the challenges and opportunities
Climate Change presents. These are:

Achieving net zero emissions means to pursue an ambitious 1.5°C aligned
science-based target for full value chain emissions i.e. Scope 1, 2 and 3
emissions. Where any residual emissions remain these can be offset with
certified Greenhouse Gas removal mechanisms such as tree planting or carbon
capture technology.

Page 103

• Don’t waste anything - working toward a circular economy
• Consider wider opportunities - working in partnership to share funding,
experience and networks and prevent duplication of effort.
• Take responsibility and pride - to cherish, protect and improve the county
we have many reasons to be proud of

Scope

Emission Definition
Type

Scope 1 Direct
Emissions

Scope 2 Indirect
Emissions

Scope 3

Emissions from sources directly
owned or controlled by the
reporting body
Indirect emissions from the
generation of purchased energy
consumed by the reporting body
Upstream and downstream
emissions that occur in the value
chain of the reporting body

Examples
Natural gas, fleet

Electricity

Business travel and
commuting, waste,
water, procured
goods and services

This contrasts with, for example, carbon neutral targets which may not account
for all emissions Scopes and which allow emissions to be offset by high quality,
certified carbon credits.

6

DR AF T CLIMATE CH ANGE STR ATE GY

Carbon Management Hierarchy
The key priority in seeking to reduce emissions is that there should be a
hierarchical approach to their management which seeks to eliminate them as far
as possible, followed by carbon and energy reduction and then by substitution
measures such as low-carbon alternatives like renewable energy. Compensation
measures are then the final step once other options have been exhausted.
These principles are best outlined in the IEMA Greenhouse Gas Management
Hierarchy (updated 2020):

Page 104

ELIMINATE

REDUCE

SUBSTITUTE

COMPENSATE

• Influence business decisions / use to prevent GHG
emissions across the lifecycle
• Potential exists when organisations change, expand,
rationalise or move business
• Transition to new business model, alternative operation
or new product/service
• Real and relative (per unit) reductions in carbon and
energy
• Efficiency in operations, processes, fleet and energy
management
• Optimise approaches (e.g. technology and digital as
enablers)
• Adopt renewables/low carbon technologies (on site,
transport, etc)
• Reduce carbon (GHG) intensity of energy use and of
energy purchased
• Purchase inputs and services with lower embodied/
embedded emissions
• Compensate ‘unavoidable’ residual emissions (removals,
offsets etc)
• Investigate land management, value chain, asset sharing,
carbon credits
• Support climate action and developing carbon markets

The Vision
The areas covered by South Holland District Council,
Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District
Council achieve net zero emissions in advance of the
UK Government. In doing so, action supports social,
economic and environmental outcomes that help
adapt and mitigate to climate change and build a more
sustainable future for our local communities.

The current picture for South
Holland, Boston and East Lindsey
Carbon dioxide (CO2) is the main greenhouse gas, accounting for 80% of GHG
emissions in the UK in 20192. Data published by the Department for Business,
Energy and Industrial Strategy on an annual basis provides the latest estimates
of end-user CO2 emissions for local authority areas in the UK.

2

UK local authority carbon dioxide emissions estimates 2019

7

DR AF T CLIMATE CH ANGE STR ATE GY

South Holland

Boston

Emissions in South Holland reduced by 25.8% between 2005 and 2019. The
three largest contributing sectors are transport, domestic properties and land
use, land use change and forestry.

In Boston, emissions reduced by 35.29% between 2005 and 2019. Transport and
domestic properties are again the main two contributors with emissions from
industry also coming in the top three for emissions.

kt CO2 Detail
(2019)

Page 105

Transport

190.7

Housing

140.5

Land Use,
Land Use
Change and
Forestry
(LULUCF)

109.2

Industrial

91.1

Commercial
Agriculture

44.3
20.1

Public Sector

7.2

TOTAL

603.1

Emissions include freight and passenger transport,
both for private and business purposes
Emissions from energy consumption in and around
the home
Emissions/removals of CO2 from changes in the
carbon stock in forestland, cropland, grassland,
wetlands, settlements and harvested wood
products, and of other greenhouse gases from
drainage (excl. croplands and intensive grasslands)
and rewetting of soils, nitrogen mineralisation
associated with loss and gain of soil organic matter,
and fires.
Emissions from businesses defined as UK Standard
Industrial Classification (SIC07) subsections 01-32,
35-39 & 42
All other SIC07 subsections
Emissions of greenhouse gases from livestock,
agricultural soils (excluding carbon stock changes
which are included in the LULUCF sector) and
agricultural machinery.
Emissions from the combustion of fuel in public
sector buildings, e.g., hospitals and schools. SIC07
subsections 84-87.

kt CO2 Detail
(2019)
Transport

117.5

Housing

94.9

Industrial

52.8

Commercial
Agriculture

21.9
9.5

Public Sector

8.7

LULUCF

8.3

TOTAL

313.7

Emissions include freight and passenger transport,
both for private and business purposes
Emissions from energy consumption in and around
the home
Emissions from businesses defined as UK Standard
Industrial Classification (SIC07) subsections 01-32,
35-39 & 42
All other SIC07 subsections
Emissions of greenhouse gases from livestock,
agricultural soils (excluding carbon stock changes
which are included in the LULUCF sector) and
agricultural machinery.
Emissions from the combustion of fuel in public
sector buildings, e.g., hospitals and schools. SIC07
subsections 84-87.
Emissions/removals of CO2 from changes in the
carbon stock in forestland, cropland, grassland,
wetlands, settlements and harvested wood
products, and of other greenhouse gases from
drainage (excl. croplands and intensive grasslands)
and rewetting of soils, nitrogen mineralisation
associated with loss and gain of soil organic matter,
and fires.

8

DR AF T CLIMATE CH ANGE STR ATE GY

East Lindsey
Emissions in East Lindsey reduced by 27.31% between 2005 and 2019. The
three largest contributing sectors are transport, domestic properties and land
use, land use change and forestry.

kt CO2 Detail
(2019)

Page 106

Transport

274.2

Housing

224.9

Land Use,
Land Use
Change and
Forestry
(LULUCF)

174.0

Industrial

90

Commercial
Agriculture

66.2
49.9

Public Sector

15.1

TOTAL

894.2

Emissions include freight and passenger transport,
both for private and business purposes.
Emissions from energy consumption in and around
the home
Emissions/removals of CO2 from changes in the
carbon stock in forestland, cropland, grassland,
wetlands, settlements and harvested wood products,
and of other greenhouse gases from drainage (excl.
croplands and intensive grasslands) and rewetting
of soils, nitrogen mineralisation associated with loss
and gain of soil organic matter, and fires.
Emissions from businesses defined as UK Standard
Industrial Classification (SIC07) subsections 01-32,
35-39 & 42.
All other SIC07 subsections.
Emissions of greenhouse gases from livestock,
agricultural soils (excluding carbon stock changes
which are included in the LULUCF sector) and
agricultural machinery.
Emissions from the combustion of fuel in public
sector buildings, e.g., hospitals and schools. SIC07
subsections 84-87.

The Inter-governmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has argued that from
2020, keeping within a global carbon budget of 344 billion tonnes of GHG
emissions would give us a 66% chance of limiting average warming to 1.5
degrees and therefore avoiding dangerous levels of climate change.
If we divide this global figure up on an equal basis by population, this gives East
Lindsey a total carbon budget of 6 megatonnes (i.e. 6 million tonnes) from 20203.
Based only on the fuel and electricity used within its boundaries, East Lindsey
currently emits c.0.8 million tonnes of carbon a year, meaning that it would use
up its carbon budget in just over 7.5 years.
With on-going decarbonisation of electricity, and taking into account population
and economic growth, it is projected that East Lindsey’s 2005 level of emissions
will have fallen by 44% by 2050. If however it is to stay within its carbon
budget, East Lindsey needs to reduce its emissions by 9.5% year on year.

Business As Usual and Science-based pathway for East Lindsey.
3

Gouldson, A. Sudmant, A. Duncan, A. (2019). “A summary carbon roadmap for Boston”. Place
based Climate Action Network, https://pcancities.org.uk/

9

DR AF T CLIMATE CH ANGE STR ATE GY

Similarly, Boston has a budget of 3 megatonnes (i.e. 3 million tonnes) which at
current rates would be exhausted in 9 years. However, Boston could stay within
its carbon budget by reducing its emissions by 8.2% year on year.

How is South and East Lincolnshire
Councils Partnership leading by
example?
Focus 1: Reduce the carbon footprint of our
own activities

Page 107

Both East Lindsey District Council (ELDC) and Boston Borough Council (BBC)
have engaged the Carbon Trust to produce Carbon Reduction Plans for their own
operations. The ELDC plan was adopted in November 2019 and the BBC plan is
due to be finalised in Autumn 2021.

Business As Usual and Science-based pathway for Boston.
The carbon budget for South Holland is currently being calculated.

Both Councils have adopted net zero commitments in advance of the UK
Government with ELDC specifying a target to reduce emissions from its own
operations by 45% by 2027 and to net zero by 2040. Action Plans setting out
the projects and initiatives required to deliver the reductions needed are being
implemented to ensure progress remains on track.
Adapting and mitigating to climate change requires an holistic approach to
sustainability in addition to emissions reductions. Both Councils have agreed
priorities within their Corporate Strategies in relation to tackling climate change.
New Environment Policies have also been adopted to set out the framework for
how they will work to protect the natural environment for residents and visitors.
South Holland District Council joined with Boston and East Lindsey to form the
South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (SELCP) in September 2021.
This provides an opportunity to understand existing actions the Council has

10

DR AF T CLIMATE CH ANGE STR ATE GY

taken which contribute to the agenda whilst also working closely with Boston
and East Lindsey to identify opportunities to align policy and processes where
appropriate.
Leading by example is key and through both existing service provision and
new developments and initiatives we will ensure implications for our carbon
footprints are fully considered from the outset.

Page 108

Focus 2: Support and facilitate partnership
working of stakeholders throughout South
Holland, Boston and East Lindsey to take action
to achieve net zero emissions across the area
All three Councils have a key role to play in both leading by example and
supporting the wider community to deliver this climate change strategy. While
their sphere of influence is limited, they are well placed to drive and influence
change through the services they deliver, as trusted community leaders and
through their regulatory and strategic functions. Key activities will include:
• Support the vulnerable and fuel-poor households with energy efficiency
measures
• Local Plans that supports sustainable development and climate change
adaptation/mitigation
• Guidance for businesses on adaptation to climate change
• Work with businesses to understand and reduce their carbon footprints
• Support town and parish councils to take action at a local level

• Identify strategic sites for biodiversity net gain and carbon offsetting
initiatives
• Strengthen and enhance existing ecological networks to build resilience
to climate change
• Ensure spatial planning plays a key role in the transition to a low-carbon
society

Focus 3: Climate Change Adaptation
Adaptation: Adjustments to natural or human systems in response to the
actual or anticipated impacts of climate change, to mitigate harm or
exploit beneficial opportunities.
• Undertake a comprehensive risk-based assessment of vulnerabilities to
weather and climate within the SELCP area
• Develop an adaptation plan that details the SELCP’s response to the
evidence of our changing climate
• Review procurement procedures to embed adaptation and mitigation
approaches into key contracts and services
• Ensure effective partnership working to address climate change risks
across administrative boundaries

11

DR AF T CLIMATE CH ANGE STR ATE GY

Tackling Climate Change across
South Holland, Boston and East
Lindsey
The scope of emissions that is in the direct control or influence of the three
councils is relatively small. This strategy seeks to provide an overarching
framework to reduce emissions as a whole across South Holland, Boston and
East Lindsey.

Page 109

A number of strategic themes have been identified as central to the road to net
zero, but achieving the necessary outcomes will need cross sector input from a
wide range of stakeholders working towards a common goal.
Many of the themes will also involve a number of cross-cutting elements and
taking forward action will require an holistic view of the interdependencies and
multiple benefits that are at play.

Key themes
Transport
Built Environment
Energy/Renewables
Business
Agriculture/Food
Water
(Flood Risk and Drought)
Natural Environment

12

DR AF T CLIMATE CH ANGE STR ATE GY

Transport
Emissions from the transport sector are the largest contributors to the carbon
footprints of the SELCP area accounting for 37% of Boston’s total emissions,
32% of South Holland’s and 31% of East Lindsey’s. Emissions attributable to
transport across all three areas are rising as a proportion of all emissions.

Page 110

Reducing emissions and the promotion of more sustainable travel solutions are
included to some extent in existing travel plans and strategies in the county with
a new Lincolnshire Transport Plan due to be adopted in early 2022. A Ultra-Low
Emission Vehicle Strategy is currently in progress and set to be agreed in 2021.

often having to travel several kilometres to access key services such as doctors
and supermarkets. While electric vehicles provide one option, as technology
advances it is likely there will be a mixture of solutions adopted.

Strategic actions
• Prioritise the development of an EV policy/strategy for ensuring correct
positioning of charging infrastructure across the area based on modelling
current and predicted future requirements
• Maximise the potential of public transport links together with walking
and cycling options and explore opportunities to decarbonise public
transport through new and emerging technology.
• Promote both the continuation and expansion of new ways of working
developed during the Covid-19 pandemic, to reduce the need for regular
commuting and unnecessary travel

An Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) currently exists at Haven Bridge and
Boston Borough Council coordinates an Action Plan which includes steps that
will achieve mutually beneficial outcomes.

Challenges/Opportunities
Development of the Port of Boston as a fresh fruit and vegetables hub is already
starting to tackle the need for lower carbon supply chains. Furthermore, Town
Deals for both Boston and Skegness include plans to enhance their respective
railway stations along with the growth of walking and cycling options.
A large number of businesses, particularly in the agri-food supply chain across
Boston and South Holland, rely on the road network to support their operations
to ensure timely delivery and dispatch of produce.
The rural nature of the area means limited public transport networks will make
decarbonising transport a challenging task in the years ahead with residents

Built Environment
Emissions from energy consumption in and around domestic properties is the
second largest contributor to carbon emissions across the area. Without action
emissions in this sector are predicted to increase by 2050 by as much 8% across
South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey.
The challenges in this sector going forward are two-fold: both ensuring that new
builds and retrofits of existing properties are fit for the future but also ensuring
that developments continue to be considered economically viable once new
technologies are incorporated.

13

DR AF T CLIMATE CH ANGE STR ATE GY

The communities of South and East Lincolnshire are rural in nature with high
proportions of off-gas grid properties still reliant on solid-fuel systems. A
range of initiatives will be required to educate and find solutions to alternative
methods of heating residents’ homes.

Challenges/Opportunities
Currently all new developments must meet the energy efficiency standards
required by UK Building Regulations. The Government is consulting on updated
standards for new homes which are expected to include a ban on gas boilers
from 2025 amongst other measures.

Page 111

Engagement with developers will be key to finding solutions which will enable
the development of affordable, energy efficient homes.
There is also an increasing understanding of the need to reduce embodied
carbon in new build and retrofit schemes and this is likely to gain further
traction in the next few years.

Strategic actions
• Embed climate change mitigation and adaptation within strategic
planning policies
• Encourage and promote efficient use of energy in the home
• Foster exemplar approaches to sustainable design and adaptive
technologies
• Support residents to access available funding to improve energy
efficiency and reduce fuel poverty
• Encourage a better understanding of current embodied carbon levels within
new developments and work with the industry to identify low carbon
alternatives and where offsetting options may need to be developed

Energy/Renewables
Taken as a whole across the different sectors, energy consumption is the largest
source of emissions across the area. Whether through the heating of private
or public sector property or through energy usage as part of industrial and
commercial processes, there will need to be significant changes to the way
energy is both produced and consumed.
In terms of energy demand, South Holland, East Lindsey and Boston all perform
poorly on fuel poverty with all three having a higher percentage of households
in fuel poverty than the national average.
A key challenge for the whole area is in terms of network capacity which at
times are currently presenting a barrier to renewable generation and storage.
Engagement with the Distribution Network Operators will be essential as will
the ability to project accurately potential expansion and take up of particular
technologies to ensure the energy infrastructure is able to meet demand.

Challenges/Opportunities
Nationally, renewable energy generation continues to grow with 42% of
electricity produced in 2020 from wind, solar, water and wood compared with
41% generated from gas and coal plants. If this growth on the path to net
zero is to continue however, small scale renewables solutions together with
larger scale developments are going to be essential to achieving the net zero
aspirations.

14

DR AF T CLIMATE CH ANGE STR ATE GY

Strategic actions
• Prioritise the development of appropriate Local Area Energy Plan(s)
• To increase the proportion of energy generated by renewable sources
across the SELCP area
• Encourage and promote viable decentralised energy opportunities and
renewables options where appropriate
• Achieve a future-proofed energy distribution network without constraints
which supports new connections and storage initiatives

Challenges/Opportunities
Since the height of the Covid-19 pandemic in early 2020, many businesses
have adopted new ways of working in particular with many employees working
from home and reducing business travel. Harnessing those gains needs to be
continued to ensure a green recovery.
Consumers have a large power of influence and businesses are set to see
increasing pressure to meet the challenges and opportunities of moving towards
circular economy - reducing waste and protecting natural resources.

• Support businesses and householders to install renewable energy systems

Page 112

Strategic actions
Business
Emissions from industrial and commercial activities combined make up another
significant proportion of the carbon footprint of the SELCP area.
The employment share by sector can be broken down as shown below, with
key areas including public admin, education and health; wholesale and retail;
business, financial and professional services and manufacturing. The main
difference is the significant proportion of accommodation and food services
employment in East Lindsey.

• Encourage sustainable procurement practices that support local supply
chains and fosters the building of a circular economy
• Support and advise local businesses on understanding their current
carbon footprint and identifying routes to decarbonise their operations
• Promote and foster opportunities for businesses to grow and develop
within the low carbon and renewables sector
• Introduce Carbon Charter Award scheme for businesses to showcase their
climate change credentials

15

DR AF T CLIMATE CH ANGE STR ATE GY

Agriculture/Food
Agriculture is one of the dominant industries across the South and East
Lincolnshire Councils Partnership area. The Agri-Food industry as a whole plays a
major role in the region’s economy and the development of a South Lincolnshire
Food Enterprise Zone at Holbeach aims to promote innovation within the sector
including areas such as low carbon technology.

Page 113

The sector has a relatively unique position in being able to influence both
emissions and sequestration of GHGs. Unlike most other sectors however, only
around 10% of emissions are carbon dioxide with nitrous dioxide and methane
making up the majority. These can be more complex to address because of the
involvement of natural processes.
Arable cropping and salad/vegetables are the primary production types across
the area but there are also a number of livestock operations.

Farmed area by type (hectares)

Boston
East
Lindsey
South
Holland

No. of
holdings

Farmed
area

Cereals

Fruit and
Veg

Grassland

10,969
70,540

Arable
(exc
cereals)
8,274
36,576

277
1,131

31,894
145,462

7,149
6,237

3,368
21,097

608

64,062

30,050

18,806

7,126

3,395

16

DR AF T CLIMATE CH ANGE STR ATE GY

Challenges/Opportunities
Agriculture is not only well placed to lead on changes to reduce emissions.
Farmers are also the custodians of our natural environment and have an
important role to play in nature’s recovery with innovative solutions offering the
opportunity to deliver multiple benefits to society.
There will be challenges ahead as the impact of our diets on climate change
continues to undergo scrutiny and a new Agriculture Bill seeks to deliver
significant changes to the way farm support is delivered.

Page 114

Strategic actions
• Promote and support innovation in the farming sector to enable more
sustainable farming practices
• Educate and encourage residents to access affordable, local and seasonal
food through promoting local supply chains and food markets
• Identify opportunities and support farmers to access mechanisms to
enable less productive land to be used for environmental schemes which
also deliver multiple benefits to society

Water
(Flood Risk and Drought)
Water is a key theme because it covers not only consumption and resource
management but also flood risk from coastal inundation, rivers and surface
water.
The South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership area is particularly
vulnerable to climate change impacts because of a relatively low rainfall and its
low-lying nature with a long coastline.
In East Lindsey alone, 38% of the District is at risk from coastal inundation
alone, with additional risk over coming from surface water flooding i.e. from
rivers, drains and localised flooding.
Across the area, the considerable risk of flooding is substantially reduced by the
work of internal drainage boards in partnership with other bodies such as the
Environment Agency.

Challenges/Opportunities
Climate change is expected to lead to warmer and drier summers together with
milder and wetter winters and the ability to manage water to ensure supply is
available where and when it is needed is essential.
Given the area’s coastal geography, sea level rise undoubtedly presents one of
the biggest challenges for the future and partnership working will be vital to
ensuring effective adaptation and mitigation strategies.

17

DR AF T CLIMATE CH ANGE STR ATE GY

Strategic actions
• Promote technologies and behaviours that reduce water consumption
across all domestic and commercial sectors
• Work with developers to reduce water consumption demand in new
builds and conversions
• Support initiatives to improve the management of waterways and coastal
areas to reduce flood risk and benefit the natural environment
• Ensure strategic partnership working delivers long-term coastal change
management and planning, as well as building resilience to communities
at risk of coastal and riverine flooding through adaptation and mitigation
with clear lines of communication between all parties

Challenges/Opportunities
Carbon sequestration, water storage, water quality, flood protection and urban
cooling can all be delivered through a well-managed natural environment
together with a range of societal benefits such as green tourism and improved
health and wellbeing.
A new Environment Bill looks set to give local authorities an important role to
play in nature’s recovery not only through putting spatial planning for nature on
a statutory footing but also in working in partnership to ensure a Local Nature
Recovery Strategy delivers action which enables both nature and people to
thrive.

Page 115

Strategic actions

Natural Environment
Climate change will add to the increasing pressures on our natural environment
but if managed correctly, the natural environment can also play a key role in
how we mitigate for and adapt to the challenges it presents.
The SELCP area is fortunate to be home to Lincolnshire Wolds Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty with the internationally important estuaries of The
Wash and The Humber on its doorstep. It has a total of 74 designated sites of
national/international importance.
There are also 514 locally designated biodiversity and geodiversity sites in South
Holland, Boston and East Lindsey although just 41% are considered as being
‘positively’ managed - the vast majority are in Boston and South Holland.

• Encourage and promote land use change and management decisions that
help both nature and people mitigate and adapt to climate change
• Work in partnership to ensure gains for the natural environment are
delivered in a strategic manner with long-term plans to ensure effective
management is maintained
• Where tree planting is part of the solution, ensure a ‘right tree in the right
place’ approach is taken
• Promote and understanding of the economic benefits that a wellmanaged natural environment can bring to the SELCP area

18

DR AF T CLIMATE CH ANGE STR ATE GY

Delivering this Strategy
The South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership is well placed to facilitate
the delivery of this strategy but this can only be achieved with the full support
of stakeholders from across the public and private sector together with local
community engagement.
Meeting the net zero ambition of the UK as a whole will require action on
every level but will only achieve the necessary results through education,
through sharing knowledge and best practice and ultimately through working in
partnership.

SELCAN will be an independent body which owns, monitors and reviews
progress against the strategy with secretariat provided by South Holland District
Council, Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District Council.

Communications
This strategy has been produced by the South and East Lincolnshire Councils
Partnership but is a strategy for the whole area.
The success of its delivery is dependent on:

Page 116

• The effectiveness of the leadership and the commitment within the
public sector and private sector in working towards a net zero future

South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action
Network (SELCAN)
The key delivery mechanism for taking forward this strategy will be through
the establishment of the South and East Lincolnshire Climate Action Network
(SELCAN). Facilitated by three Councils, SELCAN will bring together private,
public and community sectors to jointly tackle climate change.
Its remit will be to drive strategic thinking and promote on the ground delivery
and implementation of projects to reduce emissions across South Holland,
Boston and East Lindsey and build a more sustainable future.
Representation will be through a number of seats identified for each key sector,
designed to provide a cross section across the area. SELCAN will meet quarterly
but may choose to establish small working groups where issues are felt to be
particularly sector or geographically specific.

• Every individual, business and organisation in South Holland, Boston
and East Lindsey being aware of the challenges ahead and having an
understanding of the actions that can be taken
• Effective engagement with everyone making effective, lasting, cultural
changes to play their part in a net zero future
To this end, communication will be key and the engagement plan sets out the
outcomes that need to be achieved:

19

DR AF T CLIMATE CH ANGE STR ATE GY

Ensure every individual, business and organisation is aware of
the Climate Change Strategy and what it seeks to achieve
People living and working in South Holland, Boston and East
Lindsey understand climate change and its potential impacts
on our area
All sectors are actively participating in SELCAN and working
to achieve a cultural change towards a sustainable future for
Boston and East Lindsey

How will this be achieved?

Timescale

How will it be monitored?

Media campaign, public
consultation, engagement events,
e-Messenger
Media campaigns, engagement
events,

Next 12
months

Engagement with consultation and events

1-3 years

Climate change questions included in residents
surveys. Responses can be compared

Page 117

Direct approaches to key sector
1-3 years
representatives, online presence,
strong partnership working,
SELCAN ambassadors
Individuals, businesses and organisations understand where
Workshops, business networks,
1-3 years
they can make a difference and are seeking to play their part toolkits for key sectors
South Holland, Boston and East Lindsey are recognised as
Carbon Charter Awards, media
3-5 years
exemplars in how everyone is working together to achieve the campaigns on success stories, BEIS
net zero ambitions of the nation
statistics

Monitored by numbers of stakeholders
pro-actively participating in SELCAN with
representation across the identified sectors
Feedback from events and workshops
Number of enquiries received
Engagement with Awards, publicity achieved,
reductions in annual BEIS figures for Boston and
East Lindsey

20

DR AF T CLIMATE CH ANGE STR ATE GY

Glossary
Biodiversity net gain - an approach to development and/or land management,
that aims to leave the natural environment in a measurably better state than it
was beforehand.

Ecological networks - the composition of core areas of habitats and corridors
such as hedgerows or watercourses which enable the free movement of species
throughout a landscape

Carbon budget - the quantity of greenhouse gas emissions that can be emitted
in total over a specified time by a given entity in line with scientific targets to
keep within certain temperature increase

Embodied carbon - the total greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions generated to
produce a built asset.

Carbon credits - a term used to describe a tradeable certificate or permit giving
the holder a right to emit a measured amount of greenhouse gas.

Page 118

Carbon footprint - the total greenhouse gas emissions resulting from the
activities of individual, event, organisation, service or product expressed as
carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e).
Carbon offsetting - a mechanism used to compensate for greenhouse gas
emissions made elsewhere through. Usually through a body funding activities or
projects that improve or enhance the environment or buying carbon credits to
balance out the emissions from their own operations.
Carbon neutral - a process of reducing greenhouse gas emissions which allows
for offsetting through the purchase of high quality, certified carbon credits
Circular economy - an economic system aimed at eliminating waste by keeping
resources in use for as long as possible, extracting the maximum value from
them while in use, then recovering and regenerating products and materials at
the end of their life.

Fuel poverty - a situation where a household has fuel costs that are above the
national average and in spending that amount are left with a residual income
below the official poverty line.
Greenhouse Gases - gases in the Earth’s atmosphere that trap heat. The main
greenhouse gases are Carbon Dioxide (CO2), Methane (CH4) and Nitrous Oxide
(NO2) and are usually expressed in terms of their Carbon Dioxide equivalent
value (CO2e)
Local Area Energy Plan - a data driven approach which brings together the
decarbonisation of heat, transport and power by incorporating in interactions
and impact on the energy network in a given spatial area
Local Nature Recovery Strategy - spatial strategies which establish priorities
and map proposals for specific actions to drive nature’s recovery and provide
wider environmental benefits
Net zero - a process of reducing greenhouse gas emissions whereby any residual
emissions that remain these can be offset with certified greenhouse gas removal
mechanisms such as tree planting or carbon capture technology.

Carbon sequestration - the process of capturing and storing atmospheric
carbon dioxide

Residual emissions - any emissions which remain after all technically and
economically feasible opportunities have been implemented

Decentralised energy - projects which generate, use and store energy off the
main grid including micro-renewables, heating and cooling networks

Science-based target - a carbon emissions target which is in line with the scale
of reductions required to keep global temperature increases below 2°C above
pre-industrial temperatures.

21

DR AF T CLIMATE CH ANGE STR ATE GY

Scope 1 emissions - direct emissions from sources directly owned or controlled
by the reporting body such as fleet vehicles or natural gas consumption
Scope 2 emissions - indirect emissions from the generation of purchased
energy such as electricity
Scope 3 emissions - indirect emissions that occur in the value chain of an
organisation, be that upstream or downstream, such as business travel, waste
disposal or water consumption
Urban cooling - a range of methods used to lower temperatures in built-up
area and reduce the impact of the urban heat island effect

Page 119

CLIMATE CHANGE
STRATEGY
DRAFT
Page 120

Agenda Item 9.

REPORT TO:

Cabinet

DATE:

14th December 2021

SUBJECT:

Lincolnshire Women’s Concordat

PURPOSE:

To support the recommendation made in response to an invitation
from Lincolnshire’s Police and Crime Commissioner to join the
Lincolnshire Women’s Concordat.

KEY DECISION:

N/A

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Councillor Nick Worth

REPORT OF:

N/A

REPORT AUTHOR:

Peter Hunn (Community Safety Manager)

WARD(S) AFFECTED:

All

EXEMPT REPORT?

No

SUMMARY
Reducing offending is a priority for the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership (SLP), of which South
Holland District Council is a member. Recent work has contributed to a greater understanding
of female offenders, leading to the development of a Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy, which
outlines what can be done to help prevent entry into the criminal justice system, and improve
support for those already in it.
To help achieve this, a Lincolnshire Women’s Concordat has been introduced. The Police and
Crime Commissioner (PCC) for Lincolnshire has written to all Chief Executive Officers with an
invitation to participate in the concordat. This report provides a summary of the key
information to inform members about this work, what it will entail, and ask for support with the
recommendation made.

Page 121

RECOMMENDATIONS
That members agree to sign up to the Lincolnshire Women’s Concordat and commit to the
requirements set out within.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
This is a key piece of work to support both national and local strategies to improve outcomes for
women and girls at risk of entering, or those who have already entered, the criminal justice
system. As a member of the SLP, it is recommended that South Holland District Council
participates in the Lincolnshire Concordat to maximise the outcomes that can be achieved in
Lincolnshire.

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
Acknowledge the hard work that has been undertaken by the Reducing Offending Core Priority
Group (ROCPG) but decline to sign up to the Women’s Concordat.

1. BACKGROUND
1.1. The SLP currently has four priorities: Domestic Abuse, Anti-Social Behaviour, Serious and
Organised Crime, and Offending/Reoffending. The latter is being managed by the county
level ROCPG.
1.2. In early 2020 the ROCPG commissioned a piece of analytical work to improve
understanding of female offenders in Lincolnshire. Lincolnshire Action Trust (LAT)
subsequently secured funding from the Ministry of Justice (MOJ) to support the creation of
a woman’s strategy in respect of offending (Appendix A). Development of the strategy
incorporated the voices of women who had recently left the criminal justice sector.
1.3. The Lincolnshire strategy aims to deliver the outcomes set out in the MOJ’s Female
Offender Strategy published in June 2018 (Appendix B).
1.4. The MOJ has led on a national concordat on ‘Women at Risk of contact with the Criminal
Justice System’ (Appendix C). This identifies how partner agencies should work together to
recognise and respond to women’s needs, encouraging partnership working. It is not
intended to replace existing arrangements, if they are working well, but to develop, and
improve existing support for females.
2. REPORT
2.1. To drive delivery of the Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy (and outcomes sought by the
national strategy) it has been agreed that a Lincolnshire Concordat is needed. The PCC for
Lincolnshire has written to all Chief Executive Officers, inviting them to participate in a
Lincolnshire Concordat (Appendix D and E).
2.2. As set out in the letter: ‘The aim is for all services and agencies to unite to interrupt
the pathways that currently lead women into the criminal justice system by delivering
the services they need in ways they have told us works for them’.

Page 122

2.3. The Lincolnshire Concordat sets out how agencies should work together to improve
outcomes for women and girls at risk of entering, or who have already entered the
criminal justice system.
2.4. Women who had recently left the criminal justice system were heavily involved in
shaping the Lincolnshire Strategy, helping to identify key themes that should be
applied by all services, as set out below:
2.4.1. Behaviours had been shaped by isolation, family problems, debt, addiction, and
untreated mental ill-health.
2.4.2. Their traumatic experiences in childhood had resulted in coping strategies
associated with crime, with disastrous outcomes for themselves and others.
2.4.3. They experienced a lack of support, inadequate continuity of care and failure to
adopt mental health and trauma informed approaches.
2.4.4. Fractured or lost family relationships had heightened their need for support.
2.5. The SLP is mindful that women-specific services that are delivered in areas like
Lincolnshire (in geography and population), are lacking in in the county, to the
disadvantage of women and girls.
2.6. By signing the concordat, this will show a commitment to this work, and to making
necessary changes to organisational business plans, strategic priorities, and budgetary
allocations. For commissioners of services, it will need close inspection of service
thresholds and access that at present exclude women and girls.
2.7. The delivery of this strategy will be led by the ROCPG, and an annual report will be
produced, hosted on the PCC’s website alongside the Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy.
2.8. This concordat will ensure that all services and partners work together to support
women and girls, and will promote the delivery of the strategic priorities which should
result in:
2.8.1. Fewer women coming into the criminal justice system.
2.8.2. Fewer women in custody (especially on short term sentences) and a greater
proportion of women supported in the community successfully.
2.8.3. Better conditions for those who are in custody
2.9. Council Leaders across the South and East Lincolnshire Council’s Partnership have
been briefed on the concordat and have agreed, in principle, to sign up to it. This
report seeks agreement from members to support this proposal.
3. CONCLUSION
3.1. This report seeks to formally consult with members on a letter from the Lincolnshire PCC
inviting South Holland District Council to participate in the Lincolnshire Women’s
Concordat. This will support delivery of outcomes set out in the national and county
women’s strategies.
3.2. The report outlines that working in partnership to deliver services that women and girls
need will help to interrupt pathways that lead them into the criminal justice system.
3.3. As a partner of the SLP and the priority work streams, participation in the Women’s
Concordat is encouraged to maximise
the outcomes
Page
123 for females in Lincolnshire.

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP
The recommendation supports the aims and ambitions of the South and East Lincolnshire Council’s
Partnership in terms of working collectively, opportunities for joint commissioning, and improving
the quality of services provided to local people.
IMPLICATIONS
SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP
Each of the Sovereign Councils are committed to the concordat and therefore the South and
East Lincolnshire Council’s Partnership will demonstrate a commitment to making necessary
changes to organisational business plans, strategic priorities, and budgetary
allocations. Commissioners of services will need to closely examine service thresholds and
access to services, that at present exclude women and girls. This work will be co-ordinated as
a Partnership response across the three Councils.
CORPORATE PRIORITIES
None
STAFFING
None
CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
None
DATA PROTECTION
None
FINANCIAL
None
RISK MANAGEMENT
None
STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES
Consultation has been undertaken with the Leaders of the South and East Lincolnshire Council’s
Partnership. All lend their support to signing up to the Lincolnshire Women’s Concordat.
REPUTATION
None
CONTRACTS
None
CRIME AND DISORDER
None

Page 124

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING
The Lincolnshire Concordat is focussed on the needs of women and girls. This may be perceived as
singling out a specific group at the exclusion of others. However, whilst there are far fewer females
in contact with the criminal justice system, evidence shows that the females who are in it have a
higher prevalence of needs, including mental health issues, substance misuse issues and previous
experience of abuse and trauma. The concordat therefore aims to support these specific needs
with the services that are on offer in Lincolnshire.
HEALTH AND WELL BEING
None
CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS
None
ACRONYMS
SLP - Safer Lincolnshire Partnership
PCC- Police and Crime Commissioner
ROCPG – Reducing Offending Core Priority Group
LAT – Lincolnshire Action Trust
MOJ – Ministry of Justice
APPENDICES
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: APPENDIX A

Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy: Supporting Women and
Girls at Risk of Entering the Criminal Justice System

APPENDIX B

Female Offender Strategy 2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/femaleoffender-strategy
National Concordat on women in or at risk of contact with
the criminal justice system
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/concordaton-women-in-or-at-risk-of-contact-with-the-criminaljustice-system
Letter from Police and Crime Commissioner, Marc Jones to
Chief Executive Robert Barlow.

APPENDIX C

APPENDIX D
APPENDIX E

Lincolnshire Concordat Pledge

BACKGROUND PAPERS
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used
in the production of this report.
CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT
A report on this item has not been previously
considered
Page
125 by a Council body

REPORT APPROVAL
Report author:

Peter Hunn
Community Safety Manager
Boston Borough Council
Municipal Buildings, West Street
Boston
Lincolnshire
PE21 8QR
E-mail: Peter.Hunn@boston.gov.uk

Signed off by:

Emily Spicer
Assistant Director, Wellbeing and Community Leadership
South Holland District Council
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding
Lincolnshire
PE11 2XE
E-mail: Emily.Spicer@sholland.gov.uk

Approved for publication:

Councillor Nick Worth

Page 126

APPENDIX A

Page 127

LINCOLNSHIRE
WOMEN'S STRATEGY:
SUPPORTING WOMEN AND GIRLS
AT RISK OF ENTERING THE
CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM

LINCOLNSHIRE WOMEN'S STRATEGY

CONTENTS

Page 128

Foreword

3

Introduction

4

Women's voices

5

Services in Lincolnshire

13

Strategic priorities

14

Conclusion

26

FOREWORD

As your Police and Crime Commissioner and Co-Chair of the Safer
Lincolnshire Partnership's Overview and Scrutiny Board, I am delighted
to introduce the new Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy.
The Strategy is built on what women told us about their journeys into the
criminal justice system and about how their experiences might have been
different. All services have a role in preventing women’s violent
victimisation and traumatic experiences leading to such tragic outcomes.

Page 129

Although too often vulnerable women have had to get support from within
the criminal justice system, the best response to their needs does not lie
in that system.

Marc Jones
Police & Crime Commissioner
for Lincolnshire

The availability of community health and other services to respond to
women at the right time and in the complexity of their needs, and access
to trauma informed and supportive therapeutic practice, would do much
to prevent entry into the criminal justice system in the first place.

3

LINCOLNSHIRE WOMEN'S STRATEGY

INTRODUCTION

Page 130

The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership has used a
Ministry of Justice Women’s Community Sector
Core Costs Funding Grant, awarded to
Lincolnshire Action Trust, to create a new
Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy to facilitate the
delivery in Lincolnshire of the outcomes sought by
the Ministry of Justice’s Female Offender Strategy
2018.
The grant award said, “The purpose of the grant
funding is to stabilise the financial position of
women’s community sector organisations in
England and Wales to support the continued
availability of community-based provision for
female offenders. This provision is essential to
successful delivery of the aims and objectives of
the Government’s Female Offender Strategy,
published in June 2018.”

4

WOMEN'S VOICES

Page 131

Work on developing this strategy was informed by the voices of four
Lincolnshire women who had had experience of the criminal justice
system and who generously told us their stories. They were
interviewed confidentially by women academics from the University of
Lincoln who then summarised those stories in a meeting of the Safer
Lincolnshire Partnership’s sub-group formed to work on this strategy.
Those stories were hard to listen to because of what sub-group
members felt was the avoidable pain that the women, their families
and friends had experienced. The main themes from these interviews
were:
The women identified influences that had shaped their behaviour:
isolation, family problems, debt, addiction, and mental ill-health.
Traumatic experiences in childhood had resulted in coping
strategies associated with crime, such as shop lifting and knife
carrying.
Mental health problems had gone untreated and had exacerbated
offending behaviours.

5

WOMEN'S VOICES

There were key themes of lack of support,
inadequate continuity of care and failure to adopt
mental health informed and trauma informed
approaches.

Page 132

All four women spoke of fractured or lost
family relationships that had heightened their
need for support.
All four women reported positive things about
probation and Lincolnshire Action Trust's
women's service that probation had referred
them to. These included becoming more
hopeful and having opportunities to develop
or reshape positive identities.

6

WOMEN'S VOICES
Graduates from the University of Lincoln worked with the group
to create a short animation that captures the women's stories.
Watch the animation here.

Page 133
7

LUCY'S STORY
LATER
OFFENDING

CHILDHOOD
Large family with
low income.

Imprisoned
again.

Drugs related
offences.

Page 134

Shoplifting
became
impulsive habit.

Imprisoned in
adulthood with
little access to
support.

Manipulated by
someone she
knew during
this period and
she began
delivering
drugs.

CRIMINAL
JUSTICE

SUPPORT
Life changing
support from
probation and
Lincolnshire
Action Trust
after release.

OUTCOME
Mother died.
Poor health.
Loss of employment.

Desistance
from crime.

8

TEGAN'S STORY
Imprisoned and separated from child.
Frightening experience.

CHILDHOOD

Page 135

Arrested for
violent offending
against
perpetrator.
Traumatic
experience.

Domestic abuse
and siblings with
mental health
support needs.

CRIMINAL
JUSTICE

VICTIMISATION

Raped by boyfriend.
Perpetrator not prosecuted.
Felt disbelieved.

SUPPORT
Additional
support from
probation and
Lincolnshire
Action Trust
after release.
She felt heard.

OUTCOME
Substance use as
coping mechanism for
post-traumatic stress
disorder.

Mental health support
obtained.

9

KARLA'S STORY
CRIMINAL
JUSTICE

CHILDHOOD

Page 136

Describes as
unproblematic.

Mental health
support needs.

VICTIMISATION

Domestic
violence from
partner.
Miscarriage.
No support
provided.

Unable to get
sufficient
support.

Assaulted
partner.
Compliant with
arrest and was
terrified by
situation.
Sentenced to
Community
Service.

Suicidal.
Relocated to Lincolnshire
with children. Housed in a
“terrifying” hostel.

OUTCOME
Enjoyed community service and
support provided by probation
and Lincolnshire Action Trust.

10

HANNAH'S STORY
Imprisoned.
Lost job and home.

CHILDHOOD

Page 137

In care at age of 13
with multiple
placements.
Negative peer
influences.

VICTIMISATION

2 year delay
in court case.
New job and
was settled.

CRIMINAL
JUSTICE

Raped but no
prosecution of
perpetrator.

Released on
home detention
curfew but bailed
to family home.
Altercation and
recalled to prison.
Released and
housed in
“terrifying” hostel.

OUTCOME
Debt issues.
Lost job as a carer.

Excellent support from Lincolnshire
Action Trust on release and now in
settled accommodation and relationship
but requires ongoing support.

11

Some suggestions had emerged from the
interviews:

Page 138

The clear need for earlier intervention.
The need for continued possibilities for
support rather than support being cut off
through the time-limiting of interventions.
Support around positive identity and of
wishing to build up a positive identity.
Where they had had such support, it had
been beneficial.
Support needed to take place earlier rather
than being attached to the criminal justice
system and should be centred around
welcoming and safe groups in women only
spaces.
The positive impact of peer support with
women learning from each other.
The power of the lived experience stories
from the criminal justice system in terms of
peer support and the need to explain the
later consequences of crime.
The importance of the type of
accommodation made available after
custody to reflect the individual needs of
women. Some accommodation that women
had been required to live in had led to retraumatising experiences.

The key messages received by the Safer
Lincolnshire Partnership’s sub-group
working on the strategy were:
The importance of support. It was sad that
the women said that they had received
effective support only within the criminal
justice system. A lot of women did not feel
safe in the world and simply needed a
safety net.
A key issue was the need to promote
positive identities as early as possible.
Support was also vital, but this was not just
mental health support but should include
peer support, coaching, mentoring and
kindness. All these would help women build
positive identities. They were activities that
should be integrated with mental health
services.
Services should be trauma informed from
day one.
The women’s positive feedback about probation
had occurred when the women had worked with
a Lincolnshire Action Trust's women’s service.
This had reinforced the lessons of broader
research which had indicated that third sector
interventions were preferred to mainstream
service provision.

12

SERVICES IN
LINCOLNSHIRE

Page 139

The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership is aware that
women-specific services found in other areas (even
those similar in geography and population) are
absent in Lincolnshire, to the detriment of women
and girls in the county. It has decided to find a way
forward by supporting community and other services
to build capacity in working with women and girls.

13

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES
The strategic priorities that constitute this strategy
are:

Page 140

It is for all women and girls.
Women centred.
Supported by a sustainable women’s centre service.
Focussed on early intervention.
Accepting of the complexity of women’s needs.
Diversion away from the criminal justice system
should take place whenever possible.
A Whole System Approach.
Trauma informed practice.
Based on a Lincolnshire Concordat reflecting the
national Concordat on women in or at risk of contact
with the Criminal Justice System.

The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership will also adopt the
National Probation Service Action Plan covering building
a whole system approach, reducing the use of prison
sentences under 12 months, and improving the journey
through the criminal justice system.

14

THE LINCOLNSHIRE WOMEN’S STRATEGY IS FOR
ALL WOMEN AND GIRLS

The Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy is for all women and girls in Lincolnshire, not only those in the
criminal justice system. This is because many women in the criminal justice system have themselves
previously been victims of crime and continue to be at risk of male violence when they leave the system.
Those with mental ill health, personality disorder and learning disability may not have had access to
appropriately designed services. If those services had been in place for them, the path that led to their
entry into the criminal justice system could have been interrupted.

Page 141

Many women in prison have been victims of much more serious offences than the ones they are accused
of, with research indicating that women’s exposure to physical, emotional and sexual abuse, including
coercive control, is for many a driver of their offending. A key difference between women and men in
prison is that family relationships tend to be a protective factor for men but, for women, relationships are
often a risk factor. Baroness Corston’s study of women in the criminal justice system 2007 found that
coercion by male partners and relatives is a distinct route into criminality and prison for some women.
The co-existence of victimisation and offending is now better recognised, but the links between them are
still not well understood by all agencies. There has been some progress both in tackling violence and
abuse against women and girls, and in the treatment of victims in the criminal justice system.
Improvements in the police response and in aspects of the court process should lead to benefits for
women offenders affected by domestic abuse, but challenges remain.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY 1

15

SERVICES USED BY WOMEN AND
GIRLS SHOULD BE WOMEN CENTRED
Experience elsewhere has shown the importance of a women’s centre
service to provide a women and girl friendly space in which services can
be delivered.

Page 142

The evidence from research considered by the Safer Lincolnshire
Partnership is that women at risk respond more effectively if services
are women centred – that is, services should be:
Gender informed - women-only, run by women for women.
Trauma informed (see Strategic Priority 8).
Delivered by voluntary sector organisations wherever possible.
Wrap around: accepting of the complexity of women’s needs and
providing support that extends to all aspects of the woman’s life and
with sufficient time to create trusting relationships. This means
understanding the need for more than one service being required for
women, perhaps in conjunction with other services at the same time
or sequencing the services. This will often be helped by navigator
practitioners who are able to use appropriate psychological tools to
support the relationship.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY 2

16

SERVICES FOR WOMEN AND GIRLS SHOULD BE
SUPPORTED BY A SUSTAINABLE WOMEN’S CENTRE
The evidence indicates that the existence of a women’s centre would support agencies’ achievement of the
other strategic priorities of the strategy, in particular, the creation of a supportive women only space as a
base for services. The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership has agreed:

Page 143

This should not be seen fundamentally as a charitable exercise: women’s centres work best when there
is buy-in from statutory agencies.
Effective women’s centres elsewhere have benefitted from statutory agencies’ applications for central
government tenders including women’s centres as part of a holistic approach.
An effective women’s centre strategy would be about any women at risk – not just those in the criminal
justice system.
The aim should be to interrupt the pathways that are currently leading women and girls into the criminal
justice system by fixing issues that had prevented them from accessing services at earlier stages in their
lives.
Women’s voices should be used to shape the service. Where, for example, they have tried but failed to
access support.
A women’s centre would also have a role in the response to women post sentence, especially following
release from prison.
The need for a women’s centre is especially apparent in preparation for women’s release from prison. It is
important to be informed in good time when a woman or girl with a Lincolnshire address is to be released
from custody in order to engage with them well in advance. This will enable appropriate responses to the
complexity of women’s lives, for experience the needs of their children.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY 3

17

Page 144

Lincolnshire is behind other areas in the
provision of women’s centre services. One
important consideration, therefore, is where
a Lincolnshire women’s centre project
should start. The Safer Lincolnshire
Partnership believes that it would be best to
start on a small scale at grass roots level by
helping existing generic services to grow
their capacity.
The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership also
believes in the importance of sustainable
funding. The leaders of front-line
organisations are often preoccupied with
bidding for funding to the extent of being
drawn away from engagement with service
users. Sustainable funding is therefore a
key objective of the Lincolnshire Women’s
Strategy.

The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership has
adopted the following definition of a
woman’s centre:
Women's Centres are independent specialist
community support services.They only serve
women, in recognition of the well-evidenced
need for gender-specific interventions. Centres
provide holistic, woman-centred, traumainformed services in safe, women-only spaces.
The aim is to help all women to gain the skills
and confidence to become more independent
and reach their full potential. Many provide
access to specialist advocacy, advice and
support on housing, substance misuse, mental
and physical health, employment, debt,
domestic abuse and family and parenting
issues. This can be through in-house specialist
staff and through partnerships with other
agencies.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY 3

18

SERVICES SHOULD ADOPT EARLY INTERVENTION TO
PREVENT INVOLVEMENT IN THE CRIMINAL JUSTICE
SYSTEM

Page 145

The peak age for women offending is 15, in
stark contrast to men whose peak age is
23. This strongly suggests that providing
new services for girls experiencing or likely
to experience adverse childhood
experiences (ACE), or building capacity in
existing services, could have profound
benefits for girls and their families. It could
also interrupt pathways into the criminal
justice system at the earliest opportunity,
using services unconnected with the
criminal justice system: education, health,
and children services.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY 4

19

SERVICES SHOULD ACCEPT WOMEN’S AND GIRLS’
COMPLEX NEEDS AND NOT USE COMPLEXITY AS A
REASON TO REJECT THEM

Page 146

Women and girls at risk of entering the
criminal justice system typically present with
complex needs. That is, they often have two
or more needs affecting their physical,
mental, social or financial wellbeing. Too
often women have been rejected by services
because their needs are complex. This
strategic priority means that Lincolnshire
services now agree to hold women service
users in engagement with services and to
respond holistically to their needs.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY 5

20

SERVICES SHOULD COMMIT TO DIVERTING WOMEN
AND GIRLS FROM THE CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM

Page 147

Criminal justice outcomes can be especially damaging for
women. Although women constitute less than 5% of people in
prison, they account for over 19% of self-harm incidents, an
indication of the traumatic impact of imprisonment on many.
Women entering prison are more likely to have been
imprisoned for non-violent offences. Women in prison are highly
likely to be victims as well as offenders. Over half the women in
prison report having suffered domestic violence with 53% of
women reporting having experienced emotional, physical or
sexual abuse as a child. Women in prison are more than twice
as likely as men to say they have committed offences to
support someone else’s drug use as well as their own. Many
have histories indicative of brain injury and for most this is
caused by domestic violence. Many of women in prison have
dependent children – nationally, an estimated 17,000 children
are separated from their mothers by imprisonment every year.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY 6

21

Many women who are imprisoned receive short prison
sentences. These are highly damaging and do not allow for any
effective work. Around 77% receive sentences of under 12
months. HMP Peterborough (where Lincolnshire women first go
when remanded or sentenced to imprisonment) recently
reported that the average length of stay for a woman was 21
days. Such sentences do not allow sufficient time for any
rehabilitative work to be completed in custody. Access to
programmes and interventions are prioritised for those on
longer term sentences.

Page 148

The Criminal Justice Liaison and Diversion service run by
Lincolnshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust and
Lincolnshire Action Trust is in every Lincolnshire police custody
suite. It offers the opportunity of diverting vulnerable women
and girls away from the criminal justice centre at the earliest
stage. The problem is that there are so few appropriate services
and even fewer that provide the women centred care that the
Safer Lincolnshire Partnership regards as essential for
effectiveness.
It is for these reasons that the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership
will be renewing its efforts to keep women and girls out of
custody by diverting away from the criminal justice system
whenever possible.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY 6

22

A LINCOLNSHIRE WHOLE
SYSTEM APPROACH

Page 149

The aim of a whole system approach is to assess
women’s needs at their first contact with the criminal
justice system, and to provide gender responsive,
multi-agency support throughout their justice journeys
or diversion from the criminal justice system. The
intention is to use existing resources differently to
target support more effectively, avoiding gaps or
duplication in service provision, and supporting
women to access provision. But the Lincolnshire
model in addition also involves all stakeholders
outside the criminal justice system working to ensure
their services stop women and girls entering the
criminal justice system or facilitating their exit from
the system.
The Lincolnshire whole system approach will divert
women away from the criminal justice system,
whenever possible. It means investment in upstream
services even though savings may take place
elsewhere.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY 7

23

LINCOLNSHIRE TRAUMA INFORMED SERVICES
Understanding of trauma has increased significantly along with a growing recognition of
the role services can play in perpetuating trauma, inadvertently causing further harm to
some of the most vulnerable people they work with. Understanding the impact of trauma
on women is therefore vital for providing effective services.

Page 150

The current understanding of the impact of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) on
women will also be taken into account by Lincolnshire services. These are the more
everyday traumas that can be overlooked (for example, parental divorce and parents
who abuse alcohol). Women who score four or more ACEs have significantly poorer
health outcomes in adult life. Women in prison frequently score four or more ACEs. This
reinforces the importance of health commissioners’ support for the Concordat (see
Strategic Priority 9).
Trauma-informed services create a culture of thoughtfulness and communication,
continuously doing their best to learn about, and adapt to, the different and changing
needs of the individuals they work with. In order to do this, it is crucial that services are
willing and able to engage with complexity. As a result, trauma-informed care is most
usefully defined in terms of ongoing processes, approaches and values, rather than fixed
procedures.
There are in addition various touch points prior to contact with the criminal justice
system, for example, GP surgeries, midwives, and dentists. All organisations likely to
come into contact with vulnerable women have a role to play in identifying concerns and
referring.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY 8

24

LINCOLNSHIRE CONCORDAT

Page 151

The national Concordat on women in or at risk of contact
with the Criminal Justice System sets out how
Government and other partners should work together to
identify and respond to the needs of women. The
Concordat aims to encourage partnerships at both the
national and local level. It is not intended to replace
current arrangements, where these are working well, but
rather to build on them to improve existing support to
women. Accordingly, the agreement in Lincolnshire is for
the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership, under the leadership
of the PCC, to drive forward the Lincolnshire Women’s
Strategy.
The Lincolnshire Concordat differs from the national
Concordat in one important respect. The latter only
considers the needs of adult women and does not
include the youth justice system unless explicitly stated.
The Lincolnshire Concordat, however, recognises that
peak offending for girls takes place at the early age of 15
and reflects concern that teenage girls’ mental health
and other needs should be addressed urgently.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY 9

25

CONCLUSION
Page 152

By participating in the Concordat, Lincolnshire
agencies have agreed to work together to identify and
respond to the needs of women. This will mean
changes to agencies’ 2021-22 business plans and
strategic priorities in order to prevent women and girls
entering the criminal justice system by ensuring that
they have access to the services they need, at the
times in their lives when those services will have the
biggest impact and in ways that women themselves
have told us will make a difference.

26

Page 153

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX D

Deepdale Lane, Nettleham, Lincoln LN2 2LT
Telephone (01522) 947192 Fax (01522) 558739
E-Mail: lincolnshire-pcc@lincs.pnn.police.uk Website: www.lincolnshire-pcc.gov.uk

Our Ref: 2021-1049 20210924 ET Robert Barlow re Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy
By email to:
Robert Barlow

Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy: Supporting Women and Girls at Risk of Entering the Criminal Justice
System

Dear CX Barlow
As your Police and Crime Commissioner and Co-Chair of the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership’s Overview and
Scrutiny Board, I am delighted to introduce the new Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy and invite you to
participate in the Lincolnshire Concordat.

Background
The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership has developed a new Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy to deliver the
outcomes sought by the Ministry of Justice’s Female Offender Strategy 2018.
The Ministry of Justice has led on a national Concordat on Women at risk of contact with the Criminal Justice
System, which sets out how partners should work together at national and local levels to identify and respond
to the needs of women. The national Concordat encourages partnerships at national and local level. It is not
intended to replace current arrangements, where these are working well, but rather to build on them to
improve existing support to women. Accordingly, the agreement in Lincolnshire is for the Safer Lincolnshire
Partnership, under my leadership, to drive forward the Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy to deliver better
outcomes for women and girls.
Partners involved in the work so far have agreed that we should have a Lincolnshire Concordat to drive
delivery of the Lincolnshire Women’s strategy.

The aim is for all services and agencies to unite to interrupt the pathways that currently lead women
into the criminal justice system by delivering the services they need in ways they have told us works
for them.

We know this because the Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy is based on what women, who had just left the
criminal justice system, told us would have made a difference to their lives. The women’s stories were

Page 155

1

incredibly hard to listen to because of the avoidable pain that they, their families, and their friends had
experienced. But it is thanks to their bravery in sharing these stories - alongside research - that helped us to
identify the key themes that should be applied by all services.

The main themes:
•

Behaviours had been shaped by isolation, family problems, debt, addiction, and untreated mental illhealth.

•

Their traumatic experiences in childhood had resulted in coping strategies associated with crime, with
disastrous outcomes for themselves and others.

•

They experienced a lack of support, inadequate continuity of care and failure to adopt mental health
and trauma informed approaches.

•

Fractured or lost family relationships had heightened their need for support.

The key messages are:
•

The importance of support.
The women told us that they had only received positive support within the criminal justice system
itself – they had simply been ignored by existing services.

•

Support was vital.
Support helped women build positive identities. This was not only mental health support, but also
peer support, coaching, mentoring and kindness; activities which should be integrated within mental
health services.

•

Services should be trauma informed from day one.

•

The importance of third sector interventions.
The women’s experiences told us that third sector interventions were preferred to mainstream service
provision - reinforcing the lessons of much broader research.

Services in Lincolnshire
The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership is aware that women-specific services found in other areas - even those
similar in geography and population - are absent in Lincolnshire, to the detriment of women and girls in the
county. I want us to build capacity in working with women and girls. We must not let this needless suffering
go on.
A recent report by Lankelly Chase, “Gender Matters” identified four needs that most significantly
disadvantaged women, namely: homelessness, substance misuse, poor mental health, and violence and
abuse. The report estimated that each year around 17,000 adults in England experienced all four of these
needs, 70% of them women. Women who have had contact with the criminal justice system were much more
likely to report experience of each of these primary needs than men - most notedly being the victims of
violence and abuse. It is wrong that women who have suffered such issues should end up in the criminal
justice system, often for offences that were less serious than those for which they themselves had been
victims.

The Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy also recognises the shocking fact that peak female offending is at the
age of 15 (peak male offending is at 23) and reflects my concern that teenage girls’ mental health and other
needs must be addressed urgently.

Page 156

2

The Lincolnshire Concordat
I hope that you will be able to join with me in signing the Lincolnshire Concordat attached to your
email.
I must make clear that this is not a request for an empty gesture of support. Commitment to the Lincolnshire
Concordat will mean changes to our organisations’ business plans, strategic priorities, and budgetary
allocations. For commissioners, it will require close examination of service thresholds and access that
currently exclude women and girls as exhibiting too much complexity and thereby leaving the criminal justice
system to do too little too late.
Please complete the Lincolnshire Concordat and return to me at lincolnshire-pcc@lincs.pnn.police.uk
The Lincolnshire Concordat webpage, complete with all signatories can be found at https://lincolnshirepcc.gov.uk/transparency/lincolnshire-womens-strategy/lincolnshire-concordat

Taking the work forward
The delivery of the Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy is being led by SLP Reducing Offending Core Priority
Group. Any service lead or commissioner not already a member of the Core Priority Group is welcome to
attend. The national Concordat says, “We will produce a report a year after publication on how we have
delivered on this commitment.” This means that we will have to report progress on delivery in December this
year. Your close personal involvement will be vital.
Given the urgency, I should be grateful for a response to this letter by 19 October 2021. And if it would
be helpful for you to have support for any internal Board or other senior discussion then we should be
pleased to provide this.

Yours sincerely

Marc Jones
Police and Crime Commissioner for Lincolnshire

Page 157

3

Page 158

4

APPENDIX E

LINCOLNSHIRE CONCORDAT

We commit to work together to improve outcomes for Lincolnshire women and girls at risk of
entering or who have already entered the criminal justice sector. These women and girls, often
with multiple and complex needs, include some of the most vulnerable in our county. We will
work together to address their needs, preventing trauma from happening or promoting recovery if
trauma has been experienced already. In so doing we will apply the principles of the Lincolnshire
Women’s Strategy in the provision and commissioning of all services in Lincolnshire. We will
make sure that all our services and partners, including the voluntary sector, work together to
support women and girls. We will promote the delivery of the strategic priorities of the Ministry of
Justice Female Offender Strategy, which should result in:
fewer women coming into the criminal justice system.
fewer women in custody (especially on short-term sentences) and a greater proportion of
women supported in the community successfully.
better conditions for those who are in custody.
As part of our commitment we agree to report, when required by the signatories of the National
Concordat and then on an annual basis, the steps we have taken and for that information to be
available alongside the Lincolnshire Women's Strategy, which will be hosted on the Lincolnshire
Police and Crime Commissioners website.

N A ME

ORGANISATION

SIGNATURE

Page 159

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Assistant Director - Regulatory

To:

Cabinet, 14th December 2021

(Author:

Donna Hall Head of Public Protection)

Subject

Corporate Enforcement Policy

Purpose:

To seek approval of a revised corporate Enforcement Policy

Recommendations:
1) That the revised Corporate Enforcement Policy be considered and approved by Cabinet
2) That the Head of Public Protection and the Assistant Director Regulatory be given delegated
authority to make such amendments to this policy as may from time to time be required in
order to (i) reference any links or amended links to other documents as may be required; and
(ii) reflect any issues over which the Council has no discretion including, but not limited to,
references to any legislative changes and amended guidance. Any material amendments to
the policy will be subject to the usual approval process in line with the Constitution.
3) That all Service Managers responsible for enforcement action under this policy be given
delegated authority to take, in exceptional circumstances, such action in departure from any
part of this policy as they consider appropriate subject to (i) the reasons for such departure
being documented; and (ii) consultation with the relevant portfolio holder or Committee
Chairman.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

The Council is responsible for enforcing a wide range of legislation, with powers of
enforcement usually delegated to individual officers in the various service areas concerned.
The decision to take (or not take) enforcement action is a serious one that may have
implications for all involved. It is therefore important that there is a policy in place that
ensures fairness, openness, and consistency.

1.2

Regulatory activities can take different forms including:
• Inspecting premises, processes, equipment, vehicles, products
• Investigating complaints about individuals and business
• Providing advice about how to comply with the law
• Taking action at Licensing Panels or undertaking Licensing Reviews
• Issuing fixed penalty notices, statutory notices or taking prosecutions

1.3

Cabinet approved a revised Enforcement Policy in May 2018 which was significantly
updated at that time to reflect the national Regulators’ Code. The policy has now been
refreshed as part of a three-yearly review.

Page 161

1.4

The Regulators’ Code remains in place but has not been updated since it came into
statutory effect in 2014. It provides a clear flexible and principles-based framework for how
regulators should engage with those they regulate. The Code however does not apply to
the Town and Country Planning Act nor building regulation enforcement. The principles of
the Code however are adopted through this policy across all areas. The revised policy
continues to reflect these principles, which we are required to have regard to when
developing policies and procedures that guide our regulatory activities.

1.5

The policy has been reviewed and updated in consultation with the following departments:
Legal; Communities; Housing; Environmental Services; Public Protection; Revenue and
Benefits; Planning and Building Control; Finance.

1.6

The amendments and additions to the policy are highlighted in yellow in the draft policy,
which is attached at Appendix A to this report. In summary, there are no changes to the
principles of the policy, but the following inclusions are being proposed:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Footnotes and hyperlinks now included
Scope of the policy extended to include a deviation clause (section 3)
Updated legislation for investigations (section 5)
Reference to offence of obstruction (section 5.1)
New section on training and appointment of officers (section 5.3)
Further information on the refusal, suspension and revocation of licences (section 6.1 h)
New section on Proceeds of Crime Act (section 6.1 i)
New section on safeguarding (section 7.0)

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

Approve the revised Enforcement Policy and agree the recommended delegations

2.2

Approve the revised Enforcement Policy without the recommended delegations

2.3

Do nothing and retain the previous 2018 version of the policy.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

To ensure legal compliance and best practice, it is recommended that the policy is
approved and the recommended delegations are agreed.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

The revised policy sets out the standards that will be applied across the Council when
acting in its role as regulator. It also sets out what residents, businesses and workers can
expect from South Holland.

4.2

The adoption of the revised policy helps to ensure that officers undertaking regulatory work
will do so in a consistent and transparent way and in accordance with legal requirements.

Page 162

4.3

An enforcement policy helps the Council to demonstrate it is working in accordance with
the Regulators’ Code and reduces the risk of challenge in the courts.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales;
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1

Constitutional & Legal

5.1.1

The revised policy has been considered by Legal Services

5.1.2

Under the terms of the Constitution approval of this policy is a Cabinet function

5.2

Corporate Priorities

5.2.1

Enforcement supports the following Council priorities:
• Your Home;
• Your Place;
• Your Health and Wellbeing;
• Your Opportunity;
• Our Council.

5.3

Crime and Disorder

5.3.1

The report outlines the Councils approach to tackling crime and disorder. There are no
implications arising from this report.

5.4

Data Protection

5.4.1 Data protection requirements and principles have been addressed within the policy,
including the sharing of information with other agencies.
5.5

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.5.1

The proposed amendments to the policy do not give rise to any equality, diversity, or
human rights implications.

5.6

Health & Wellbeing

5.6.1

This report supports the regulatory work undertaken by the Council to promote health and
wellbeing of residents, visitors and workers.

5.7

Reputation

Page 163

5.7.1

The adoption of the revised policy supports the Council’s approach to regulatory activity as
being fair and proportionate, promoting a positive image of the Council and reducing the
risk of reputational damage.

5.8

Risk Management

5.8.1

The adoption of the revised policy and adherence by officers should reduce the risk of the
Council being open to legal challenge or judicial review.

5.9

Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

5.9.1

The policy has been revised following consultation with all service areas involved in
regulatory work. The original policy was open to public and stakeholder consultation prior to
it being adopted by Cabinet.

5.9.2

The Policy Development Panel (PDP) have considered the policy

5.9.3

Public consultation on the amended policy was not considered appropriate as the
amendments are not material.

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

All wards and communities within South Holland

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Donna Hall Head of Public Protection
Donna.Hall@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

N

Exempt Decision:

N

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Draft Revised Corporate Enforcement Policy

Page 164

Corporate Enforcement
Policy

Authorised by South Holland Cabinet: 29/5/18
Reviewed and Updated: October 2021
Authorised by South Holland Cabinet:

Page 165

Table of Contents
Section
1.0
1.1
1.2
1.3
2.0
3.0
4.0
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
5.0
5.1
5.2
5.3
6.0
6.1
6.2
6.2
7.0
8.0
9.0
10.0

Introduction
Principles of Good Regulation
Statute and Guidance
Policy Status
Purpose of this Policy
Scope of the Policy
Non-Compliance
Approach to Dealing with Non-Compliance
How Action is Determined
Factors that Influence our Response to Breaches
Approach to Complaints Regarding Non-Compliance
Conduct of Investigations
Powers of Authorised Officers
Progress of Investigations
Training and Appointment of Officers
Decisions on Enforcement Action
Range of Actions Available
How Decisions are Made on Enforcement Action
How Decisions are Communicated
Safeguarding
Information Sharing
Review of this Policy
Comments and Complaints

Page
3
3
4
5
5
6
6
6
7
8
8
8
9
10
10
10
10
14
14
14
15
15
15

Policy Updates
First Approval
Review
Consideration
Approval

South Holland Cabinet
Led by Head of Public Protection. Managers of
Enforcement services consulted.
Policy Development Panel
South Holland Cabinet

29/5/2018
Sept/Oct
2021

2

Page 166

South Holland District Council
Enforcement Policy
1.0 Introduction
The Council carries out a wide range of regulatory roles in meeting its many statutory
duties of protecting the public, individuals and the environment.
These duties are met by carrying out a range of activities, including carrying out
programmed inspections of premises, responding to complaints, issuing licences and
offering advice. This Policy outlines the approach it takes when considering enforcement
action.
This policy is an overarching policy that applies to all the Council’s Services with
enforcement duties, although it should be noted that some services also have more specific
enforcement requirements, as defined by specific legislative guidance and regulations.
The appropriate use of the full range of enforcement powers, including prosecution, is
important, both to secure compliance with the law and to ensure that those who have
duties under it are held to account for failures to safeguard health, safety, welfare and
environment or breach of regulations enforced by the Council.
In deciding on the most appropriate course of action officers should have regard to the
principles set out in this policy and the need to maintain a balance between enforcement
and other activities, including inspection, advice and education.

1.1 Principles of Good Regulation
Regulatory activities undertaken by the Council will be exercised in a way that are:
i.

Proportionate – activities will reflect the level of risk to the public and enforcement
action taken will relate to the seriousness of the offence;

ii.

Accountable – activities will be open to public scrutiny, with clear and accessible
policies, and fair and efficient complaints procedures;

iii.

Consistent – advice given to those regulated will be robust and reliable and officers
will respect advice provided by other regulators. The Council shall seek to ensure
consistency of enforcement; however the Council realises that consistency is not a
simple matter of uniformity. Officers will need to exercise their professional
judgement and discretion according to the circumstances of each individual case
3

Page 167

and the relevant responsibilities and intervention systems maintained by the
Council;
iv.

Transparent – Officers will ensure that those they regulate are able to understand
what is expected of them and what they can anticipate in return, and

v.

Targeted – Resources will be focused on higher risk enterprises and activities,
reflecting local need and national priorities and where the Council believes its
efforts are able to have an impact.

1.2 Statute and Guidance
The Council will have consideration to the following as appropriate:
a)

Regulators’ Code1

The Council has had regard to the Regulators’ Code made under section 23 of the
Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 in the preparation of this policy. In certain
instances it may conclude that a provision in the Code is either not relevant or is
outweighed by another provision. Where statutory guidance and legislation specifies the
action to be taken this legislation takes precedence.
b)

Human Rights Act 1998

The Council is a public authority for the purposes of the Human Rights Act 1998. It
therefore applies the principles of the European Convention for the Protection of Human
Rights and Fundamental Freedoms. This Policy and all associated enforcement decisions
take account of the provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998. In particular, due regard is
had to the right to a fair trial and the right to respect for private and family life, home and
correspondence.
c)

General Data Protection Regulation and Data Protection Act 2018

Officers will comply with all relevant data protection laws and any associated statutes,
regulations and guidance.
d)

The Code for Crown Prosecutors

2

When deciding whether to institute criminal proceedings the Council has regard to the
provisions of The Code for Crown Prosecutors as issued by the Director of Public
Prosecutions.
The Code for Crown Prosecutors is a public document that sets out the general principles
to follow when decisions are made in respect of prosecuting cases. The Code sets out two
1

The Regulators' Code which came into statutory effect in 2014 provides a clear, flexible and principlesbased framework for how regulators should engage with those they regulate.
2

The Code for Crown Prosecutors as issued by the Director of Public Prosecutions sets out the general
principles to follow when investigating and making decisions in prosecution cases.

4

Page 168

tests that must be satisfied commonly referred to as the ‘Evidential Test’ and the ‘Public
Interest Test’:
(i)
Evidential Test - is there enough evidence against the defendant? When deciding
whether there is enough evidence to prosecute, the Council will consider what evidence
can be used in court and is reliable. It must be satisfied there is enough evidence to provide
a "realistic prospect of conviction" against each alleged offender.
(ii)
Public Interest Test - is it in the public interest for the case to be brought to court?
The Council will balance factors for and against prosecution carefully and fairly, considering
each case on its merits. The public interest factors that we will take into account are
detailed under the enforcement options available to us in Section 6.
e)

Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008

The Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008, as amended, established Primary
Authority Partnerships3. The Council will comply with the requirements of the Act when it
is considering taking enforcement action against business or organisation that has a
Primary Authority Partnership, and will have regard to guidance issued by the Secretary of
State in relation to Primary Authority.

1.3 Policy Status
This Policy was first approved at the Cabinet meeting of South Holland District Council on
29 May 2018, following an open public consultation between 9 and 23 March 2018.

2.0 Purpose of this Policy
One of the functions of the Council is to act as a regulator and an enforcement agency for
a large range of legal duties and powers applied by Acts of Parliament and the Regulations
and Orders made under them (including various byelaws).
This policy sets out standards that will be applied across the Council when acting in its role
as regulator and enforcement agency and what residents, businesses, consumers, and
workers can expect from the Council.
It is supplemented in some cases by more specific and detailed service-based procedures.
These procedures also set out the approach to be followed by authorised officers when
making decisions in respect of the Council’s compliance and enforcement activities. The
Council is committed to ensuring that all authorised officers will act in accordance with this
policy.

3

Primary Authority Partnership is a scheme which enables businesses to form a legal partnership with a
local authority regulator, and receive advice which other local regulators must respect.

5

Page 169

3.0 Scope of the Policy
This policy is the overarching enforcement policy for the Council. It outlines the approach
to enforcement and lays down the principles that will be followed in deciding upon and
taking action.
Enforcement includes any criminal or civil action taken by the Council aimed at ensuring
that individuals or businesses comply with the law.
This policy has been set in accordance with the Regulators’ Code. This means that the
Council will be open, helpful, fair and careful to ensure that any action required by the
Council is proportionate to the risks.
Council services will work with and consult other agencies, and other service areas within
the Council, as necessary, where there is a shared or complementary enforcement role.
Officers will take reasonable steps to assist businesses and individuals to comply with the
law. However officers will be prepared to ensure compliance by exercising the formal
powers delegated to them in the Council's Scheme of Delegation including, where
appropriate, prosecution.
In certain circumstances the Council will seek to raise awareness and increase compliance
levels by publicising unlawful trade practices or criminal activity. Where appropriate the
results of specific hearings or court cases may also be published, and consideration will be
given to the Publicising Sentencing Outcomes Guidance4 for public authorities on
publicising information (including via the internet) about individual sentencing outcomes
within the current legal framework.
In exceptional circumstances it may be necessary for Officers to deviate from this policy.
Where this is justifiable the decision will be taken by a Senior Manager and reasons for
doing so will be fully documented.

4.0 Non-Compliance
4.1 Approach to Dealing with Non-Compliance
An open, fair and proportionate approach will be taken in dealing with breaches of
legislation that are regulated and enforced by the Council. Raising awareness and
promoting good practice in regulated areas is the first step in preventing breaches, and
officers of the Council will signpost to guidance on aspects of the law where requested to
do so.
Best efforts will be used to resolve any issues where the law may have been broken without
taking formal action, or referring the matter to the courts when the circumstances indicate
4

The Publicising Sentencing Outcomes guidance sets Government policy that all criminal justice services
be open, transparent and accountable. It states that there should be a presumption in favour of the police,
local authorities and other relevant criminal justice agencies publicising outcomes of criminal cases and
basic personal information about convicted offenders.

6

Page 170

that a minor offence may have been committed and the Council is confident that
appropriate corrective action will be taken.
However, there may be occasions when the breach is considered to be serious and/or
where informal action is not appropriate. In such cases, immediate enforcement action
may be taken without prior notice and, as noted above, some services have specific
legislative guidance and regulations that set out the enforcement requirements in these
services.
Advice regarding the non-compliance, the actions required and decisions taken at the time
of the intervention, along with the reasons for these will be clearly explained. An
opportunity to discuss the Council’s course of action will be provided to ensure actions are
proportionate and consistent. As stated in the previous paragraph, where immediate
enforcement action is required, the opportunity for discussion may not be given where
there is a serious breach or public health or safety is at risk.
Officers investigate potential breaches of legislation and they are responsible for managing
investigations and making decisions on enforcement action. As part of this process, they
may consult with colleagues and managers in determining the best and most appropriate
course of action. Officers have the power to use a variety of legislation in the course of
their duties, and these have been delegated to them in accordance with the Council’s
Scheme of Delegation. In relation to prosecutions, where relevant, officers’ cases are
reviewed by a service manager and approved following a case conference involving key
officers, as defined in the Scheme of Delegation.
In some instances, the Council may have shared responsibilities or a complementary role
with another enforcement agency. In these circumstances, officers will liaise with that
other agency to ensure effective co- ordination, to avoid inconsistencies and to ensure that
any proceedings taken are proportionate and appropriate.
The Council will be fair, objective and consistent in its approach to enforcement by
following the criteria and guidance set down in relevant legislation and codes of practice.
The Council may publicise information about enforcement action in line with the Criminal
Justice System document entitled ‘Publicising Sentencing Outcomes’. This will usually occur
once an investigation has been brought to a conclusion via a successful prosecution in
Court. Any news releases of this nature are normally sent electronically by the
Communications Team to newspapers and broadcast media to use in their news bulletins.
Such information may also be publicised on the Council’s website and via other social
media.

4.2 How Action is Determined
Where evidence is found that a business or other regulated person is showing flagrant
disregard for the law by deliberately or persistently failing to comply with advice or
requests made by the Council, it may be deemed that informal action is not appropriate.
7

Page 171

Under these circumstances enforcement action may be escalated directly to prosecution
or other more severe sanctions where available.
Where there is specific legislative guidance and regulations that set out the enforcement
requirements these will be followed.
Where a business or other regulated person contacts the Council to ask for advice and it
transpires that a breach of legislation is present at the premises, the most appropriate
course of action will be determined based on the factors outlined in section 6 below.
If it is clear that the business or regulated person is keen to resolve the non- compliance
quickly, taking on board and completing the steps recommended by the Council, an
informal approach is likely to be taken as opposed to triggering enforcement action.
However, if there is a serious breach and/or there is an imminent risk to public health or
safety, enforcement action may still have to be taken but the Council will seek to work with
the business or regulated person to resolve the problem as quickly as possible.

4.3 Factors that Influence our Response to Breaches
Where a breach of legislation is being investigated the approach taken will be
proportionate and will take into account factors such as business size and capacity.
If the Council has provided advice or guidance to a business or regulated person, officers
will make the necessary checks to ensure that, where this relates to a legal requirement
rather than best practice, the non-compliance has been rectified.
The Council may receive referrals from other enforcement bodies that require
investigation. These referrals will typically be as a result of the other bodies’ inspections or
investigations, or intelligence that they have received. The Council will also refer to other
enforcement bodies where breaches of legislation that are dealt with by that body are
found.

4.4 Approach to Complaints Regarding Non-Compliance
Where a complaint of non-compliance relating to a business, or other regulated person, is
received, the officers investigating this breach will assess the information received and may
make further enquiries to determine whether a complaint requires investigation. In
assessing a complaint, officers may consult colleagues and managers to help assess what
risk may be involved and this will determine what action is taken.

5.0 Conduct of Investigations
Enforcement action may result in either civil or criminal proceedings being instituted by
the Council. The process that will be followed by officers in the investigation of alleged
breaches of the law will depend on which branch of law the investigation is being
8

Page 172

conducted under. As the enforcing authority in any proceedings it instigates, the burden of
proof falls to the Council.
Investigations will be carried out in compliance with the following legislation and their
guidance, and any other legislation as may be applicable at the time and in so far as they
relate to the Council.
Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (and Codes of Practice)
Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996
Human Rights Act 1998
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001
Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006
Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008
These Acts and associated guidance control how evidence is collected and used and give a
range of protections to citizens and potential defendants.
The authorised officers of the Council will also comply with the requirements of the
particular legislation under which they are acting, and with any associated guidance or
codes of practice.

5.1 Powers of Authorised Officers
There are numerous pieces of legislation which the Council as a local authority either has
a duty to enforce or adopts or chooses to enforce. The powers available to officers under
these different pieces of legislation vary considerably and it is not the purpose of this
document to provide an exhaustive list of those powers.
If officers come across situations where they believe they are being obstructed in carrying
out their duties they will always explain the provisions of the relevant legislation in order
to resolve the issue. In some circumstances it is an offence to obstruct an authorised
officer, which could lead to prosecution.
The Council recognises the Primary Authority scheme and where appropriate will
communicate with any identified primary authority as part of the enforcement/compliance
process.
In some cases powers of seizure are used for safety and evidence gathering purposes.
Where articles are removed for any of these purposes a receipt or notice will be given at
the time of the inspection or as soon as is practicably possible afterwards
Officers do not have the power of arrest; however joint working is undertaken with the
Police and other agencies. Instances may arise where the Police or other agencies consider
that an arrest should be made in connection with an authorised officer’s investigation.
9

Page 173

Officers will carry out formal interviews in line with this policy and the Police and Criminal
Evidence Act 1984.
In respect of legislation in England that contains criminal offences, there are strict time
limits beyond which the law prevents proceedings being instituted. These time limits vary
and are stated in the relevant legislation.
In relevant cases where it is proposed that either criminal or civil proceedings are to be
brought by the Council a report will be prepared containing all relevant evidence that has
been gathered during an investigation. This report will be reviewed by a Senior manager
and a case conference may be called to consider the matter, following which a decision will
be made in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation. The evidence will usually
also be reviewed by a solicitor before any proceedings are instigated.

5.2 Progress of Investigations
Officers carrying out investigations will keep alleged offenders and witnesses informed
about the progress of any investigation as far as their involvement in the process is
concerned.

5.3 Training and Appointment of Officers
All officers undertaking enforcement duties will be suitably trained and qualified to ensure
they are competent to undertake their enforcement activities.
The Council supports the principle of continuing professional development and will ensure
that officers are given the necessary support to achieve this, particularly where there are
statutory requirements to do so.
Officers may have a variety of delegated powers to assist them in carrying out
investigations. In the event of any doubt as to an Officer’s powers, confirmation can be
obtained from their senior manager at the Council. Officers will carry identification and
proof of authorisation with them when they are carrying out regulatory work.

6.0 Decisions on Enforcement Action
6.1 Range of Actions Available
There are a range of actions that are available to the Council as set out in the different
legislation the Council enforces. Examples of the main types of actions that may be
considered are set out below:
a) Compliance Advice, Guidance and Support
The Council uses compliance advice, guidance and support as a first response in the case
of many breaches of legislation that are identified. Advice is provided, sometimes in the
10

Page 174

form of a warning letter to assist individuals and businesses in rectifying breaches as quickly
and efficiently as possible, avoiding the need for further enforcement action. A warning
letter (sometimes called an ‘informal caution’) will set out what should be done to rectify
the breach and to prevent re-occurrence. If a similar breach is identified in the future, this
letter will be persuasive in considering the most appropriate enforcement action to take
on that occasion. Such a letter cannot be cited in court as a previous conviction but it may
be presented in evidence.
Where more formal enforcement action, such as a simple caution or prosecution, is taken,
the Council recognises that there is likely to be an ongoing need for compliance advice and
support, to prevent further breaches.
b) Voluntary Undertakings
The Council may accept voluntary undertakings that breaches will be rectified and/or
recurrences prevented. The Council will take any failure to honour voluntary undertakings
very seriously and enforcement action is likely to result.
c) Statutory (Legal) Notices
The Council has powers to issue statutory notices in respect of many breaches. These
include: ‘Stop Notices’, ‘Prohibition Notices/Orders’, ‘Emergency Prohibition
Notices/Orders’, and ‘Improvement Notices’. Such notices are, subject to any appeal,
legally binding. Failure to comply with a statutory notice can be a criminal offence and may
lead to prosecution and/ or, where appropriate, the carrying out of work in default.
A statutory notice will clearly set out actions that must be taken and the timescale within
which they must be taken. It is likely to require that any breach be rectified and/or
prevented from recurring. It may also prohibit specified activities until such time as
prescribed works/safeguards have been carried out to the satisfaction of the authority.
Where a statutory notice is issued, an explanation of the appeals process will be provided
to the recipient.
Some notices issued in respect of premises may be affixed to the premises and/or
registered as local land charges.
d) Financial Penalties
The Council has powers to issue fixed penalty notices or penalty charge notices in respect
of some breaches. A fixed penalty notice or penalty charge notice is not a criminal fine, and
does not appear on an individual’s criminal record. If a fixed penalty/penalty charge notice
is not paid, the Council may commence criminal proceedings in respect of the breach or
take civil enforcement action to recover the penalty charge subject to the provisions of the
relevant legislation.
If a fixed penalty/ penalty charge notice is paid in respect of a breach the Council cannot
take any further enforcement action in respect of that breach. Payment of a fixed penalty
does not provide immunity from prosecution in respect of similar or recurrent breaches.
11

Page 175

The Council is only able to issue fixed penalty notices where it has specific powers to do so.
If fixed penalty notices are available, their issue is at the Council’s discretion.
In some circumstances, in particular where breaches are serious or recurrent, it may be
that prosecution is more appropriate than the issue of a fixed penalty notice.
e) Injunctive Actions, Enforcement Orders etc.
In some circumstances the Council may seek a direction from the court (in the form of an
order or an injunction) that a breach is rectified and/or prevented from recurring. The court
may also direct that specified activities be suspended until the breach has been rectified
and/or safeguards have been put in place to prevent future breaches.
Failure to comply with a court order constitutes Contempt of Court, a serious offence that
may lead to imprisonment.
The Council is required to seek enforcement orders after issuing some enforcement
notices, providing the court with an opportunity to confirm the restrictions imposed by the
notice. Otherwise, the Council will usually only seek a court order if it has serious concerns
about compliance with voluntary undertakings or a notice.
f) Simple Caution
The Council has the power to issue Simple Cautions (previously known as ‘Formal
Cautions’) as an alternative to prosecution for some less serious offences, where a person
admits an offence and consents to the Simple Caution. Where a Simple Caution is offered
and declined, the Council is likely to consider prosecution.
A Simple Caution will appear on the offender’s criminal record. It is likely to influence how
the Council and others deal with any similar breaches in the future, and may be cited in
court if the offender is subsequently prosecuted for a similar offence. If a Simple Caution
is issued to an individual (rather than a corporation) it may have consequences if that
individual seeks certain types of employment.
Simple cautions will be used in accordance with Ministry of Justice document ‘Simple
Cautions for Adult Offenders’.
g) Prosecution
The Council may prosecute in respect of serious or recurrent breaches, or where other
enforcement actions, such as voluntary undertakings or statutory notices have failed to
secure compliance. When deciding whether to prosecute the Council has regard to the
provisions of The Code for Crown Prosecutors as issued by the Director of Public
Prosecutions.
Prosecution will only be considered where the Council is satisfied that it has sufficient
evidence to provide a realistic prospect of conviction against the defendant(s).
If the evidential test is satisfied a prosecution will usually take place unless there are public
interest factors tending against prosecution that outweigh those tending in favour. The
12

Page 176

more serious the offence or the offender’s record of breaches/ criminal behaviour, the
more likely it is that prosecution will be required in the public interest.
Assessing the public interest is not merely a matter of adding up the number of factors on
each side and seeing which has the greater number. The public interest must be decided
on the merits of each individual case and making an overall assessment. It is quite possible
that one factor alone may outweigh a number of other factors that tend in the opposite
direction.
A successful prosecution will result in a criminal record. The court may impose a fine and
in respect of particularly serious breaches a prison sentence. The court may order the
forfeiture and disposal of non-compliant goods and/or the confiscation of any profits that
have resulted from the breach. Prosecution may also lead, in some circumstances, to the
disqualification of individuals from acting as company directors.
h) Refusal/Suspension/Revocation of Licences
The Committee of the Licensing Authority meets to discharge the duties of the Licensing
Authority under the Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005. All other Licensing Matters
are governed by the Licensing Committee. Sub-Committees are appointed to determine
licenses or registrations where the matter could not or should not be determined by
Officers under delegated authority.
The Council issues a number of different licences, consents, registrations and permits. They
are applied for by submission of an application, the form and content of which is
sometimes specified in law. Applications are generally granted for a limited defined period
and will be required to be renewed annually unless otherwise specified.
The Council may be permitted to ask supplementary questions on an application form in
order to assist it in reaching a decision on whether the applicant is a fit and proper person
to hold such a licence.
In some cases applications are subject to either a public or interested party consultation
process and any application that attracts adverse comment or objection or does not meet
Council policy requirements will be referred to an internal civil hearing forum to determine
the application.
Most licences and other permissions have conditions attached, which can be standard
conditions or specific conditions or a combination of both. These conditions form part of
the licence and lay down requirements that a business or individual must have regard to
when trading. Breach of a condition may be a civil or criminal matter.
When considering applications information supplied with the application together with any
previous enforcement action and compliance record can be taken into account when
reaching a decision.

i) Proceeds of Crime
13

Page 177

Where appropriate the Council will consider the use of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002
which allows local authorities to recover assets that have been accrued through criminal
activity. Applications are made after a conviction has been secured.

6.2 How Decisions are Made on Enforcement Action
In assessing what enforcement action is necessary and proportionate consideration will be
given to, the following principles for enforcement set out in the ‘Macrory Review’:
•

Aim to change the behaviour of the offender;

•

Aim to eliminate any financial gain or benefit from non-compliance;

•

Be responsive and consider what is appropriate for the particular offender and
regulatory issue, which can include punishment and the public stigma that should
be associated with a criminal conviction;

•

Be proportionate to the nature of the offence and the harm caused;

•

Aim to restore the harm caused by regulatory non-compliance, where appropriate;
and,

•

Aim to deter future non-compliance.

Where appropriate decisions about what enforcement action is to be taken may involve
consultation between:
•
•
•
•

Investigating Officer (s)
Senior Managers
Solicitors appointed to act for the Council
Portfolio Holder

The decision to prosecute a case will be taken by those with the authority to do so in
accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegations.

6.3 How Decisions are Communicated
The Council will provide a timely explanation in writing of the decision including any rights
to representation or appeal and information on the process involved.

7.0 Safeguarding
Consideration will be given to the Council’s Safeguarding Policy when carrying out
investigations. This is available on the intranet to all staff, who will also receive updates
and training where relevant to their role.

14

Page 178

Where an investigation highlights safeguarding concerns for a child or vulnerable adult,
these will be shared with the relevant agency in line with the Safeguarding Policy and
Procedures. The Council’s Designated Safeguarding Officer oversees this.

8.0 Information Sharing
On occasion it will be necessary for this Council to share information with other Agencies.
Section 5 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places a duty on us to do all we can to
reasonably prevent crime and disorder. The Council will fulfill this obligation by sharing
information with other Council services and partner agencies as required. All disclosures
will be in accordance with the provisions of the General Data Protection Regulations
(GDPR) 2018.

9.0 Review of this Policy
This policy will be reviewed periodically or in line with changes in relevant legislation, or
the Regulators’ Code.

10.0 Comments and Complaints
All appeals in relation to enforcement action taken should be via the statutory appeals
process outlined in the relevant legislation.
Complaints about the conduct of officers should be made via the Council’s corporate
complaints procedure which is available he

15

Page 179

Page 180

Agenda Item 11.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Assistant Director - Corporate, Portfolio Holder Corporate and
Communications - Cllr Jim Astill

To:

Cabinet – 14 December 2021

(Author:

Corey Gooch, Senior Change, Improvement and Performance Business
Partner

Subject

Q2 Performance Report 21/22

Purpose:

To provide an update on how the Council is performing for the period 1 July
2021 to 30 September 2021

Recommendation:
That the Cabinet note the contents of the report.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

The report seeks to provide Cabinet and its members with an overview of a number of
key performance indicators for the council. The report concerns the period of Quarter 2
2021-22 (July 2021 until September 2021).

1.2

The Quarter 2 2021-22 Performance Report detailed in Appendix A aims to provide
members, businesses and residents with an overview of how the Council is performing
against a number of key strategic indicators in an ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. The
reported indicators will provide an indication of performance and business intelligence as
compared to the previous year to highlight how key services have performed whilst the
organisation has continued to respond to the challenges and pressures that the pandemic
has presented to both the organisation and the district as a whole.

1.3

Members will note a slightly revised layout of the report, however there are no key changes
to content or information provided, there is only the addition of trend charts for each metric
to provide a visual aid

1.4

Consequently, the report seeks to provide a summary of performance in key areas which
reflect the current performance of the council in a number of critical areas, whilst the
organisation remains focused on supporting its communities, residents and local business
in extra-ordinary times. The narrative within the report seeks to provide supplementary
commentary to support the data

2.0

KEY PERFORMANCE AND BUSINESS INTELLIGENCE POINTS

2.1

Appendix A details certain areas of underperformance within the customer contact centre
team, a key metrics being % of calls answered which has continued to fall into Q2 and now
sits at 79%. For comparison there were 22,343 calls received in Quarter 2 of this year
compared to 19,535 for Q2 last year. Call duration and the average time to answer calls

Page 181

also increased during this period and is document within appendix A of this report. The
team continue to see resourcing challenges through exceptionally high levels of attrition
and have instigated a short-term recovery plan through targeted recruitment, focused
available resourcing hours on the phone, additionally the team have refreshed a targeted
approach to their training strategy. Improvements are starting to be seen, through this
approach, seeing average speed of answer reduce during recent weeks. Activities such as
recruitment and training to the multiple vacancies should also result in improved
performance and the Head of Customer Contact will be in attendance at the meeting to
discuss and take any questions on this area.
2.2

Time to respond to FOIs and Complaints has improved, both of these areas are performing
at the highest levels in the last 4 quarters and are sitting just over 90%, this is as a result of
positive work from the FOI officer and a result of revised processes such as effective
triaging of items before they are logged in the feedback management system, saving time
spent by services and reducing repeated requests.

2.3

Despite high levels of fly-tipping across the national picture we have seen the number of
working days to collect fly-tips reduce to just over 3 days on average, this is positive to note
and the best we have seen this figure for which the target sits at 5 days or less.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

That the contents of this report be noted.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

That the Council’s performance is properly scrutinised.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales;
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1

Constitutional & Legal

5.1.1

The report is made within the terms of reference of Cabinet.

5.2

Crime and Disorder

5.2.1

The report contains indicators which does convey some information relating to crime and
disorder.

5.3

Financial

Page 182

5.3.1

The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some
information relating to financial matters.

5.4

Health & Wellbeing

5.4.1

The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some
information relating to health and wellbeing.

5.5

Reputation

5.5.1

Performance issues can cause some reputational consequence. It is the purpose of this
report to highlight performance issues at an early stage.

5.6

Risk Management

5.6.1

Performance issues may be subject to risk management measures to protect Council
interests.

5.7

Staffing

5.7.1

The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some
information relating to staffing.

5.8

Corporate Priorities

5.8.1

The report presents progress monitoring of key performance indicators from the corporate
priorities which highlight the areas of focus in the new BAU Covid era.

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

No Wards or Communities are affected.

7.0

ACRONYMS
PSPS – Public Sector Partnerships Ltd
LCC – Lincolnshire County Council
CTS – Council Tax Support
ICO – Information Commissioner’s Office
LGO – Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number:
Email:

Corey Gooch, Senior Change and Performance Partner
07766510458
corey.gooch@sholland.gov.uk

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A

Q2 21/22 Performance Report

Page 183

This page is intentionally left blank

2021/22 Q2 SHDC PMP Report

Current Quarter

`
Short Name

Description

Q2 2021/22
Value

Overall time from appointment 256

Applications

to completion.

Page 185

Time to process DFG

Target

Trend Chart
Status

Data Only

Value vs

Value vs

Target

Previous

N/A

34.1

Latest Note

No issues to note around
DFG Applications and
processing times.

% of complaints

the percentage of the

responded to within

complaints that were

92.11%

80%

12.11%

for recent quarters will be

agreed timescales

responded to within the period,

circulated separately to this

that were responded to within

report.

the agreed timescales (15 day
stage 1, 20 days stage 2)

1

9.61%

Breakdown of complaints

Current Quarter

`
Short Name

Description

Q2 2021/22
Value
90%

Target

Trend Chart
Status

100%

Value vs

Value vs

Target

Previous

-10%

6%

Latest Note

% of FOI requests

Of the FOI's responded to in

responded to within

the month, the percentage of

Performance in this area
has improved by 6% from

time limit

ones that were responded to

the previous quarter but

within the statutory 20 day

still slightly below target,

timescale

where an FOI is going to
take longer than 20
working days the FOI
officer will work to notify

Page 186

the requestor of a delay.

# of FOI requests

Number of FOI requests

received

received in reporting period

106

Data Only

N/A

24

A significant increase since
the previous quarter but no
particular trends to note at
this point.

Number of

The total number of formal

complaints received

complaints received within the

38

Data Only

N/A

-1

Slight reduction in the
number of complaints

period

coming in, work is
underway to triage
complaints and separate
“Formal complaints” and
“Service issues/queries” so
we expect to see this
number reduce in coming
quarters

2

Current Quarter

`
Short Name

Description

Q2 2021/22
Value

Engagement on Social Number of impacts on social
Media (Impressions)

761,444

Target

Trend Chart
Status

Data Only

Value vs

Value vs

Target

Previous

N/A

-98,980

Latest Note

No significant changes to

media (seen by / shared /

note for social media

retweets of retweets etc)

engagement, downward
trend is seasonal and we
tend to pick up again in
Q3.

% of CSs Calls

% of SHDC calls that are

Answered

answered by an appropriate

target. 7834 calls received

Page 187

79.63%

91%

-11.37%

-3.44%

18.67% short of in-month

member of staff from the total

vs 7942 September 20 (-

of calls offered.

98). Call duration increased
364 vs 325 (+39s) and

This indicator reflects calls

average speed of answer

dealt with by generic Customer

during September was 271

Contact only and does not

seconds vs 161 seconds in

include those dealt with by

20. We continue to see

Revenues and Benefits skilled

resourcing challenges

staff.

through exceptionally high
levels of attrition.

% of CC Calls

The time a first connection is

64.48%

Data Only

N/A

-3.44%

35.23% short of in-month

Answered within 120 established (after the IVR

target. 7834 calls received

seconds

message and option/extension

vs 7942 September 20 (-

has been entered) to the time

98). Call duration increased

that the call is answered. The

364 vs 325 (+39s). . and

measure will be the number of

average speed of answer

calls answered within the

during September is 271

3

Current Quarter

`
Short Name

Description

Q2 2021/22
Value

Target

Trend Chart
Status

Value vs

Value vs

Target

Previous

Latest Note

standard defined (120

seconds vs 161 seconds in

seconds), divided by the total

20.

number of calls answered
Call duration - CC

Average duration of calls.

0h 06m

Data Only

N/A

01s

Page 188

Number of Working
Days to Deal with Fly

-0h 00m

No significant changes to

03s

note around call duration

References calls received and

other than a slight increase

dealt with by generic Customer

since last quarter

Contact only. It does not
include calls taken by Revenues
and Benefits trained officers.
Speed of response in working

3.85

5

-1.15

-1.89

days to clear fly-tipping

This figure is performing
consistently well despite

Tipping

Fly tipping in the district
remaining persistently high
throughout Q2. High
levels of fly-tipping reflect
the national picture.

Average Number of

Average speed of response

working days to

(from reported to collected)

1

Data Only

N/A

0

Despite issues faced with
HGV Driver shortages it is

collect missed waste

pleasing to note missed
collections are being dealt
with at around 1 day
average.
Q2 has seen a slight
increase in the number of
missed collections across

4

Current Quarter

`
Short Name

Description

Q2 2021/22
Value

Target

Trend Chart
Status

Value vs

Value vs

Target

Previous

Latest Note

missed collection services
from Q1. The total number
of missed collections for
Q2 represents 0.19% of the
total number of collections
throughout the district,
and remains below our
target of 3%.
The service has examined

Page 189

its internal reporting
processes resulting in a a
new coding procedure.
The aim is to provide an
informed analysis of
missed collections, and
impact on service. The
endeavour is to identify all
types of failure and plan
for improvements.

Missed Waste

% of missed collections

0.19%

3%

-2.81%

Collection Rate

0.04%

KPI is on target with no
issues to raise. Further to
the above the service
continues to analyse its
position for further
improvement by evaluating
complaints and customer
feedback.

5

Current Quarter

`
Short Name

Description

Q2 2021/22
Value

Food Businesses

The % of rateable food

Rated 'Generally

businesses with a rating of 3

99.66%

Target

Trend Chart
Status

98%

Value vs

Value vs

Target

Previous

1.66%

0.67%

Latest Note

KPI continues on target
with no issues or concerns

Satisfactory' or Above (generally satisfactory), 4

to raise

(good) or 5 (very good) as a %
of the total number of rateable
businesses

Page 190

Staff turnover %

% of total leavers against total

2.56%

1.4%

1.16%

1.04%

number of staff employed in

6 leavers against a starting
headcount of 243

period (includes involuntary
leavers)
Target is 10% which has been
benchmarked

# of Working Days

Total number of working days

Lost to Sickness per

lost per Full Time Equivalent.

0.69

Data Only

N/A

previous quarter but not

FTE

This is calculated by taking the

sickness trends or

number of days lost to sickness

concerns to highlight from

and dividing it by the number

HR

of full time equivalent staff in
the period

6

0.02

Slight increase from

Current Quarter

`
Short Name

Description

Q2 2021/22
Value

Housing re-let (void)

Total time in days from keys in 24 days

Target

Trend Chart
Status

28 days

Value vs

Value vs

Target

Previous

-4 days

-1 days

time (total ave. key to to keys out - including major
key) All Tenures

Latest Note

KPI is on target with no
issues to raise

works for all tenures (General
Needs and Sheltered Housing)
This is calculated by total
number of days properties
remain vacant divided by the
number or properties vacant in
the period

Page 191

Cases Prevented from P1E Return - Prevention and
Homelessness

15

Data Only

N/A

+8

The on-going resources

Relieving of Homelessness

challenge continues to

Number of potentially

impact on the level of

homeless cases diverted from

prevention activities the

homelessness in the District

Housing Options service
can deliver. Existing and
temporary resources are
focussed on responding to
current cases and
presenting emergency
demand. An emergency
action plan has been
deployed to ensure service
recovery. The increase in
prevention cases from the
previous quarter
demonstrates that the
interim measures are

7

Current Quarter

`
Short Name

Description

Q2 2021/22
Value

Target

Trend Chart
Status

Value vs

Value vs

Target

Previous

Latest Note

having the expected
impact. The Housing
Options Team will be
reshaped through pending
recruitment to develop a
team which has a greater
focus on prevention
Number of existing businesses 41

to Develop or Grow

assisted to develop or grow

via Grants4Growth

through Economic

Page 192

Businesses Assisted

6

35

-3

KPI is on target with no
issues to raise

Development support - Grants
for Growth

Number of Grants

Total number of grants that are 15

Awarded via

awarded - grants for growth

13

2

-7

KPI is on target with no
issues to raise

Grants4Growth

8

Current Quarter

`
Short Name

Description

Q2 2021/22
Value

Target

Trend Chart
Status

70%

Value vs

Value vs

Target

Previous

13.85%

-16.15%

Latest Note

% of non-major

This PI measures the % of non- 83.85%

applications

major applications that have

Reflects nature of the
applications determined.

determined within 8

been determined within 8

Number over time due to

weeks or agreed

weeks or agreed extension, this

officer workloads and

extension

is in line with national

situations where applicants

requirements.

would not agree to
extensions of time.

% of Major

% determined within 13 weeks

applications

(or with agreed extension or

89.47%

60%

29.47%

-10.53%

Major applications often
raise more complex issues,

Page 193

determined within 13 PPA)

are often reported to the

weeks or agreed

planning Committee and

extension

many require S106
agreements. hence
importance of working
proactively with developers
to agree extensions of time
where appropriate.

Housing Benefit LA

Local Authority error in

Error Rate

Housing Benefit overpayment

0.24%

0.42%

-0.18%

-0.1%

We remain on target to
receive 100% subsidy

Amount of benefits overpaid
divided by benefits paid (% of
overall expenditure)

9

Current Quarter

`
Short Name

Description

Q2 2021/22
Value

Business Rate In Year Amount of Business Rates
Collection Rate

51.82%

Target
50%

Trend Chart
Status

Value vs

Value vs

Target

Previous

1.82%

22.33%

Latest Note

The annual collectable

collected in the year against

debit increased by 13.24%

the total collectable debit

(£2.86m) in July. Much of
this increase is due a
change to the Government
funded Retail Discount
Relief Scheme which was
reduced from 100% to 66%

Page 194

relief (for those qualifying
businesses) from 1 July
2021. These Retail
Businesses were rebilled
during July with their
revised liabilities payable
between August and the
end of the financial year.

Council Tax In Year

Amount of Council Tax

Collection Rate

collected in the year against

56.64%

50%

6.64%

27.12%

KPI is on target with no
issues to raise

the total collectable debit

10

Agenda Item 12.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Finance, Commercialisation & Partnerships and Deputy
Chief Executive (Corporate Development) & S151 Officer

To:

Cabinet Tuesday, 14 December 2021
South Holland District Council, 19 January 2022

(Author:

Sharon Hammond Head of Revenues & Benefits)

Subject

Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2022/23

Purpose:

For each financial year a billing authority must consider whether to revise its
Local Council Tax Support scheme, or replace it with another scheme. This
report seeks Cabinet decision on the final proposals for the 2022/23 scheme,
to be presented to Council for approval on 19 January 2022.

Recommendations:
1) Cabinet approves, and recommends to Council: a) The continuation of the current Local Council Tax Support scheme, including uprating in
line with DWP’s annual update of allowances and premiums for housing benefit for
2022/23, and
b) The introduction of a provision in the scheme for discretion to disregard national
schemes introduced during a financial year in the calculation of Council Tax Support.
2) Delegates approval for the 2022/23 final scheme to the Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate
Development) & S151 Officer, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance,
Partnerships and Commercialisation in line with this report, and any administrative and minor
changes.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

The Local Council Tax Support (CTS) scheme replaced the former national Council Tax
Benefit scheme from April 2013.

1.2

Each year the Council is required to consider whether to review its Local CTS scheme. The
Local Government Finance Act 2012 sets out the process by which Councils must approve
a scheme. Regulations include protection for pensioners but allow Councils to make
changes in the way that support is calculated for working age claimants.

1.3

Where Councils seek to amend their scheme it is necessary to consult major preceptors
and stakeholders to inform a final scheme design.

1.4

The current South Holland scheme provides a maximum amount of 70% support for
working age claimants. It protects War Pensioners, and from 2019/20 introduced a new
class for Care Leavers aged 18-21.

Page 195

1.1

A number of changes have been introduced in recent years, summarised below for
information: •
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Second Adult Rebate has been removed (introduced 2017/18)
A minimum level of Council Tax Support at £5 per week (introduced 2017/18)
Non-dependant deductions increased by 10% (introduced 2017/18)
Council Tax Support restricted to Band D Council Tax Liability (introduced 2017/18)
Capital Limit reduced to £8,000 (introduced 2017/18)
Lower capital threshold reduced to £3,000 (introduced 2017/18)
Remove family premium from new claims made (introduced 2017/18)
Backdating reduced to 1 month (introduced 2017/18)
Care Leavers as a class in the scheme (introduced 2019/20)
Universal Credit (UC) claims are automatically classed as claims for CTS, removing
requirement for a separate CTS claim (introduced 2020/21)
UC earnings tolerance rule of £15 per week (£65 month) (introduced 2020/21)
Backdating for working age up to 3 months (reintroduced 2021/22)

2.0

CURRENT SCHEME REVIEW

2.1

At May 2021 the forecasted amount of CTS discount for 2021/22 was £4,438,106, with a
total caseload of 5,287 of which 2,586 (49%) are working age, compared to 2,701 (51%)
pensioners. The working age claimant element costs are approximately £1.8million, with
£453k (10.2%) borne by this council.

2.2

This reflects the increased take up as a result of the COVID-19 impact. It remains difficult
to forecast future caseload with any degree of certainty in the current economic climate.

2.3

The following table shows 2020/21 forecast expenditure and indicates the potential cost to
South Holland District Council, and the other major precepting authorities.

CTS Expenditure
Cost to South Holland District Council (approx. 10.2%)
Cost to Lincolnshire County Council (approx. 75.1%)
Cost to Police and Crime Commissioner (approx. 14.7%)

2021//22 forecast
£4,438,106
£452,686
£3,333,018
£652,402

2.4

The Council Tax net in-year collection rate as a percentage in 2020/21 was 0.72% lower
than the previous year, however over £1.4million more Council Tax was collected in
2020/21. Factors that affect in-year collection include the reduced level of CTS awarded
following changes introduced in the 2017/18 scheme and people’s ability to pay, the roll out
of Universal Credit (UC) and, most significantly for 2020/21 and future years, the impacts
and effects on households due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

3.0

CONSULTATION FOR 2022/23 COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME

3.1

At its meeting on 7 September 2021, Cabinet approved consultation to be undertaken on a
proposal to continue the current scheme, including updating in line Department for Work
and Pensions (DWP) up-ratings for 2022/23.

3.2

The consultation exercise ran between 14 September and 3 November 2021.

Page 196

3.3

Major precepting authorities have been consulted on the proposals.
Lincolnshire County Council has responded confirming it has no comments or objections to
the proposals, however its recommendation for future changes to the scheme would be to
consider alternatives to reduce the demand on the scheme, although they recognise in the
current climate this is a challenge.
The Police and Crime Commissioner noted that no change to the current scheme is
proposed.

3.4

The wider public consultation on the scheme proposals agreed by Cabinet in September
included publicity through local media, website and social media. A total of 16 responses
have been received. This is lower than last year. With such a low response rate it has to
be recognised that the results cannot be relied upon as being wholly representative or
statistically significant.

3.5

High level findings from the 16 consultation responses are summarised below:
•
•
•

3.6

69% agreed that the council should retain the main characteristics of the current
Council Tax Scheme.
56% felt that the current scheme is fair and provides support to those most vulnerable.
63% agreed we should increase the scheme in line with DWP provisions for 2022/23
and future years.

The full consultation results are shown at Appendix A.

4.

ADMINISTRATION

4.1

Council Tax Support schemes cannot be changed in-year, and as such, under the current
scheme, national initiatives introduced by government to support individuals and
households through the covid pandemic, are treated as additional income, which can have
the effect of reducing the level of CTS awarded.

4.2

It is therefore recommended that the CTS scheme is updated to provide discretion to
consider disregarding national initiatives that are introduced in a financial year, with any
decision first being subject to CTS administration and system capability assessment.

4.3

There will be no financial impact for the council or the major precepting authorities to the
overall cost of the scheme however it could have a positive impact on the customer as any
additional income could be disregarded in the calculation of CTS.
Future year schemes could be updated, if appropriate, to include any additional support
initiatives in the calculation of CTS schemes.

5.0

OPTIONS

5.1

Continuation of the current Council Tax Support scheme, including uprating in line with
DWP’s annual update of allowances and premiums for housing benefit for 2022/23.

5.2

No alternative options are proposed. Any other changes to the scheme would require
consultation.

Page 197

6

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

6.1

The recommendation will continue to align the CTS scheme and uprating for working age
customers with DWP provisions for Housing Benefit and the CTS scheme for pensioners.
This has been consistent each year since the introduction of local Council Tax Support
schemes.

6.2

The recommendation to introduce discretion to disregard national initiatives introduced in a
financial year, where appropriate, would have no additional financial impact for the scheme,
but it could have a positive impact on the customer.
Future year schemes could be updated, if appropriate, to include any additional support
initiatives in the calculation of CTS schemes.

7

EXPECTED BENEFITS

7.1

This will provide continuity for working age claimants, maintaining current levels of support.

8

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales;
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

8.1

Constitutional & Legal

8.1.1 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 introduced the framework for localism of Council
Tax Support. The Local CTS scheme for 2022/23 must be approved by Full Council by 11
March 2022. Any change to CTS schemes must be subject to proper process, including
consultation in order to protect the scheme from judicial review.

8.2

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

8.2.1

The existing Local CTS scheme continues the DWP’s previous Council Tax Benefit scheme
conventions established over many years, regarding protections for vulnerable groups,
including children, the disabled and war pensioners.

8.2.2

An Equality Impact Assessment is not required at this time.

8.3

Financial

Page 198

8.3.1

The proposal for the 2022/23 CTS scheme is anticipated to be broadly in line with the costs
of the current year scheme, subject to demand. The impacts upon the Council’s budgets
once Council approval has been given, will be included in the 2022/23 Budget and Medium
Term Financial Strategy.

8.3.2

For reference the current 2021/22 CTS scheme expenditure is £4,438,106, of which the
cost to South Holland District Council is around £453k (10.2%).

8.4

Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

8.4.1

Legislation requires consultation to be carried out with major precepting authorities, the
public and other stakeholders where changes to the scheme are proposed. Consultation
has been carried out, as detailed in Section 3 of this report.

9

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

9.1

All

10

ACRONYMS
COVID
CTS
DWP

Coronovirus Disease
Council Tax Support
Department for Work and Pensions

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

None

Sharon Hammond Head of Revenues & Benefits
Sharon.Hammond@pspsl.co.uk

Key Decision:

N

Exempt Decision:

N

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Consultation results

Page 199

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 201

Page 202

Page 203

Page 204

Agenda Item 13.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Finance, Commercialisation & Partnerships and Deputy
Chief Executive (Corporate Development) & S151 Officer

To:

Cabinet 14 December 2021

Author:

Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director - Finance

Subject:

2021/22 Financial Report Quarter 2

Purpose:

To provide information on the Quarter 2 (to 30 September 2021) financial
position of the Council.

Recommendation(s) to Cabinet:
1) That the report and Appendix A be noted.
2) That the estimated position with regard to the approved contributions to and use of
reserves be noted.
3) That the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Capital programme be noted as set
out in table 5 and 7 of Appendix A.
Recommendation(s) to Council:
4) To approve adjustments to the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Capital
programme as set in table 5 and 7 of Appendix A.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Throughout the year quarterly monitoring reports are completed forecasting the expected
year end out-turn against the budgets. This report provides information on the forecast full
year financial performance at 30 September 2021, in the attached appendix, for the
following areas:
• The General Fund Revenue Budget (GF),
• Housing Revenue Account (HRA),
• The General Fund and HRA Reserves Position,
• The Capital Programme for 2021/22 (GF and HRA), and
• The Treasury Management Performance for the year.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

To note the report and to approve the recommendations detailed at Appendix A.

Page 205

2.2

Do nothing.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of the Council.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

To ensure that members are updated regularly and in a timely fashion on the overall Council
Financial position.

4.2

To make the best use of the funding available to the Council and allow us to respond quickly
to opportunities as they arise.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS

5.1

This report is financial in nature. The outturn position in respect of the General Fund, HRA,
Capital Programme, Reserves and Treasury Management are summarised below with
further detail at Appendix A.

5.2

General Fund Revenue Outturn

5.2.1 Quarter 2 data provides a 6 month’s information on which to base the full year forecast,
however some items are still susceptible to further change.
5.2.2 The full year outturn based on current projections and assumptions is a forecast net service
surplus in the General Fund of (£4k), this does not take into account the efficiency savings
target of £1.676m (efficiency savings achieved so far is £1.095m). Detail of these savings
are listed in Appendix A table 2a.
5.2.3 The forecast outturn position by Directorate is detailed at Appendix A – Table 1 together
with an analysis of service variations.
5.2.4 It is extremely difficult to forecast accurately in the current circumstances as services adapt
and recover from the impact of the Covid pandemic and therefore these numbers will
change over the coming months and will continue to be reported to Cabinet each quarter.
5.3

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Revenue Outturn

5.3.1 The HRA is forecasting a surplus of £1.896m (budgeted surplus is £1.970m), further detail
is provided at Appendix A - Table 4.

Page 206

5.4

Reserves (GF and HRA)

5.4.1

General Fund Specific Reserves are forecasting a decrease of £0.311m from £13.493m to
£13.182m, further details are set out in Appendix A - Table 3.

5.4.2

In addition, the General Fund Reserve Balance remains at £2.078m.

5.4.3

The HRA General Reserve balance is forecasting an overall decrease of £4.177m from
£27.384m to £23.207m. More detail is provided at Appendix A – Table 3.

5.5

Capital – General Fund

5.5.1

The total revised General Fund Capital Programme for 2021/22 as at 30 September 2021 is
£8.076m including year-end adjustment as reported in the 2020/21 Outturn, are detailed in
Appendix A Table 5. Revisions totalling £0.400m are recommended for approval, as
detailed in Appendix A Table 5, giving a revised 2021/22 programme of £8.076m.

5.6

Capital – HRA

5.5.2

5.6.1

The total HRA Capital Programme for 2021/22 is £14.984m are detailed in Appendix A
Table 7. Revisions totalling £0.150m are recommended for approval, as detailed in
Appendix A Table 7, giving a revised 2021/22 programme of £14.984m.
.

5.7

Treasury Management

5.7.1

Appendix A - Section 2.5 provides details of the Council Treasury Investments. Interest
earned on investments during the year to 30 September 2021 was £76.8k (compared to the
profiled budget of £90.8k), as at 30 September 2021, a total of £51.744m investments were
held by the council. Appendix A Table 8 provides more information on the investments.
The forecast income from investment interest has been set at £182k a reduction of income
of £11k, (General Fund pressure of £10k and HRA pressure of £1k).

6

Other Key Items

6.1

Uncertainty over the Councils future funding sources remain as a result of the Chancellor of
the Exchequers confirmation that the review relating to the percentage of retained Business
Rates have again had to be delayed by Government from the planned implementation in
2021/22 alongside the Fair Funding review.

6.2

As Covid-19 pandemic keeps on having a considerable impact on the Council, our
businesses and our residents. It is difficult to quantify the financial effects of the pandemic
with any certainty, but it is expected to be significant, even after the Government’s
emergency Covid-19 funding is taken into account. This continues to be a major area of
risk looking forward as part of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Planning and is being

Page 207

closely monitored.
7

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1

Income and expenditure affect all wards of the Council.

8

ACRONYMS

8.1

GF
HRA
HRT
RTB
ICT
MTFS

General Fund
Housing Revenue Account
Housing Repairs Team
Right to Buy
Information and Communications Technology
Medium term Financial Strategy

Background papers:

The 2021/22 Estimates Report to Council 3 March 2021

Lead Contact Officer:
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director - Finance
01775 764684
SKnowles@sholland.co.uk

Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Financial report for 2021/22 with details of the GF and HRA revenue
spend, Reserves, Capital expenditure and Treasury Management.

Page 208

APPENDIX A - South Holland District Council – Q2 Finance Report 2021/22
Finance Summary
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The revenue forecast shows a surplus position of (£4k)
In addition to this there is an efficiency savings target of £1.676m and as at 30 September, £1.095m savings
have been achieved, leaving a balance of £581k to find.
The HRA is forecasting a surplus budget of £1.896m.
General Fund Specific and general reserves of the Council are forecast to be £13.182m at 31 March 2022.
HRA reserves are forecast to be £23.207m at 31 March 2022.
General Fund Capital spend at the end of Quarter 2 was £1.873m against a full year budget of £8.076m
Capital receipts for the year are forecast to be £1.896m. Total capital resources at the end of 2021/22 are
forecast to be £25.536m.
HRA Capital spend at the end of Quarter 2 was £1.233m against a full year budget of £14.984m
The Council held investments of £51.744m as at 30 September 2021.

Section 2 – Finance
Section 2.1
Section 2.2
Section 2.3
Section 2.4
Section 2.5
Section 2.6
Section 2.7

Key Financial Issues in Quarter 2 of 2021/22
Revenue Budget
Housing Revenue Account Budget
Capital Budget
Treasury Management
Debt Collection
Business Rates and Council Tax Collection

Section 2.1 – Key Financial Issues in Quarter 2 of 2021/22
•

•

On 29 July, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government published a press release to
announce that the Changing Places toilets fund is now open for applications. Councils can now apply for a
share of the £30m fund to install Changing Places toilets. The funding is to install larger accessible toilets for
people who cannot use standard toilets, with equipment such as hoists, curtains, adult sized changing
benches, and space for carers.
On 20 August, the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government published a news story to
announce that councils in England, Scotland and Wales will have access to a share of £5m to help provide
housing and support to Afghans who have worked for this country in Afghanistan, but now face threats of
persecution.

Inflation
CPI
RPI

July (%)

August (%)

September (%)

2.0
3.8

3.2
4.8

3.1
4.9

Section 2.2 – Revenue Budget
Table 1 details the forecast outturn by Directorate. This is based on the Quarter 2 position at 30th September 2021
officers’ projections for the remainder of the financial year indicate an underspend of (£4k) (Excluding efficiency
savings of £1.095m).
A further analysis by type of income and expenditure is shown on page 2 to 7.
1

Page 209

Directorate

Table 1 – Projected Net Spend by Directorate Area
Revised
Forecast
Variance
Budget
Outturn
(underspend)/
2021/22
2021/22
overspend
Comments on main variances
£’000

£’000

£’000

Corporate

546

221

Economic Growth

147

137

Finance

855

898

Housing

0

0

(159)

(87)

986

967

Leisure & Culture

1,861

1,900

Neighbourhoods

4,390

4,495

475

475

General Fund Assets

Governance

Planning & Strategic
Infrastructure

2

Page 210

Unallocated Covid Grant (£295k),
(325) (£30k) Fees and charges compensation
claim.
(10) (£10k) saving on contractor costs
(£22k) Savings as per latest housing
subsidy estimates
(£2k) saving on court costs due to
43 lower volume
£65k income pressure for renewable
heat incentive grant budgeted in GF,
which should be in HRA.
0
£34k pressure - Temporary
arrangement of free car parking
incentive for short stay car parks from
72 21 June to 30 September.
£36k pressure – Increased salary costs in
programme maintenance team.
£3k increased Business rates.
(£8k) Staff vacancy savings
(19) (£9k) savings on postage and
stationery.
£31k pressure - Reduction in income
from Markets, following changes to
service provision approved in 2020/21
£6k Pressure reduced Fees and
Charges
£17k pressure external income budgets
39 Income compensation scheme only
available for 3 months in 2021/22
(£9k) Staff savings vacancies and
kickstart funding
(£4k) savings in performers and
entertainers’ fees.
(£2k) Advertising savings
£95k pressure – Increased costs for
waste services to mitigate driver
shortage, service is being reviewed to
identify longer term solutions
105 £12k pressure additional agency costs

0

Directorate

Table 1 – Projected Net Spend by Directorate Area
Revised
Forecast
Variance
Budget
Outturn
(underspend)/
2021/22
2021/22
overspend
Comments on main variances
£’000

£’000

£’000
(£31k) salary vacancy savings
(£14k) Land Charges inspection fees
increase forecast.
£26k External income reduction in
building control consultancy and
44
£12k license fees reduced activity
£14k Fees for Ocella search engine hub
£28k professional fees for air pressure
testing and energy assessments.
£9k work to empty property
£29k staffing Breckland impact – staff
previously employed by Breckland and
59 charged to SHDC
£30k Reduction is SWRR Infrastructure
Fund
0
£7k pressure Salary reforecast in
community safety and community
cohesion, combination of salary
savings and contractor’s fees.
£5k pressure CCTV cameras
13 (£9k) savings after staff cover costs
(£35k) additional homelessness grants
£9k additional costs for next steps
programme
(£36k) rough sleepers spend funded
from reserves.

Regulatory

754

798

Strategic Growth &
Development

164

223

0

0

1,408

1,421

11,427

11,448

21

(1,220)

(1,220)

0

3,546

3,546

0

(182)

(172)

10

0

0

0

825

825

0

(276)

(311)

(35)

(1,676)

(1,095)

581

1,017

1,573

556

12,444

13,021

577

Strategic Projects

Wellbeing &
Community Leadership

Sub Total –
Directorates – net
costs
Recharges to HRA
Internal Drainage
Boards and Parish
Precepts
Investment Income
Impairment Allowance
Capital Expenditure
Charged In Year
Transfers to/(from)
Earmarked Reserves
Efficiencies
Requirement
Other Income and
Expenditure
General Fund Budget
net costs

3

Page 211

£10k pressure due to current economic
climate

Rough sleepers spend funded from
reserves.
See Table for efficiency savings

Directorate

Table 1 – Projected Net Spend by Directorate Area
Revised
Forecast
Variance
Budget
Outturn
(underspend)/
2021/22
2021/22
overspend
Comments on main variances
£’000

Funding (Council Tax,
Government grants
and business rates)
Total Budget (Surplus)/Deficit

£’000

£’000

(12,444)

(12,444)

0

0

577

577

Recommendation:
F1
That Cabinet notes the forecast revenue position for 2021/22 as detailed in Table 1.

4

Page 212

Variations from Budget for the most significant items
Table 2 - Q2
Variance
(underspend)/
overspend
Employee Costs

Page 213

Premises Costs
Transport Costs
Supplies and
Services

Third party
payments

Comments

(£250k) Saving from Solo management structure.
(£21k) Savings relating to apprentice costs
(£20k Salary savings in Governance - vacancies
(£7k) Saving in Leisure and Culture, some cost partly funded from kickstart scheme
(£214k) Staff savings in development management and planning policy.
(£31k) salary savings in Regulatory cost centres.
137,035
£95k pressure – Increased costs for waste services to mitigate driver shortage, service is being reviewed to identify longer term
solutions.
£36k Assets team relating to increased salary costs.
£23k Building Control Consultancy cost - Net additional cost of £23k (gross £54k, partly offset by staff savings of (£31k))
£29k Pressure in Strategic growth & Development some staff impact post Breckland changes
£22k Pressure in Wellbeing & community – Next Steps accommodation programme staffing
5,792 Additional Business Rates Costs Assets - 4k and £2k pressure council tax for homelessness budgets
3,930

Travel costs pressure in services

£13k pressure Community Safety.
£14k pressure in Land Charges for Ocella Search Hub
88,835 £27k Pressure Energy Assessment and other reports
£8k Pressure treatment additional costs in Pollution control.
(£6k) Internal work recharges
(£2k) Chairman’s costs savings
(7000)

Transfer Payments

(970,500)

Total Expenditure

(744,908)

Recharges forecast

(£970k) Mid-year estimate for Rent Allowances and Part of rent allowance and rebates

5

Grants,
Contributions and
Reimbursements

Fees and Charges
Rents and other
income

Page 214

Investment Income
Total income
Transfers to/from
Earmarked
Reserves
Capital Accounting
Adjustments
Funding
Efficiency Savings
Target
Grand Total –
Surplus

(£295k) net surplus on Covid Grant, there will be more spend offset as identified
(£30k) Rent Rebate administration
16k universal credit grant reforecast
(338,286)
8k pressure electoral register grant reduction (No IER in 21/22)
30k reduction in SWRR find grant
(£68k) other Homelessness related Grants
Covid compensation claim
(30,000)
£970k Mid-Year Estimates for rent allowance payments
£34k pressure - Temporary arrangement of free car parking incentive for short stay car parks from 21 June to 30 September.
£31k pressure - Reduction in income from Markets, following changes to service provision approved in 2020/21.
£10k pressure licensing fees
1,129,800 £26k Pressure Building Control Consultancy
£17k Peele School Leisure cost recharges lower
(£45k) Garden Waste service expansion
(£10k) Additional DFG admin income
10,000

£10k pressure - Investment income re-forecast based on current economic conditions

771,514
(35,800)
4,800

Rough Sleepers Initiative spend funded from reserves

Additional depreciation

0
581,084

See efficiency savings table

576,690

6

Progress Against Savings Target
The 2021/22 budget includes a savings efficiency target of £1.676m, savings achieved so far are:
Table 2a – Efficiency Savings
Description

Amount
£’000

Vacancies

(200)

Dividend Income
Homelessness
Car Mileage and Allowances
Lower Tier Services Grant
Local Council Tax Support Grant
PSPS Contract Savings
Business Rates on Public
Conveniences
Business Rates in Leisure &
Culture
Garden Waste Income
Solo Management Structure
Corporate HR apprentice Training

(107)
(64)
(81)
(142)
(74)
(56)

Savings in Commercialisation & Growth,
Corporate & Strategic Growth
From Welland Homes
Homelessness Grant Income
Lower Transport Expenses
Additional Grant Monies received
Additional Grant Monies received
Result of Boston joining PSPS

(17) Public conveniences no longer rateable
Leisure Service - 100% reduction in 1st qtr and
then 66% reduction
(45) Service expansion
(250) Post Breckland changes to staff costs
(21) Savings in HR for Apprentice Training
(38)

Total

(1,095)

Target

(1,676)

Savings to be Identified

Comments

(581)

Other savings areas have been identified and work is underway to quantify the full extent of potential savings, these
are:
•
•
•

Alternative management arrangements
Pay award negotiations
South Holland Centre

Covid Revenue General Grant
The allocation for SHDC for 2021/22 is (£477k). So far during the year an expense of around £182k has been offset
against this grant, leaving an allocated amount of (£295k).

7

Page 215

Reserves
At 31 March 2022 specific reserves are forecast to be £13.182m, after a net transfer from reserves of £0.311m to
cover future revenue and capital expenditure. Table 3 reflects the forecast position.

Reserve

Table 3 – Specific and General Reserves Balance Forecast
Forecast
Forecast Use of
Balances at 1
Contributions into
Reserves
April 2021
Reserves
£’000
£’000
£’000

Forecast
Balances at 31
March 2022
£’000

General Fund
Council Tax
Investment and Growth
Replacement and Refurbishment
Transformation
Earmarked Grants
Specific Reserves Total
General Fund
Total

1,809
4,489
172
71
4,874
11,415
2,078
13,493

49
843
136
0
0
1,028
0
1,028

-19
-1,174
-77
-17
52
-1,339
0
-1,339

1,839
4,063
231
54
4,822
11,104
2,078
13,182

Housing Revenue Account
HRA Working Balance
Insurance
Major Repairs
Total

22,828
200
4,356
27,384

1,896
0
3,785
5,681

(2,318)
0
(7,540)
(9,858)

22,406
200
601
23,207

Please note the following reserve movements that are due to take place in 2021/22:
•

•

•
•

Council Tax
o Additions – Elections and Noise monitoring equipment
o Use of reserve (Revenue) – Contribution towards noise monitoring equipment
o Use of reserve (Capital) – South Holland Centre
Investment and Growth
o Additions – Repayment of Workshop van, Leisure management cost recovery, new homes bonus and
green waste capital repayment.
o Use of reserve (Revenue) – Digital Strategy, Delivery Unit, Temporary establishment funding, PSPS
Transformation plan, Environmental Services vehicle and equipment replacements programme, ICT
infrastructure, Accommodation works, Ayscoughfee Hall lighting, works to Priory Road offices and
Industrial Units, Sports Hall Boiler and Future Towns.
o Use of reserve (Capital) – Temporary establishment funding, PSPS Transformation plan,
Environmental Services vehicle and equipment replacements programme, ICT infrastructure,
Accommodation works, Ayscoughfee Hall lighting, works to Priory Road offices and Industrial Units,
Sports Hall Boiler and Future Towns.
Transformation Reserve
o Use of reserve (Capital) – Public Protection Software
Earmarked Grants Reserve
o Use of reserve (Revenue) – Establishment Funding.

Recommendation:
F2
That Cabinet notes the forecast reserve movements and balances as detailed in Table 3
8

Page 216

Section 2.3 – Housing Revenue Account Budget

Service Area

Rent Income – Dwellings
Charges for Services and
Facilities

Contributions to
Expenditure

Total Income

Repairs and Maintenance

Table 4 – Projected Net Spend by Service Area
Revised
Forecast
Variance
Budget
Outturn
(underspend)/
2021/22
2021/22
overspend
Comments on main variances
£’000
(15,280)

£’000
(15,280)

(1,188)

(1,185)

(22)

(47)

(16,490)

(16,512)

3,553

£’000
3
£17k pressure on Court income, which is
offset by a corresponding reduction in
Supervision and management Court Costs
(25)
(£42k) Grant income to be used against
professional fees in Housing Enabling
(22)
Repairs and Maintenance (£405k)
underspend
(£127k) – Savings forecast due to
reprioritisation of work because of the
scarcity of building materials increasing
costs, the full extent of the increases in
these costs are not yet known.
(41k) salary savings – Vacant positions
unfilled
(£7.5k) Saving on Staff Travel budgets due
(405)
to less activity
(65k) Savings forecast on professional and
contractor
fees
due
to
work
reprioritisation
(£4k) General Maintenance underspend
(£145k)
Renewable
heat
energy
incentive, previously budget within GF
with a budget of (£65k).

3,148

9

Page 217

Service Area

Table 4 – Projected Net Spend by Service Area
Revised
Forecast
Variance
Budget
Outturn
(underspend)/
2021/22
2021/22
overspend
Comments on main variances
£’000

Supervision and
Management

Rents, rates, taxes and
other charges

Depreciation

Movement in Allowance
for bad debts
Statutory recharge to the
HRA for support services
Total Expenditure
Contribution from
Operations
Investment Income
Interest Payable
Net (Surplus)/Deficit

£’000

£’000

2,690

2,738

72

63

Supervision and Management (£48k)
overspend
(£50k) of the Budget allocation for
Professional and Contractors fees within
Housing Enabling is not currently
anticipated to be spent following a
reprofiling of activity. (£25k) of
professional fees are to be funded by
grant.
£29k (pressure) of the income budgeted
from Welland Homes regarding project
management costs, was received earlier
48 than profiled following acquisitions at the
end of March 2021 resulting in the
income falling into last year.
The delay in the purchase of Affordable
housing (HRA) and Market Rental Homes
for Welland Homes, will also result in a
shortfall in income for 2021/22, although
this will be reprofiled into future years
(£37k pressure).
£10k additional Agency costs to cover
vacated role in housing enabling
Housing Sewage Work Repairs are
expected to exceed budget by £47k
(9)
Depreciation £461k Overspend
This has been increased based upon last
year’s actual charges and additional
461 charges on last year’s capital spend. This
is calculated based on assets in any given
time and fluctuate.

3,324

3,785

271

271

-

2,275

2,275

-

12,185

12,280

95

(4,305)

(4,232)

73

(12)
2,347

(11)
2,347

1
-

(1,970)

(1,896)

74

10

Page 218

Section 2.4 – Capital Budget
This section covers:
•
•
•
•

Revisions to the Capital Programme
Progress against the 2021/22 approved capital programme and the anticipated outturn
Capital receipts to date for 2021/22
Financing of the Capital Programme
Table 5 – General Fund Revisions to Capital Program
2021/22 Revised Capital Program as at 30th June 2021
Movements from Previous Forecast
Kings Road Acquisition
Disabled Facility Grants – Discretionary
Total
2021/22 Revised Capital Program as at 30th September 2021
Table 5 – 2021/22 Capital Programme and Q2 Forecast Outturn
Scheme
Revised
Actual
Forecast
Budget
30 Sept
Outturn
2021/22
2021
2021/22

ICT Infrastructure
Public Protection Software
PSPS Transformation
AIM Upgrade
Priory Road Projects
South Holland Centre Projects
Castle Sports Boiler
Swimming Pool Boiler
Caste Sports Pool Fire Alarm
West Marsh Road Fire Alarm
West Marsh Road Electrical Rewiring
Ayscoughfee Hall
Temporary Accommodation
Industrial Units
Peele Leisure Lighting
Capital Acquisitions
Electric Vehicle Charging
NSAP Property Acquisitions
Kings Road Land Acquisition
Grants for Growth
Food Enterprise Zone
HIF Funding
Garden Waste
Grounds Maintenance
Environmental Services Operational
Fleet Maintenance Vehicles
Street Cleansing
Disabled Facilities Grants
Decent Homes
Welland Homes
Total (including new items)

£000
185
46
113
20
155
71
5
136
31
13
43
146
29
63
19
1,100
21
374
100
565
2
1,000
185
42
1,174
69
35
1,072
75
1,187
8,076
11

£000
6
39
2
71
19
51
6
200
184
24
1,138
133
1,873

Page 219

£000
185
15
113
20
155
71
136
31
13
43
146
29
19
1,100
21
374
100
565
2
1,000
170
25
1,174
40
35
1,072
75
28
6,757

7,676
100
300
400
8,076
Variance
(under)/over

£000
(31)
(5)
(63)
(15)
(17)
(29)
(1,159)
(1,319)

Table 5 – Capital Programme – Comments on Delivery
Comments
(£31k) Following end of sharing agreement with Breckland this project
Public Protection
will be split, and majority of costs for this year will be splitting the system
Software
and no further development.
(£5k) Project postponed until next year with Budget vired to Swimming
Castle Sports Boiler
Pool Boiler Management system
Industrial Units
(£63k) Postponed until 2022/23
Garden Waste
(£15k) New Vehicle slightly under budget
(£17k) Mower cost less than expected and carry over form last year not
Grounds Maintenance
spent
(£29k) Spend will be less than expected as new equipment not required
Fleet Maintenance
as expected following takeover of facility. Balance to be carried over into
Vehicles
2022/23
Scheme

Recommendation:
F3
That Cabinet recommends to Council the 2021/22 capital position shown in Table 4.

Capital Receipts
Capital Financing
The current Capital Programme is financed from reserves and external borrowing in line with the Capital Strategy.
Table 6 indicates the forecast capital resources for the General Fund available to the Council at the end of 2021/22.
The estimated position for the following two years is also provided.
Table 6 – Capital Resources
2020/21
£’000
Capital Resources* available at start of each year
Capital Investment (estimate in future years)
Additional Sources of Finance
New Capital Receipts (estimate in future years)
Funding from other reserves and internal borrowing
External Grants
Revenue Contributions
External borrowing
Budgeted contributions to capital reserve
Transfer from Capital Reserve to support ongoing projects
Estimated Capital Resources* at end of each year
* Capital Reserve and Capital Receipts

12

Page 220

2021/22
£’000

2022/23
£’000

749
5,261
1,471
901

1,828
1,541
3,388

901
826
3,786

Table 7 – HRA to Capital Program
2021/22 Revised Capital Program as at 30th June 2021
Movements from Previous Forecast
Major Adaptations
Total
2021/22 Revised Capital Program as at 30th September 2021

Scheme

14,834
150
150
14,984

Table 7 – 2021/22 HRA Capital Programme and Q2 Forecast Outturn
Approved
Actual
Forecast
Variance
Budget
30 Sept
Outturn
(under)/over
2021/22
2021
2021/22

Central Heating
Kitchen/Bathroom
Renewable Energy
Smoke Alarms
Roofs and Gutters
Doors and Windows
Flat Entrance Doors Sheltered
Schemes
Chimneys
Paths and Drives
Boundary Walls
Fees
Sewerage Treatment Plant
The Square
Car Parks
ICT Strategy
Housing IT Systems Upgrade
ICT Infrastructure
Major Adaptions
Sheltered Alarm Upgrade
Housing Repairs Vehicles
Grounds Maintenance
South Holland Maintenance
Weston Development Scheme
Wignals Gate S106
Scheme Subject to detailed approval
Total (including new items)

£000
942
1,491
1,152
208
960
7

£000
505
339
44
62
-

£000
942
1,491
1,152
208
960
7

£000
-

530

-

530

-

532
43
269
233
433
1,011
117
148
180
6
893
690
50
7
65
355
555
4,107

10
5
50
202
7
9
-

532
43
269
233
433
1,011
117
148
180
6
893
645
50
8
50
525
1260

(45)
1
(65)
(305)
(30)
(2,847)

14,984

1,233

11,693

(3,291)

13

Page 221

Table 6 indicates the forecast capital resources for the HRA available to the Council at the end of 2021/22. The
estimated position for the following two years is also provided.
Table 7 – Capital Resources
2020/21
£’000
Capital Resources* available at start of each year
Capital Investment (estimate in future years)
Additional Sources of Finance
New Capital Receipts (estimate in future years)
Funding from other reserves and internal borrowing
Major Repairs Reserve
HRA Working Balance
External Grants
Revenue Contributions
External borrowing
Budgeted contributions to capital reserve
Transfer from Capital Reserve to support ongoing projects
Estimated Capital Resources* at end of each year
* Capital Reserve and Capital Receipts

2021/22
£’000

2022/23
£’000

26,018
(4,722)

29,964
(11,693)

25,536
(8,219)

1,833

1,896

1,999

3,816
3,019

3,785
1,584

3,390
1,278

29,964

25,536

23,984

Section 2.5 – Treasury Management
Investments at 30 September 2021
During the financial year the Council has made investments in line with the agreed Treasury Management Strategy.
Detailed in Table 8 are the investments held by the Council at 30th September 2021 excluding accrued interest.
Note this represents the position at this one point in time. The peaks and troughs in cash flow are managed on a
daily basis. Because the Council collects money on behalf of other organisations which are paid out at future dates
(e.g. Council Tax and Business Rates) the value of investments held at any point in time does not represent the value
of SHDC’s own resources.
Table 8 – Investments as at 30 September 2021
Financial Institution
Amount (£)
Maturity Date
Lloyds Current Account
1,395,485
Instant Access
Handelsbanken Plc
4,993,244
Instant Access
CCLA Money Market Fund
4,650,000
Instant Access
Lloyds 95 Day Notice Account
4,995,206
95 Day Notice
Nationwide Building Society
2,000,000
18/11/2021
Close Brothers
2,500,000
24/11/2021
Standard Chartered
3,000,000
02/12/2021
Goldman Sachs Investment Bank
5,000,000
31/12/2021
Australia & New Zealand Bank
2,500,000
07/02/2022
Thurrock Borough Council
2,000,000
11/03/2022
Standard Chartered
2,000,000
16/03/2022
National Westminster Bank (CD)
5,000,000
17/03/2022
Close Brothers
2,500,000
24/03/2022
Bayerische Landesbank London
3,000,000
07/04/2022
Australia & New Zealand Bank
2,500,000
15/08/2022
TOTAL
48,033,935

14

Page 222

Yield
0.00%
0.00%
0.024%
0.05%
0.07%
0.25%
0.12%
0.17%
0.11%
0.30%
0.08%
0.16%
0.25%
0.19%
0.18%

Duration
Less than one week
Less than one month
One to three months
Three to six months
Six to nine months
5Nine to twelve months
More than twelve months (Welland
Homes)

Maturity Structure at 30 September 2021
Amount (£)
11,038,729
17,495,206
14,000,000
3,000,000
2,500,000

Percentage of Total
21%
0%
34%
27%
6%
5%

3,710,031

7%

Return on Investments
The Council’s 2021/22 budget for investment income is £194.1k. At the end of September 2021 investment income
projected to the end of the year is £183.9k. This figure is still an estimate as the actual returns on all investments
may change during the second part of the financial year.
Treasury investments achieved an average rate of 0.114% compared to the benchmark average 3 month LIBID rate
of -0.054%.
Welland Homes investments have achieved an average rate of 3.5%.
The combined rate achieved on all investments was estimated to be approximately 0.352%.
Borrowing
The Council has £67.5m of external borrowing as per the table below.

Entity

Amount (£)

Start Date

Maturity Date

Public Works Loan Board

67,456,000

28/03/2012 28/03/2062

Rate
3.48%

Borrowing costs for 2021/22 are projected to be £2.347m
PWLB borrowing rates have begun to rise again over the last two months. As at 30th September 2021 the 50 year
PWLB certainty rate was 2.01%. This is the first time since May that PWLB rates have been above 2%. This increase
reflects the change in market sentiment over the last two months regarding future interest rate hikes and
inflationary pressures.

15

Page 223

Summary
Interest rates have remained very low during September 2021. The Bank of England Base Rate remained at 0.10% in
September. Market expectations have begun to shift towards rate hikes before the end of this year, however the
more likely scenario is for rates to increase in Qu1 2022. This is dependent on the economy continuing to rebound
and inflationary pressures continuing.
Rates on new investments with financial institutions and local authorities now range from 0.02% for one-month
deposits through to 0.50% for one-year deposits. One year deposit rates have doubled from August, reflecting the
market sentiment that UK base rate will rise in 2022.
PWLB borrowing rates had been on a falling trend during summer 2021 but have rebounded back to early 2021
levels during September. PWLB rates, especially long dates such as 50yrs, are rising due to UK inflation concerns.
Risks prevail in the financial markets and are subject to a continued high level of scrutiny with any significant issues
arising being reported to the Council’s Audit and Governance Committee. Changes to credit ratings of financial
institutions are monitored daily and where required reported to the Section 151 Officer for an agreed course of
action to be taken.

16

Page 224

Section 2.6 – Debt Collection
A review of debts is undertaken every month, and monitoring is reported against targets. In line with the new
financial procedure limits there are no debts in excess of £1,050 requiring Cabinet approval for write off. Debts
below this level have been submitted to the s151 Officer and Portfolio Holder for write off.
An analysis of the sundry debts the Council held as at 30 September 2021 is show in Table 9.

0-30 days

31-60 days

£

£

30,331

41,707

Table 9 – Sundry Debt Analysis
91-120
61-90 days
121-183
184-365
days
days
days
£
£
£
£
36,121
852,873
350,056
47,210

Over 365
days
£
200,025

Total
£
1,558,323

Note: This does not include details of invoice amounts (£52,911) that are not yet due
Section 2.7 – Council Tax and Business Rates
Council Tax Support Scheme (CTS)
Following the statutory annual review during 2020/21, the 2021/22 scheme remains unchanged from the previous
year, allowing for national up-ratings. This scheme continues to support the Government’s Welfare Reform agenda
to bring further reductions to the national benefits bill. The scheme sustains the required protection of those of
pension age, protects vulnerable customers and encourages people into employment.
Quarter 2 collection rate is comparable to the same point in 2020/21, but remains lower than pre-covid levels and
there remains some uncertainty of the overall ongoing impact of CTS. In recognition, we continue to remain prudent
in setting the bad debt provision in this area.
Council Tax – Quarter 2 In-Year Collection
The collectable debit for the year at 30 September 2021 was £54.3m with a collection rate of 56.64% achieved at 30
September 2021 (56.74% at 30 September 2020).
Business Rates
Table 10 – 2021/22 Business Rates Retention
Base Estimate
included in
2021/22 budget
£
Non Domestic rating income for the year
Less: LCC share (10% for 21/22)
Less: Government Share (50% for 21/22)
South Holland District Council’s income (excluding
renewables) (40% for 21/22)

(25,037,074)
2,503,707
12,518,537
(10,014,830)

(Surplus)/Deficit
in 2021/22 – will
impact next year’s
budget
£
£
(20,503,164)
4,533,910
2,050,316
(453,391)
10,251,582
(2,266,955)

Forecast position
at 31 March 2022

(8,201,266)

1,813,564

The position in Table 10 shows a large deficit against the base estimate, the main reason for this is the retail discount
offered by the government in response to the Coronavirus pandemic to assist retailers. This discount will be
reimbursed by the government however due to the way the Collection Fund is accounted for the income is received
in 2021/22 but the Business Rates deficit will not be seen in the Council’s accounts until 2022/23. As a result of this
circa £1.4m of income is due to be received in 2021/22 and this will need to be transferred into reserves at the end
17

Page 225

of the financial year for use in the 2022/23 budget. The difference between this income and the deficit above is due
to a reduction in gross rates across all businesses which is being closely monitored.
Business Rates Appeals
Except in certain circumstance, new appeals can no longer be made against the 2010 list.
As at 30 September 2021 the Rateable Value amount for properties under appeal in 2010 list (excluding multiple
appeals for the same property) was £3.4m, relating to 10 properties on the latest list of outstanding appeals. 98% of
this value comes from just 7 properties and does present some significant risk to the overall level of collectable debit
should these appeals be successful, leading to significant reductions in rateable value. The appeals provision
(£2.232m) is considered sufficient to cover the potential impact of these appeals.
Business Rates – 2021/22 In-Year Collection
The collectable debit for the year to 30 September 2021 is £24.2m with a collection rate of 51.82% achieved at 30
September 2021 (53.21% 30 September 2020). The target collection rate for 2021/22 is 97.1%. It should be noted
that due to the application of COVID related additional reliefs in 2021/22 the collectable debits is some £3.2m lower
than usual. Collectable debit increased from the end of quarter 1 onwards as the COVID related additional reliefs
reduced from 100% to 66% for the remainder of the year. Collection rates compared to the previous financial year is
less meaningful than usual.
Additional revenue budget notes
Income
The Council has a number of demand-led budget areas which are reliant on income for services provided.

18

Page 226

Agenda Item 14.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Assets and Planning
Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development) and S151 Officer

To:

Cabinet – 14th December 2021

Author:

Jordan Quincey, Housing Development Project Manager

Subject:

Acquisition of S106 affordable housing for the Housing Revenue Account

Purpose:

To set out details of the potential for the authority to acquire three S106
homes for Affordable Rent tenure, on a development site in the district.

Recommendations to Cabinet:
1) To approve the business case and approve the acquisition of three homes for the HRA.
2) To delegate to the Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development) and S151 Officer
authority to agree the contractual matters (including any variation to the terms and conditions
which may represent a minor departure from the scheme approved in the business case)
including signing the contract/transfer document, the apportionment/use of RTB receipts to
be utilised and other incidental actions that may be required and approving the associated
due diligence and valuation required to purchase the properties.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

In the last 5 years South Holland District Council has increased investment in new housing
within the district and more recently has strengthened the capacity of the Strategic Housing
Development team. This team appraises potential acquisition and development schemes;
project manages on site delivery; and oversees the handover of new homes into
management for South Holland’s various delivery vehicles.

1.2

Since 2017/18, the Council has supported numerous new development schemes:

Scheme name

Delivery
vehicle

Number
of
dwellings

Timescale

Development
type

Status

Walters Close,
Spalding

Welland
Homes

15

Properties
completed 2017/18

Complete

Tennants
Close, Long
Sutton

Welland
Homes

5

Properties
completed 2018/19

Acquisition of
completed
dwellings
from
developer,
with discount
on OMV.
Acquisition of
completed
dwellings
from
developer,

Page 227

Complete

with discount
on OMV.

Pankhurst
Close,
Spalding

Welland
Homes

10

Properties
completed in May
2019.

Acquisition of
S106 homes
from Ashwood
(Moulton,
Cowbit,
Donington)

HRA

18

Properties
completed 2019/20

Small Drove,
Weston

HRA

34

Development
completed 2020/21

Bentley Court,
Spalding

Welland
Homes

5

Purchase
Completed August
2019

Donington
market
acquisitions

HRA

7

Purchase
completed
December 2019

Wignals Gate,
Holbeach

HRA

19

Properties
completing in
phases from Oct 20

Roman Bank

HRA

12

Pre-contract
negotiations

Page 228

Welland
Homes
design and
build
contract.
Acquisition of
completed
dwellings
from
developer,
with discount
on OMV due
to S106
agreement.
Design and
build
contract.

Complete

Acquisition of
completed
dwellings
from
developer,
with discount
on OMV.
Acquisition of
completed
dwellings
from
developer,
with discount
on OMV.
Acquisition of
completed
dwellings
from
developer,
with discount
on OMV due
to S106
agreement.
Acquisition of
completed
dwellings

Complete

Properties
complete. End of
defects stage.

Complete

Complete

In progress

In progress

Cobgate,
Whaplode

HRA

7

Pre-contract
negotiations

Acquisition of
completed
S106
dwellings

In progress

Rough
sleepers’
accommodatio
n

SHDC General
Fund

15

Properties
completing in
phases from April
2021 to August
2022

Acquisition
and
refurbishmen
t of existing
housing.

In progress

Tony Worth
Close
(Northons
Lane)
Holbeach

Welland
Homes

4

Properties acquired
March 2021

Acquisition of
completed
market
dwellings
with discount
on marketing
value

Complete

1.3

The SHDC Housing Development Project Manager has been seeking new development
opportunities. This has involved liaison with agents, property developers and housing
associations that are delivering mixed-tenure schemes within the district. Through these
discussions, a new scheme to provide three S106 affordable homes has been identified.

2.0

SCHEME BUSINESS CASE

2.1

Officers have liaised with a local developer regarding the acquisition of two one-bedroom
dwellings and one, two-bedroom dwelling as part of the S106 affordable housing obligations
on their site at Albion Street, Crowland.

2.2

The units are a row of three terraced dwellings, the site has planning consent and accordingly
the layout and mix of dwellings and tenures has been approved by SHDC.

2.3

As the homes have been designated as affordable homes in the Planning consent, they have
been designed specifically for that purpose and accordingly are considered appropriate for
the HRA.

2.4

The SHDC Housing Management team have been consulted regarding the scheme and are
supportive of SHDC taking additional homes in this location and have indicated that the
delivery of these homes would meet housing need.

2.5

Accelerating the delivery of new homes for the HRA will mitigate the impact on the HRA
business plan of the loss of homes through RTB sales. It will also improve the nature and
mix of homes within SHDC’s stock. However, it should be noted that if these properties are
purchased and let as affordable homes, the Right To Buy will also apply to these properties.
In the event of a RTB application, the ‘cost floor’ rule will ensure that a tenant’s discount does
not reduce the RTB sale price below the amount that has been spent on the property in the
15 years prior to RTB; this includes the capital costs of acquisition.

2.6

The details of the three homes at the centre of this business case are detailed in the table
below.

Page 229

Location

Plot Type

Tenure

Albion
Street,
Crowland

8

2 bed end-terraced house

9

1 bed mid-terraced house

10

1 bed end-terraced house

Affordable
Rent
Affordable
Rent
Affordable
Rent

TOTAL

Indicative handover
date
February - March
2022 *
February - March
2022 *
February - March
2022 *

3

*Developer anticipated programme subject to confirmation.

2.7

Officers have undertaken a business planning exercise for the delivery of these three
homes which is provided at Appendix A.

2.8

The Developer is retaining two two-bedroom terraced properties to sell at 80% discounted
value to fulfil the total affordable housing requirement within the S106.

2.9

An offer has been made to the developer subject to contract, legal due diligence, formal
valuation and full approval. This offer has been accepted.

2.10

The financial assessment assumes that the Affordable Rented tenure homes will be let at
80% of the local market rent value or at the Local Housing Allowance rate in accordance
with the S106 agreement. Homes England stipulate a requirement to approve Affordable
Rents being charged on any site which is not grant funded. Officers will submit a request to
Homes England as part of the due diligence process. The S106 agreement allows the
rented homes to be provided as Affordable Rent or Social Rent tenure. In the event that
Homes England does not provide consent for the homes to be provided as Affordable Rent
tenure, they will still be purchased but will be provided as Social Rent tenure instead. This
creates a risk as set out in paragraph 12.4.3.

2.11

In terms of the overall Capital Programme for HRA Housing Development, there is total
approved provision of £13m for schemes subject to detailed approval for the period 2021/22
to 2024/25. To date, Roman Bank Spalding and Cobgate Whaplode have been approved.

2.12

Officers will negotiate a contract for the purchase of these properties which seeks to provide
the most advantageous position for the authority. A solicitor will be appointed to act on
SHDC’s behalf in order to ensure thorough due diligence will be undertaken, prior to entering
contract.

2.13

Given the nature of the homes as S106 affordable housing, the authority will have limited
influence over the style and construction methodology of the properties. However, they will
have to be delivered in accordance with the contract and with all appropriate regulatory
certification in place. In addition, the properties will be required to benefit from a structural
warranty for a minimum of 10 years. These key documents will be listed within the contract
and will need to be provided prior to completion taking place. The quality of the homes will
also be checked by a Buyers Representative appointed to act in the authority’s best interests.

2.14

In the event that the homes are not constructed in accordance with the terms of the contract,
the authority will not have to purchase the homes. Officers will maintain regular contact with
the developers through the build process to seek to ensure where possible that the homes
are delivered as agreed. The properties will be provided with a 10-year structural guarantee
by Premier Guarantee. This provides protection against structural defects in workmanship or
the risk of construction materials failure.

Page 230

2.15

The process of due diligence may impact contract negotiations as more information is
identified about the scheme. The contract is a negotiation between parties and officers will
endeavour to negotiate the best position for the authority throughout. Any elements that are
different to those assumed at approval will be reviewed as part of the due diligence review
and approved by the Section 151 Officer in their role to agree the contractual matters to
purchase the properties.

2.16

The development consists of 22 homes in total and the road servicing the affordable
dwellings will be adopted. Therefore, the affordable homes should not be party to any
management company which may be established for the remainder of the site, or any
additional service charges.

2.17

As SHDC has not previously worked with this developer, this contract will increase the
number of partners which benefit from SHDC investment within the district.

2.18

The developer has approached Registered Providers within the district for offers to acquire
the affordable homes both in winter 2019 and in August 2020. However, they did not receive
any offers from other providers (likely to be due to the scheme comprising only 3 dwellings
and RPs tend to seek a higher quantum of homes in a contract for S106 homes). Unless a
partner is found the developer may have no option but to reassess their approach to the
affordable delivery on this site

3.0

SHARED OWNERSHIP SALES

3.1

This proposal does not contain the acquisition of shared ownership dwellings. The
developer is retaining two two-bedroom terraced properties to sell at 80% discounted value
to fulfil the total affordable housing requirement within the S106.

4.0

RIGHT TO BUY SALES RECEIPTS

4.1

On the 19th March 2021, Government published its response to a consultation on
the use of receipts from RTB sales. The consultation response sets out changes to the
RTB receipts system to help local authorities build more council homes. The reforms seek
to give authorities substantially increased flexibilities.

4.2

The changes include extending the timeframe that local authorities have for spending RTB
receipts from 3 years to 5 years; the ability to utilise the receipt for a higher percentage of a
project’s costs; enabling shared ownership tenure dwellings to be funded by receipts;
introducing a cap on the use of RTB receipts for acquisition projects.

4.3

Appendix A provides a financial evaluation which assumes that 30% of capital costs are
funded from RTB receipts. Given the RTB sales receipts reforms it is possible that 40% of
total scheme costs can be met from RTB receipts. If this is the case, this will improve the
return on investment for this scheme.

5.0

HRA Housing Delivery Framework

5.1

In November 2021, Council approved a new policy framework: the HRA Housing Delivery
Framework. The purpose was to establish a framework within which executive decisions will
be made regarding new housing schemes which utilise the approved HRA Development
budget. Individual projects which are within the criteria of the framework can be approved by
the Executive, subject to a robust business case.

Page 231

5.2

The scheme at Albion Street Crowland which is subject to this business case, is considered
by officers to be within the scope of the HRA Housing Delivery Framework, as summarised
below:
• The scheme is a S106 Affordable Housing acquisition
• The tenure mix has been approved through the planning process and meets
evidenced need
• The mix of property types (1 and 2-bedroom accommodation) will meet evidenced
need
• The homes are in a suitable location for affordable housing, close to amenities
• The specification of the homes (newbuild homes with a 10-year warranty) will
enhance SHDC’s stock portfolio and support the authority’s ambition to be a landlord
of choice
• Initial due diligence has indicated that the site will not be subject to a management
company and the road will be adopted
• Purchasing these homes will increase the range of development partners which the
authority works with as the authority has not previously contracted with this developer
• It is not possible for SHDC’s Building Control Team to undertake the inspections as
the homes are already at an advanced stage of construction and building inspections
have been carried out at the appropriate stages by an approved inspector.

6.0

Key Considerations

6.1

There are a number of key matters to consider relating to this scheme which are as follows:
•

An offer for the dwellings has been submitted and accepted by the developer.

•

The units are designated S106 affordable homes and as such they are restricted to
use as affordable homes.

•

As this is an Affordable Rented tenure scheme it is eligible for the use of Right to Buy
receipts held by SHDC and these could be utilised for this project. If the Right to Buy
receipts part-fund the acquisitions, the return to SHDC will increase as the direct
capital invested decreases. The two assessments are included in the financial
evaluation (Appendix A). Given the RTB sales receipts reforms, summarised in
section 4.0 above, it is possible that 40% of capital costs will be met from RTB
receipts. If this is the case, the financial return to the Council will increase. Officers
will seek to ensure that the maximum RTB funding is utilised. Any elements that are
different to those assumed at approval will be reviewed as part of the due diligence
review and approved by the Section 151 Officer in their role to agree the contractual
matters to purchase the properties.

•

The Housing Options team has confirmed that there is housing need identified in this
location for one and two-bedroom accommodation.

•

The financial appraisal assumes that the units are let as Affordable Rent tenure. This
means that Homes England will be required to approve the charging of Affordable
Rent and if the scheme is supported by Members a request will be made to Homes
England to confirm this tenure can be applied.

•

It is acknowledged that this is not the only scheme which the authority could pursue
and that there are other development sites in the district. However, this business
case should be considered on the basis of the scheme specific information provided.

Page 232

7.0

HOUSING NEED

7.1

New affordable homes contribute towards meeting housing need in the district.

7.2

The latest Housing Needs Assessment identifies a need for 437 new affordable homes to be
provided in the district each year, 303 of which should be Rented homes, 35% of these should
be one-bedroom accommodation and 35% of these should be two-bedroomed
accommodation.

7.3

On average, 67 new affordable homes (including rented and shared ownership) have been
provided in the district each year (2016/17 to 2020/21) by SHDC and other Registered
Providers. Between 1st April and 1st December 2021, there were a further 180 affordable
housing completions in the district

7.4

It is anticipated that the demand for affordable housing will increase as a result of the
pandemic. Analysis of the SHDC Housing Register indicates that the number of applicants
on the register has increased from 350 at the end of March 2020 to 378 at the end of
November 2021. Additionally, an increased number of people are unable to address their
housing need once they are threatened with homelessness and are therefore presenting as
homeless.

7.5

The housing register indicates a demand for 27 one-bedroom homes and 15 two-bedroom
homes within Crowland at the present time.

8.0

PROPOSED TIMETABLE

8.1

If this scheme is supported, the proposed timetable for future activity is as follows:
Indicative date
December 2021

Activity
Cabinet

Dec 2021- Feb
2022
Feb - March
2022
March 2022 *

Due diligence
Exchange on
contract
Completion.
Handover of
properties

Decision
To approve the business case for the acquisition of
the properties. To delegate authority to sign the
contract documentation to S151 Officer or similar,
subject to satisfactory legal due diligence. To
amend the Capital Programme to approve the
spend for this project.
To be considered and signed off by S151 Officer
Delegated to Officers.
Delegated to Officers

*Developer anticipated programme subject to confirmation.

9.0 OPTIONS
9.1

Option 1: To identify this scheme as being within the criteria of the HRA Housing
Delivery Framework; to approve the business case for the purchase of three S106
affordable homes; to delegate authority to Officers to conclude the due diligence and
complete the purchase.
Under this option, due diligence and contract negotiations would be undertaken, and external
legal services commissioned. SHDC would exchange on the contract, with the purchase and
transfer to occur once the properties are complete.

Page 233

9.2

Option 2: Do Nothing.
Under this option, the authority would not proceed to purchase the properties. As a
consequence, the expected benefits listed in Section 9 will not be realised. Officers would
seek to identify alternative appropriate schemes for consideration by the Executive.

10.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

10.1

The recommendations to proceed with the purchase of three affordable homes relates to
the expected benefits detailed in section 11.

11.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

11.1

It is anticipated that the report recommendations will support the realisation of the following
benefits:

12.0

•

A return on investment. As set out within the financial evaluation (Appendix A),
there is a positive business case associated with the proposed investment.

•

The delivery of 3 additional dwellings into the HRA. These homes meet the needs
of those who require low cost rented accommodation.

•

Meeting housing need. The homes proposed will meet housing need in a location
where there is evidence of a need for additional affordable homes.

•

The replacement of homes sold through Right to Buy. On average, 21 Council
homes have been purchased by tenants each year since 2017, by virtue of the Right
to Buy. Since 1st April 2021, a further 20 properties have been sold to tenants. The
delivery of new affordable homes can replace those homes lost each year, mitigating
the impact of these losses on the HRA business plan.

•

The new homes can be part-funded from the time limited RTB receipts.
Investing the RTB receipts on new rented housing ensures that the receipts do not
have to be returned to Government. Additionally, the return to SHDC will increase as
the direct capital invested decreases.

•

Market confidence. The Council acting as a proactive purchaser of S106 properties,
will provide confidence to local developers of the authority’s aspiration to facilitate
sites to come forward and of the demand for S106 affordable homes.

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or
more of these headings, these are identified below.

12.1

Constitutional & Legal

12.1.1 The authority will be acquiring these units in accordance with section 9 of the Housing Act
1985.
12.1.2 In November 2021, the HRA Housing Delivery Framework was adopted by Council. The
framework relates to any investment decisions utilising the ‘HRA Capital Programme budget

Page 234

for Housing Development – schemes subject to detailed approval’. All HRA housing delivery
projects which meet the criteria within the framework can be approved by the Executive,
subject to a detailed business case. This scheme is considered to meet the criteria of the
framework.
12.1.3 As per previous S106 acquisitions, the legal support for the contract negotiations and
purchase will be provided by an external firm.
12.2

Contracts

12.2.1 A contract will be required between SHDC and the developer. SHDC has not previously
worked with this developer. The handover of each property will take place as the homes are
ready to be occupied. The contract will contain a list of requirements and the properties will
not be purchased until these requirements have been met. Additionally, SHDC will appoint
a Buyers Representative to provide quality assurance at handover.
12.2.2 The contract will be reviewed by the Council’s appointed solicitor.
12.3

Corporate Priorities

12.3.1 The recommendations contained within the report will make a notable contribution to the
realisation of the Council’s corporate priority around ‘Your Home’.
12.3.2 The scheme supports “delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs and aspirations.”
12.3.3 The recommendations also support the Council’s objective to “ensure that our residents are
enabled to live in high-quality housing no matter the tenure.”
12.4

Financial

12.4.1 There is a detailed financial evaluation with financial implications set out in confidential
Appendix A.
12.4.2 In terms of financial capacity, there is a total approved capital provision of £13m in the Capital
Programme for the acquisition of new affordable homes by the HRA, for the period 2021/22
to 2024/25.
12.4.3 In the event that Homes England does not provide consent for the homes to be provided as
Affordable Rent tenure, they will still be purchased but will be provided as Social Rent tenure
instead. This creates a risk that the anticipated financial return will be lower as the rental
income for social rented housing is lower. Sensitivity analysis has been prepared which
indicates that the scheme will still provide a positive financial return if the properties are
provided as Social Rent tenure.
12.5

Reputation

12.5.1 Risks around reputation are mitigated through a robust project management structure. The
Housing Development team work closely with colleagues in Communications on all projects
and meet on a regular basis to ensure that a Communications Plan is in place where
appropriate.

Page 235

12.5.2 Regular engagement with the developer will be arranged once the scheme is approved and
quality assurance will be carried out by an externally appointed Buyers Representative.
12.6

Risk Management

12.6.1 Acquisition and development activity has within it inherent risks. Officers strive to identify and
manage risk at each stage of the project.
12.6.2 Each project has a risk register that is reviewed throughout the lifecycle of a project by the
project team.
12.6.3 Risks around acquisition activity are sought to be mitigated through regular review and the
appointment of professional expertise to provide legal due diligence, and accredited valuation
advice to ensure value for money, in terms of the cost of the project.
12.7

Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

12.7.1 The delivery timetable will be reviewed once final scheme approval is in place. However, the
developer has suggested that the units will be completed in February 2022.
12.7.2 As all the homes are proposed to be Affordable Rent tenure these homes are obliged, as a
statutory tenure, to be declared to Homes England. Officers will write to Homes England to
seek their consent to provide these homes as Affordable Rent tenure. Therefore, whilst not
grant-funded units, Homes England are a stakeholder in this acquisition. Consent has been
provided to SHDC, by Homes England, for other S106 schemes which have been delivered
by the authority.
13

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED
Crowland and Deeping St. Nicholas ward

14

ACRONYMS
HRA – Housing Revenue Account
DLUHC – Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities
RTB – Right to Buy
S106 – Section 106 of Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)

Page 236

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Jordan Quincey
01775 764861
Jordan.quincey@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

Y

Exempt Decision:

Exempt – appendix only

This report refers to a Discretionary Service
Confidential Appendices attached to this report:
Please note that the following appendices are not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3
(Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the
authority holding that information
Confidential Appendices attached to this report:
Confidential Appendix A - Financial Evaluation

Page 237

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 17.

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 239

This page is intentionally left blank

